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EREHREE
Chairman’s Statement

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
total revenue of HK$161,107,000, another significant increase
of 102.5% year-on-year. Such increase was attributable to the
increases in operating income of approximately HK$55,310,000
and HK$6,824,000 respectively from the growing financial leasing
business and the newly developed big data business, as well as
an increase of approximately HK$13,278,000 in the income from
disposal of development properties as a result of further sale of
shopping mall units in block B of Shantou Commercial Plaza during
the year.

In addition to the new profit contribution from the financial leasing
business mentioned above, the Group recognised income of
approximately HK$78,819,000 from the reversal of payables for
convertible notes which became due in 2007 but have exceeded
the effective limitation period of prosecution, and increase in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting
to HK$41,015,000. Moreover, the Group received other incomes
totaling approximately HK$74,288,000 including government
subsidies for relevant projects in relation to its development of the
industrial park in Danzao. After deducting financing costs including
interest expenses incurred by the development of the industrial park
in Danzao and other projects and investments, depreciation of land
use right assets and other factors, the Group still posted net profit of
approximately HK$79,912,000 for the year, representing a significant
increase of 43.2% year-on-year.
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FINANCIAL LEASING BUSINESS

In view of the increasing economic penetration of financial leasing
driven by its growing demand from sustainable growth in China’s
economy and diversified financing models, the Group remains
positive on the outlook of financial leasing sector in China based
on rational risk management, despite the pressure from heightened
bad debt risks amid the economic impact from the Sino-US trade
tensions. Against this backdrop, the Group has been engaged in
the operation and management of financial leasing business and
gradually accumulated experience through Guangdong Financial
Leasing Co., Ltd* (ERERBMEHRAEBR A A, a 25%-owned
associate of the Group, and established a wholly-owned subsidiary
Canton Risen Financial Leasing Co., Ltd* (ER BERIg &M
E BB AF)to further develop related business, which initially
intends to focus on business areas including public utilities,
environmental protection and energy conservation, new energy
and telecommunication projects. Thanks to its rapid growth during
the year, the segment recorded operating income of approximately
HK$80,531,000, representing a significant increase of 2.2 times
year-on-year with operating profit of approximately HK$35,457,000,
which is expected to fuel the Group’s future earnings growth.

Furthermore, given the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020 (the
“coronavirus outbreak”), the Group carried out a series of
inspections on its financial leasing customers to understand and
track the fallout on delayed production resumption, product sales
and collection of receivables, in a bid to mitigate adverse impact
of the epidemic on relevant asset quality. Based on our current
elevation, we believe that the existing customers are able to draw
upon their sound fundamentals including stable cash flows, an
indicator to resilience against the epidemic once it becomes under
control, to survive the challenges with our aid at present. In this
regard, the Group sees a sound picture of asset quality, and will
keep a close eye on the assets under a well-established emergency
response plan.
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Chairman’s Statement

PROPERTY INVESTMENTS

The Group’s overall rental income in 2019 was approximately
HK$9,879,000, representing an increase of 45.7% vyear-on-year.
As the ancillary facilities at China Holdings Building in Foshan and
its surroundings were increasingly mature, the overall occupancy
rate of China Holdings Building increased to approximately 90%
and the rental income for the year amounted to approximately
HK$8,143,000, representing a significant increase of 71.22% vyear-
on-year. As a majority of the properties of Shantou Commercial Plaza
were sold out last year, its rental income for the year decreased
year-on-year by 26.61% to approximately HK$1,023,000. Huizhou
International Commerce Building registered no rental income for the
year as all its remaining properties were sold out early last year. As
for the properties in Hong Kong sales, the rental income increased
by 15.75% year-on-year to HK$713,000 for the year, as a result of
higher rent rate after the lease renewal.

In respect of property sales, the Group successfully completed the
disposal of shopping mall units in block B of Shantou Commercial
Plaza, cashing out a total of approximately HK$30,378,000. It
posted a slight loss of approximately HK$524,000 from disposal of
development properties for the year, as the disposal was made at a
consideration slightly lower than book value.

With its solid position in the property development and investment
sector and by capitalizing on experience in such fields, the Group
established Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*
(BERPEHZRERZRBER2AA) (“Sino Rock Tyco”), a 72%-owned
joint venture of the Group, to develop the industrial park in Danzao
Town, Nanhai District, Foshan City, the PRC, which is designed to
house the main and spare production plants, pilot base, research
and development center and ancillary facilities for new energy
vehicles. In the first half of the year, we completed leasing the land
right of approximately 1,400 Chinese acres for industrial park use,
and commenced the site levelling. Subsequently, we will implement
construction stage by stage depending on the actual situation.
Meanwhile, we completed our plan on the acquisition of the Danzao
Xianhuwan property, which was expected to be reconstructed into a
research and development center and ancillary facilities for the park.
We completed reconstruction of the exhibition hall in October 2019,
while for other parts, reconstruction and fitting-out design were
completed and the construction process will be started soon. The
primary construction work for the industrial park is expected to be
completed in 2020.

*
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After the reporting period, the coronavirus outbreak in early 2020
might weigh on and bring down the Group’s rental income amid
potentially depressed economic sentiment. In addition, labor
shortage due to the delayed production resumption as a result of
epidemic control should affect the development and construction
paces of our industrial park project in Danzao Town, leading to a
potential delay in its completion schedule. Meanwhile, the epidemic
may also drag down economic environment, thus mounting pressure
to the industrial park in lease solicitation. The Group will make every
effort in epidemic control, and take countermeasures to minimize its
impact on operation and construction.

WELLNESS ELDERLY CARE BUSINESS

With the experience in building a smart platform for the
management of integrated elderly care services in Nanhai District
(the “Smart Elderly Care Services Platform”), Guangdong Yibaijian
Comprehensive Health Technology Ltd.* ( ER =AM KEEERFE AR
AA]) (“Yibaijian”), a 100%-owned subsidiary of the Group, planned
to gradually expand the exemplary Smart Elderly Care Services
Platform to other towns in Nanhai District, aiming to develop platform
in the surrounding areas of Foshan and even within and outside
Guangdong Province. During the year, we proactively promoted
the development of the Smart Elderly Care Services Platform in
Shuangyashan, Heilongjiang, and helped Shuangyashan Civil Affairs
Administration to complete inspecting the platform, which laid a
solid foundation for the initiative of “walking out of Nanhai and
facilitating surrounding areas”. On 26 November 2019, the platform
in Shuangyashan passed initial examination. Besides, the Group
will further optimize the Smart Elderly Care Services Platform and
ensure more efficient management with IT-based approaches. In
addition, the Group will explore various value-added services for
health management, such as referral and quality supervision of home
elderly care services and relief, to diversify sources of operating
income. The segment recorded operating income of approximately
HK$7,877,000, representing an increase of 78.8% year-on-year, and
turned profitable with insignificant operating profit of approximately
HK$1,088,000 contributed to the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

At the same time, in accordance with the “Nanhai District Inclusive
Elderly Care Service System” approved by the Nanhai District
Government of Foshan City, the Group accelerated the restructuring
and management transfer of the Nanhai District Social Welfare
Center. In the first half of the year, we established a wholly-owned
subsidiary Guangdong Taoyuan Comprehensive Health Operation
Co., Ltd* (ERtkiz Kz EE X E = BR 2 F) for investment,
construction and operation of elderly care service system throughout
the district. The Group also cooperated with Jiujiang Town to
launch the first town-level elderly care service project in Nanhai
District to manage investment and operation of Jiujiang Taoyuan
Nursing Home* ( JLUT#k3EEE & BT )
Jiujiang Taoyuan Nursing Home was completed in an efficient

Despite numerous difficulties,

manner, commenced operation on 26 June 2019 and began to offer
quality service for elderly people from 1 July 2019. However, as no
income was generated at the initial investment stage, it recorded an
operating loss of approximately HK$4,139,000.

After the coronavirus outbreak in early 2020, we stepped up our
epidemic control efforts to minimize safety risk to the epidemic.
In particular, various epidemic control measures were launched
according to actual situation at Jiujiang Taoyuan Nursing Home, to
ensure quality elderly care services for elderly people, a high-risk
vulnerable group susceptible to the epidemic.
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BIG DATA BUSINESS

In February of last year, the Group established a wholly-owned
subsidiary Guangdong Sinsing Technology Ltd.* ( &5 £ &l i
BB A F)to engage in industrial Internet project construction,
smart city construction, big data operation and management
and other businesses. Remarkable results were achieved
in the year, as evidenced by the independent research and
development of Industrial Internet Identification Public Service
Platform. Equipped with SSL server credentials, the platform is
able to provide identification application enterprises with reliable
identification registration and resolution services, product tracing
and demonstration, to facilitate business promotion and expand
the scope of business. Besides, the proprietary Smart Elderly
Care Services Platform co-developed with our fellow subsidiary
Yibaijian owns independent technical capability, enabling us to
independently develop other projects without relying on other
technological service providers and hence laying a solid foundation
for growth upon our enhanced technical research and development
capability. Also, we were recognised by the industry with the 2018
Qutstanding Contribution Award from the Alliance of Industrial
Internet. The segment recorded operating income of approximately
HK$18,881,000, representing an increase of 56.6% year-on-year,
with insignificant net profit of approximately HK$29,000.

HOTEL BUSINESS

Guilin Plaza (“Guilin Plaza”) stepped up promotion to exhibition
customers, marketing through online platforms and offline marketing
focusing on overseas tourist groups, tapped into new markets for
more customers, and made the system more sensitive to market
fluctuations and more quick and flexible for pricing adjustment. We
took initiative to develop value-added services based on hardware
with a view to maximizing operating income, seeking to expand the
business portfolio. The average occupancy rate improved by 2.89%
year-on-year, reaching 59.81%. Despite a 2.13% drop in average
room rate, the operating income increased by 2.2% year-on-year to
approximately HK$13,519,000, and the operating loss narrowed by
8.5% year-on-year to HK$5,504,000.

For identification purpose only

EREHREE
Chairman’s Statement

RBEBEEK

REBEREF2RHORLTE2EMBRRE
RERENEERARNEIXEDHMELE
BOBENTER RHBELTEESEL:
SECDRGHEEKRR BXME T TXLHE
THARRB TR ZTFA2EEESSLAREE
BE NAESEACERRZE2MNESRG
MAMBINIRE ERPRENERNERTE
AR% - BENIEE BRI B TEEAZE
BKEE: RN BRANSAERAGIEFEEHES
ERERBIEE BUFEMNE BN
BN BREBEMBMEAR THEZER
ftb B EMFEEIEE - TETIR QA B0 A 2% A
N RBERBETEREMER WM FEEUSIT
ERT] KRBT HEO A EZERBHE2018
FRUEBEMBE - SFLEEWARA T756.6%"
$R1S %08 %18,881,0007T » iff B IR T & 40F
FI) 8 ) 7%5 #29,0007T °

HIERH

EMERBE ([BXEE]) BBNAEER
FORENE AT iriHmEsme
RN K EIRAVAR NITHE N E - TR
FIRT% » 158 ¥ i5 L BN R R 1% DA K
ERTIERH RN BE M WA LB
FEEEREIER ERLEREHZREN
BRELERE KRNIHAERKEEL  FHRE
KREERFRE T72.89%  #F|59.81%  BNFEF
HEBARMTELH2.13% LE WAL =4
AT 2.2% % 4975 #13,519,0007T * 5 F &
BB EFUE T8.5%F 475 5,504,000
5o

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

9



10

ER

Chairman’s Statement

After the reporting period, China’s tourism industry suffered from
the coronavirus outbreak in early 2020, particularly the city-wide
quarantine policy, travel restrictions adopted by a number of cities in
China, and public concerns about the epidemic. As a result, guest
room marketing of Guilin Plaza was suspended until late March
2020. Even if the hotel reopens, the Group is not optimistic about its
income in 2020.

In order to diversify businesses related to hotel operations, the
Group established China Select Small Hotel Union Limited, a
51%-owned subsidiary of the Group, with T-Box Union (China)
Financial Holdings Investments Limited and T-Box Union Investments
Limited, in an effort to provide integrated service in the homestay
inn and small hotel industry, including the provision of quickly-
constructed T-BOX® mobile homes with zero-sewage discharge
environmental-friendly systems, direct sale management software
and financing solutions. Based on the future-oriented interdependent
business model and with the dawn of the 5G era, the year witnessed
the establishment of Duoduo Meisu* (%% 3 EH & ) , a domestically
leading direct sale platform for scenic homestay inns, with the online
market promotion and brand awareness work under way. As the
business was still in initial promotion, it posted an operating loss of
approximately HK$1,506,000, narrowing by 58.6% year-on-year.

PROFIT FROM INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* (/B8R EZBHR
A |]) (“Changhai Power”), a 31.875%-owned joint venture of the
Group, recorded a cost reduction due to the lower coal prices in the
year, which improved the operating performance with an operating
profit of approximately HK$229,700,000, thus contributing earnings
of approximately HK$73,564,000 to the Group, representing an
increase of 16.46% year-on-year.
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As Guangdong Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.* (ERERIpEHEA
[R/AA]), a 25%-owned associate of the Group, faced the problem
of bad debts in this year and substantial reduction in revenue and
operating profit, the Group made a decision on disposal and entered
into an agreement on asset sale on 30 September 2019. The
transaction is still processing due to the coronavirus outbreak and
the Group received the partial consideration in January 2020. For the
period ended 31 October 2019, Guangdong Financial Leasing Co.,
Ltd. recorded operating profit of approximately HK$26,250,000, and
contributed earnings of approximately HK$6,562,000 to the Group.

On 20 August 2018, Foshan City Nanhai Canmanage Investments
Holdings Limited* (# 1L EEEXZEBR 2 7)) (“Nanhai
Canmanage”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, completed
its investment in 49% of Guangdong Tiannuo Civil Explosives Co.,
Lid* (BEREK#HEEAR A T) (“Tiannuo”), and on 9 October 2018,
Tiannuo completed the acquisition of Guangdong Nanhong Chemical
Co., Ltd* (ERBEI /L THR A F) (“Guangdong Nanhong”). The
transactions allow the Group to improve its profitability and explore
the potential of the domestic civil explosive business. Due to the
impact on its business results from a technological modification
project in the year, Tiannuo only recorded a profit of approximately
HK$8,627,000 for the year after depreciation adjustment for
fair value of the assets acquired, and contributed earnings of
approximately HK$4,228,000 to the Group.

After the reporting period, some workers were unable to return to
work as scheduled, mainly due to the coronavirus outbreak in early
2020, delayed production resumption after the Lunar New Year
holidays, suspended or limited transportation in certain domestic
cities, and the 14-day quarantine requirement on workers who left
from other “high-risk” provinces before permitted to return to work.
As a result, Changhai Power was weighed on by weaker demand,
as some customers of its power supply and steam heating business
have yet to resume normal operations, which is expected to affect
its business results in 2020. Also, Tiannuo needs to postpone its
resumption of operations till 27 February 2020, which may have an
impact on its business results in 2020.
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total assets of
HK$5,147,666,000 (31 December 2018: HK$3,460,537,000),
total liabilities of HK$3,441,696,000 (31 December 2018:
HK$2,129,217,000), a gearing ratio (being total liabilities divided by
total assets) of 66.9% (31 December 2018: 61.5%), net assets of
HK$1,705,970,000 (31 December 2018: HK$1,331,320,000), and
equity attributable to owners of the Company per share of HK64.54
cents (31 December 2018: HK58.00 cents).

The Group had net current assets of HK$505,514,000 (31 December
2018: HK$212,713,000), a current ratio (being current assets
divided by the current liabilities) approximately 1.36 times (31
December 2018: 1.15 times) and the bank balance and cash of
HK$1,028,396,000 (31 December 2018: HK$1,221,671,000), which
are sufficient for capital requirements for future operation and new
projects or business development of the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, properties of the Group for own use
and investment, bank deposits, entity interest of a subsidiary and
finance lease receivables with a carrying value of approximately
HK$1,906,513,000 were pledged to banks as the security for
the bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2018:
properties of the Group for own use and investment, bank deposits
and finance lease receivables with a carrying value of approximately
HK$899,816,000 were pledged to banks).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s main operating income and costs are denominated
in RMB. In the business operation of the Group, foreign exchange
fluctuation of income and costs would be mutually offset. However,
as the Hong Kong-based Group has injected a substantial amount
of current borrowings into domestic wholly-owned subsidiaries
in Mainland China and held a huge amount of monetary assets
denominated in RMB, an exchange gain or loss would generate
from the appreciation or depreciation of RMB. It is expected that
an increase or a decrease of approximately HK$8,126,000 in
the Group’s profit for the year would be resulted if the exchange
rate of RMB to HKD appreciates or depreciates by 5%. Over the
few past years, RMB constantly showed an upward trend and
gradually became stable in the second half of 2008. Nevertheless,
RMB started to fluctuate upward and downward repeatedly in
recent years. With the Sino-US trade war occurred last year, the
exchange rate of RMB against USD dropped sharply, and has
gradually become balanced and fluctuated in both directions in the
first half of the year. However, the Sino-US trade war intensified
abruptly in August 2019, resulting a remarkable drop in exchange
rate of RMB against USD and an exchange loss of approximately
HK$5,194,000 incurred by the Group. The Board believes that RMB
will be immensely affected by any change in the Sino-US trade war
in the short term. A turnaround in the Sino-US trade war may lead
to a rapid rebound, therefore the trend of RMB is unforeseeable
in the short term. Though in the long run, it is expected that RMB
will become stable and will not expose the Group under significant
and long term adverse foreign exchange risk. Accordingly, it is not
necessary for the Group to hedge against foreign exchange risk at
the moment.

EREHREE
Chairman’s Statement
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OUTLOOK

With experience accumulated during the course of transformation
and upgrade over past years, the Group has generally set its focus
and direction for development. To seize opportunities of market
development, the Group will strive to adjust and optimize its
businesses, shifting to segments such as industrial parks/property
development and investment, financial service, technology and
wellness elderly care. In respect of the property development and
investment, with our solid position in the property development and
investment sector and by capitalizing on experience in such fields,
the Group will continue to develop the new energy industrial park
in Danzao Town, Nanhai District, Foshan City, China. In respect of
the financial service sector, drawing upon the increasing demand
for finance lease amid China’s economic growth and changes in
financing models and in view of the fallout of the Sino-US trade war
and the coronavirus outbreak, the Group will further develop the
financial leasing business and intends to focus on business areas
including public utilities, energy conservation and environmenta
protection, new energy and telecommunication projects, while
being cautious to risk management. In respect of the technology
sector, by taking advantages of the opportunities arising from the
new smart city construction plan in Nanhai District, the Group
will continue its research and development efforts in the Big Data
industry projects on an independent basis, as a main driver to our
profit growth in the future. In the wellness elderly care sector, based
on the Smart Elderly Care Services Platform, the Group will expand
to cover other wellness elderly care services. After establishing
the first institutional elderly care project in the first half of the year,
the Group will continue to head in the direction of institutional
elderly care business and the development of a 3-tier elderly care
system comprising institutes, communities and households in
Nanhai District. Meanwhile, the Group will, through its joint ventures
and associates, participate and invest in power generation, civil
explosives, and other high-growth industries in the PRC. With the
aforesaid business development directions, the Group will be able to
expand its business and gradually achieve the goal of increasing and
maintaining stable returns for shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

China Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”) puts great
emphasis on corporate governance and is committed to maintaining
the high standard of corporate governance which is reviewed and
strengthened on a continued basis. The board of directors (the
“‘Board”) and the management of the Company maintains and
enhances the policies and practices of the Company in a timely,
transparent, effective and responsible manner, so as to maintain
good, solid and reasonable corporate governance structure. The
Board believes that the Company and shareholders as a whole can
derive maximum benefits from good corporate governance.

The Company has adopted all the code provisions under the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) as its own code on
corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has complied
with all code provisions under the CG Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company’s corporate governance structure includes the Board
and three committees under the Board, namely audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee. The Board
stipulates the terms of reference of all committees in writing and
specifies clearly the power and responsibilities of the committees.
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THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises eight directors, comprising five
executive directors who have extensive business experience, and
three independent non-executive directors who possess appropriate
professional qualifications. Throughout the year 2019 and up to the
date of this report, the composition of the Board is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman)

Mr. Lin Pingwu (Managing Director)

Mr. You Guang Wu (Director)

Mr. Huang Zhihe (Deputy Managing Director)
Ms. Wang Xin (Deputy Managing Director)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai
Mr. Chen Da Cheng
Mr. Deng Hong Ping

Every director has sufficient time and attention to deal with the
affairs of the Group. Each director discloses to the Company for
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments every year. The
Board considers the composition of executive and non-executive
directors is rational and appropriate and provides adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Group.

The independent non-executive directors provide the Group with
diversified experience and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each committee
bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgements on
issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development, operations,
performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to ensure that the
interests of all shareholders are taken into account.
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In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, subject to
the manner of retirement by rotation of directors as from time to
time prescribed under the Listing Rules and notwithstanding any
contractual or other terms on which any director may be appointed
or engaged, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

Individual information and responsibilities of all directors are
contained in this annual report on pages 36 to 39.

There are no business, financial, family and other relevant interests
among directors.

THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

The Board is principally responsible for establishing the
development direction of the Group, formulating targets and
business development plans, approving major agreements and
matters, monitoring the performance of senior management and
is responsible for corporate governance with a view to increasing
shareholders’ value. Led by the managing director, the management
is responsible for implementing the strategies and plans developed
by the Board. The Board authorizes the management to manage the
day-to-day business operations of the Group. Each committee under
the Board has its own specified terms of reference which clearly
define their powers and responsibilities.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for its decision and has separately identified those functions
reserved to the Board. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.
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The Board also performs the obligations regarding corporate
governance, including:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14
(Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report) to the Listing Rules.

The Board convenes at least four regular meetings each year
(approximately once each quarter) and will convene meetings
when necessary. When a regular board meeting is convened, the
Board papers will be sent to directors for review before the meeting
pursuant to the deadline as required by the Listing Rules and the
code provisions so that directors can keep abreast of the information
to perform their duties and responsibilities.

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
In considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account
factors such as the Group’s expected financial performance,
business conditions and strategies, expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans, business cycles and other
internal or external factors that may affect the Company’s business
or financial performance and financial position, return and interest
of the shareholders and other factors which the Board considers to
be relevant. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to
time and the Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or
obligation of the Company to declare dividends.
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All members of the Board have actively participated in the EE
Company’s Board meetings to discuss the overall strategy and &1 A E E’J* BEBREHB - EFERZ
business of the Group. The Board convened eleven meetings in Z— W EHXABHA+ -k &z REELFES
2019 and the attendance of directors is as follows: AT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE
Name of Directors EEEEB BT RE =
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman) B AE (£E) 10/11 91%
Mr. Lin Pingwu (Managing Director) MRS (EFFAEAEHE) 10/11 91%
Mr. You Guang Wu (Director) HEREE (EF) 9/11 82%
Mr. Huang Zhihe (Deputy Managing Director) — ®EMA A (B E 44 FE) 10/11 91%
Ms. Wang Xin (Deputy Managing Director) T MEL (EFFBEE) 11/11 100%
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIHNTESF
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai PR B {8 5t 4 9/11 82%
Mr. Chen Da Cheng BRERK & & 10/11 91%
Mr. Deng Hong Ping BT haE 10/11 91%

The remuneration of directors is determined with reference to their
functions and responsibilities and the results of the Company in
accordance with the remuneration and performance assessment
programme of directors and senior management which was
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting held on 25 May 2017. Any director is not allowed
to participate in determining his/her own remuneration. The
remuneration received by directors from the Group during the year is
set out in Note 12 to the financial statements.

The Board has set up an independent professional consulting
procedure for directors and upon reasonable request, the directors
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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ROLES AND DUTIES OF CHAIRMAN AND
MANAGING DIRECTOR

The chairman and the managing director have different roles. The
chairman is responsible for the operation of the Board and the
managing director is responsible for managing the operations of
the Group. Their functions have been clearly divided to ensure a
balanced distribution of power and authority so that they will not
concentrate on a single individual.

The chairman of the Board is Mr. He Xiangming and the managing
director of the Company is Mr. Lin Pingwu. The deputy managing
directors of the Company are Mr. Huang Zhihe and Ms. Wang Xin.

The chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The chairman shall ensure the Board operates effectively
and performs its proper duties and discusses all important and
proper matters in a timely manner. The chairman is responsible for
convening board meetings, consulting, determining and approving
the agenda of each board meeting, and ensuring that directors are
provided sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.
The chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Company
formulates good corporate governance practice and procedure.

The managing director is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall operations
and implementing the Board’s operating strategy and policy
and delegating tasks to all departments for implementation so
as to realize the Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition,
the managing director is also responsible for coordinating close
cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of staff and
encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and

effective operation of the Company’s operations and systems.
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TRAININGS OF DIRECTORS

All newly appointed directors are provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The
Company Secretary and representative of auditor update directors
on the latest development and changes regarding the Listing Rules,
accounting standards and other relevant regulatory requirements
from time to time.

In addition, the directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
According to the records provided by the directors, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

During the year under review, all directors of the Company
participated in continuous professional development to update their
knowledge and skills by reading materials relevant to the directors’
duties and responsibilities and/or their relevant professional and
by attending the training programs arranged by the Company. In
addition, Mr. Chan Kwok Wai also had attended talks and seminars
organised by different professional institutions in relation to the
knowledge of the Listing Rules and directors’ responsibility etc.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by directors. After making specific
enquiries, all directors have confirmed that, in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2019, they have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive BTHZZEES@HR=2%F 7 IEH
directors with extensive experience in accounting or legal aspects.
The audit committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the financial
statements, annual reports and accounts and risk management
and internal control systems of the Company, providing advice
to the Board, and making recommendations on the appointment
and remuneration of the auditor of the Company and any matters
related to the termination of appointment. Mr. Chan Kwok Wai is the

BEREEE

FHEEHIERTEAR

BREEEREXERS

chairman of the audit committee and is responsible for reporting the ~ Ni#EEE R o
meeting results and recommendations of the audit committee to the

Board after each meeting.

In 2019, the audit committee convened two meetings. Members and 7

REREEBRMT

T-NF BREEE

TESAK ®
BoBEREZE
EXZARRHNARANPHRER FER
EhEREVNRAREEMABEERRYFRE
EZERHER RARAZBENEE  HM
REMBEIIZEEHEESROZE K
MER ABERER
ERRANEZTEREERLZBENERE

PR &

their attendance are as follows:
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE
Name of Members RE AR BITIRE i FE &
Chan Kwok Wai (Chairman of RER(FEZE2FE)
the audit committee) 2/2 100%
Chen Da Cheng BRZE R 2/2 100%
Deng Hong Ping B R T 2/2 100%

Tasks undertaken by the audit committee during the year included
reviewing the 2018 audited financial statements and the annual
results announcement, reviewing the interim report and the interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2019,
considering the accounting standards adopted, reviewing the
financial reporting, internal control and risk management systems,
reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function,
reviewing the management letter about audit work of the auditor

submitted to the management and the response of the management R XEZZET1H o

and the basis of opinion made by the auditor in their report, etc.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

The remuneration committee comprises three independent non- FHMEESH="FBIUFERTESEMEEH
executive directors and two executive directors. The remuneration fTEFAK - HFHEESFZAEFHLIE
committee is principally responsible for reviewing and approving ZEZFEKSREBABNTFHAIR MEFE
remuneration plans for directors and senior management, making HEZEATEERaREBRASNHTHNEE
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of B#EF|&  RIKE R REFE T o BREMK L
executive directors and senior management, including benefits, £RABFMEZESNEF BEREARTE
pension rights and payment of compensation. Mr. Chen Da Cheng R REZE®REFHEZEgNeRERILH
is the chairman of the remuneration committee and is responsible BER °

for reporting the meeting results and recommendations of the

remuneration committee to the Board after each meeting.

In 2019, the remuneration committee convened two meetings. R-ZE—NF FHEZESLRITMAGE
Members and their attendance are as follows: KERHBEELNAT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE,
Name of Members REER HITRE =
Chen Da Cheng (Chairman of BREX (FTWNZEEE/E)
the remuneration committee) 2/2 100%
Chan Kwok Wai PR B {2 2/2 100%
Deng Hong Ping B R 2/2 100%
He Xiangming fa] () AR 2/2 100%
Lin Pingwu MER 2/2 100%

Tasks undertaken by the remuneration committee during the #MMZEESEFEANMMN TIERERE
year included reviewing the emoluments and incentive scheme E®FHMIERALREZESHE ETEERSRE
of the Group, determining the performance assessment index BAEBMESTIZEEZREERSRES .
of the directors and senior management and considering the WRIEFERHEEZ -FHMEE S W HERR
incentive payment and making recommendations to the Board. The HAE=FHERERAEBTEEERNANH
remuneration committee also ensures that no director or senior  Ffle

management member determines his/her own remuneration.
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The remuneration policy of the Group is to determine the
remuneration based on the responsibilities, qualifications and
working performance of staff (including directors). In addition, the
Group adopted the share option scheme for a term of 10 years
on 26 April 2013. Since adoption of the share option scheme, the
Group has not granted any share options.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and two executive directors. The nomination
committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy. It shall consider the suitability of a candidate
to act as a director on the basis of the candidate’s qualification,
experience, integrity and potential contribution to the Company, and
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors
under the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

In 2019, the nomination committee convened one meeting and
members and their attendance are as follows:

AEBNFHBERRAEL (BREES)NB
B BERENRTHERAMEETEME s K
SEER -_ZT—=FMOA-+BRATH
H+FBREE BRABRERS . K
SEORE R L ERBRE-

REEEE

REZEEH-ZBYUINTESTLMEH
TEFEEK - REZEGAARTEZTINR
B ABRAER - AERIRE A A AR R
ERBMBRYESSFLNEPREES-
REZBEREREANER KLh AREY
ARTHEERNENEBRLTEZENEGEA
2 Wtz E AR RIS 13 IRPT B A B L 1 4R
ERZB FFRTESTNB LI

R-ZF-NF REZEEEHT - REZ"
KRB REFEEREAT :

Number of

Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate

HERE
Name of Members RE AR BT RE i FE =

He Xiangming (Chairman of AR (EEEZ82E/E)

the nomination committee) 1/1 100%
Lin Pingwu AR 1/1 100%
Chan Kwok Wai BRED (R 1/1 100%
Chen Da Cheng BR 32 B 1/1 100%
Deng Hong Ping B R 1/1 100%

The work carried out by the nomination committee during the
year included reviewing the Board structure of the Company,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive directors,
considering and reviewing the Board diversity policy and making
recommendations to the Board.
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All independent non-executive directors of the Company have
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules and have
presented annual confirmations of independence issued pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the Company. The nomination
committee has assessed their independence and confirms that all
independent non-executive directors are independent parties as
defined in the Listing Rules. The term of office of Mr. Chan Kwok Wai
and Mr. Chen Da Cheng is for two years until 21 September 2020.
The term of office of Mr. Deng Hong Ping is until 30 June 2021. They
are subject to the retirement by rotation and re-election requirements
of the bye-laws of the Company.

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of
appointing and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria used
in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia, such
candidate’s academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity etc. The
procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director is summarised
as follows:—

1. The nomination committee reviews the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board periodically and make recommendation on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

2. When it is necessary to appoint an additional director or fill a
casual vacancy, the nomination committee identifies, selects
and recommends candidates to the Borad pursuant to post
nature and the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy.

3. The nomination committee shall submit the candidate’s resume
and recommendation, include terms of appointment, to the
Board for consideration. If the process yields one or more
desirable candidates, the nomination committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the assessment result
and presents the same together with its recommendation to the
Board for consideration.

ARREBUFFANTEFTCHAE LMRAIN
Z3R - AR B HRBE T RAIES 13163
HOBIMERAFHERE - RBREZBESEA
BENBIM UHERFEBLIFNTES
BB ETRAUMAENBELAL - REER
ENREKREENENAMFE_T_TF
NANAZ+—BLE MBRFEENEHRE
E-—FXNA=TH-REABTFARAM
ANERGBERTREREENHRE -

EXeNMCRM - ERBRR([REBK
R G-ESINERELERZEINRENZIE
EMRF - FHAIRE AHEE P R HE SR
HRFE(EFEE)EEMERREXER
HETELR ANE -ZEREFZEES
MR F BT - —

1. REZEEHTHRIESTERE A
BN AK (BERE MBENRER) I
FUER BB S AN R B A 3 R SRBE M
EEeRBFLNEDRLER-

2. EALERNBINESTHEMBZRE
RAZEBHREZEFHRENVEERZ
RABRAMENRELRENMERAES
SHBAR-

3. REZBEFHBREAEHLER B
REZAEGRT REEFEEZE - NEE
ABBB—% REZBEFRETE
BRIEZE KRB ENERRES
ER-
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4. Based on the recommendation from the nomination committee,
the Board will consider and approve the appointment of new
director(s).

5.  Each Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
the annual general meeting of the year.

6. The nomination committee shall review overall contribution,
performance, professional knowledge and qualifications of the
retiring Directors and make recommendations to the Board for
consideration for their re-election.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board. With a view to maintaining competitive advantage, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element. Therefore, the Company adopted the Board diversity
policy in 2013. The policy set out that the nomination committee of
the Company reviews and assesses the composition of the Board,
makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of new
directors of the Company, oversees the conduct of the annual review
of the effectiveness of the Board in order to achieve the objective
of Board diversity. In addition, mechanisms including supervising,
reporting and policy reviewing etc. ensure that the Board diversity
policy will be implemented effectively.

The nomination committee has reviewed from time to time the
diversity of the Board of the Company to ensure that the policy
will be implemented effectively and considered that there is no
immediate need for setting up the measurable objectives.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance structure,
policies and procedures, as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate
the Group to manage it risks across business operations.
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The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the audit committee and the senior
management of the Company. The Board determines the nature
and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring
design, implementation and control of the risk management and
internal control systems, so as to ensure the Group has set up and
maintained a suitable and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group has formulated and adopted corporate risk management
policy in providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the senior management
identifies risks that would affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according
to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners
are then established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has established an internal audit function to
assist the Board and the audit committee in ongoing monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
identify deficiencies in the design and implementation of risk
management and internal controls and recommend proposal for
improvement. Significant risk management and internal control
deficiencies will be reported to the audit committee and the Board
on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.

AEBERZREBREREBEE AEARA
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Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the audit committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
had performed annual review on the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including but not limited to the Group’s
ability to cope with its business transformation and changing external
environment; the scope and quality of management’s review on risk
management and internal control systems; result of internal audit
work; the extent and frequency of communication with the Board in
relation to result of risk and internal control review; significant failures
or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status of
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group’s

risk management and internal control systems are effective.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside
information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information.
The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
Safe Harbours as provided in the Securities Future Ordinance. The
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, if the Group believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained
or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would
immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is
committed to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading, or false or misleading through omission
of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and
negative facts.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%

REREEREMARERREDELEFRE
REZZEEBERISRREREFSE-
EXEENARAEE ABEZRMB
ERBETHNER BETIEERKERINE
ITHEEZNEIRELREHEBRERST RN
ARAEBENRABREERABEZERGES
BRETFER BRETRRAKERE
MEXBEERINERREZENE D B2
BREEREARMANEERSGN TEEHE
REE NBESZITIE REFSHEEEERS
ROFERERRE BALENEREE
ARIEBEFANEREEFBAUREATE
LA&LT (ERHRAD RENEFERAX

CEEZERRBEANRMEE LKA EE
ESS L‘fTZﬁ)&

BEERBRAREENEFNAMNEZER

RABIEHIEARBERRERR  FTHRREHR
BHRIENERNET E3lREF RAK
ERAFREER EREMIEATHEE
IN : @'fi"mﬁ@%’iﬁﬁﬁuZ/ﬁ FRIEBRIER

N (B H R RAE &) TTETT%%/%MX
Eﬁ%&ﬁ°$%.Em@%’ii\ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%§ﬁ§
Al @RFRZBERERE EAKERRE
ERFEFORETMN OB RATREE SN -
GERMARKEZHER - AEE B E
RAEPHENEHTBERIARE
IRERREHEENETEMBERIAR
B DB AN & 60 75 K ER IE R E A

=
g o



o STk a

Corporate Governance Report

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On, who is engaged and
appointed by the Company from an external secretarial services
provider. The primary contact persons with the company secretary
of the Company are Mr. He Xiangming (executive director and
chairman) and Ms. Ella Chong (assistant to chairman). During the
year, the company secretary of the Company duly complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing financial
statements of the Group.

The financial department of the Company is managed by a qualified
accountant. With the assistance of the financial department, the
Board will ensure the preparation of the financial statements of the
Group complies with relevant regulations and applicable accounting
standards.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the audit fee was
approximately HK$1,650,000 and the non-audit services fee
mainly included services provided as reporting accountants was
approximately HK$994,000.

The statement of reporting responsibility issued by HLM CPA
Limited, the auditor of the Company, in respect of the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the independent auditor’s
report on pages 57 to 69.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company understands the importance of good communication
with shareholders and investors, and recognizes the value of
providing current and relevant information to shareholders and
investors. The Board has established a shareholders’ communication
policy setting out the principles of the Company in relation to
shareholders’ communication, with the objective of ensuring that
both shareholders and investors can obtain the complete, identical
and current information of the Company in a timely manner.

The Company has maintained communication with shareholders
through the annual general meeting or other general meetings and
encourages them to participate in general meetings. Registered
shareholders receive notices of general meetings by post. The notice
of general meeting contains the agenda, the proposed resolutions
and the voting form. Any registered shareholder is entitled to attend
the annual general meeting and special general meetings provided
that their shares must be registered in the register of members.
Shareholders who are unable to attend the general meeting can
fill in the proxy form attached with the notice of general meeting
and return the same to the Company so as to appoint their
representatives or the chairman of the meeting as their proxies.

At the annual general meeting held on 23 May 2019, the first special
general meeting of 2019 held on 23 May 2019, the second special
general meeting of 2019 held on 23 May 2019, all directors were
present to answer questions raised by shareholders and separate
resolution in respect of each separate issue was proposed for
shareholders to vote thereon. The Company appointed branch share
registrar of the Company to act as scrutineers and to ensure votes
cast are properly counted and recorded, and announced the results
of the poll on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company and the Listing
Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for special general meetings requisitioned by the
shareholders

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (“Requisitionists”) shall have the right to require
a special general meeting to be called and propose any matter
to be considered at the general meeting of the Company. The
Requisitionists may deposit the written requisition for special general
meeting (which shall specify the full name of the Requisitionists,
the business and proposal to be considered at the general meeting
of the Company, and shall be signed by the Requisitionists) to the
principal place of business of the Company for the attention of
the Board. If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting in specified days as
provided by the bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules,
the Requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director

In accordance with Bye-law 88 of the Company, no person other
than a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Board for election, be eligible for election as a director at any
general meeting unless not less than seven (7) days before the date
appointed for the general meeting there shall have been lodged at
the office or at the head office notice in writing signed by a member
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected
provided that the period for lodgment of the aforesaid notice shall
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. For
further information, please refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders
to Propose a Person for Election as a Director” published on the
Company’s website at http://chinainvestments.tonghaiir.com.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act, either any number of the
registered shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company (“Proposers”), or not less than 100
of such registered shareholders can request the Company in writing
to: (a) give to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and
(b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Proposers may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Proposers; and it must be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before
the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or
not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any other
requisition. Provided that an annual general meeting is called for a
date six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

For any enquiry to the Board, shareholders may put forward a written
enquiry to the Company setting out details of contact (including
name, address, telephone number and email address etc.) by the
following means:

Address: Unit 501, Wing On Plaza, 62 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax No.: 852-23013878

Email: general@cihl.com.hk
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
39 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s fair review of the business during the year and
discussion on the future business development of the Group
are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 14 of
this report. In addition, the discussion on the principal risks and
uncertainties which the Group is exposed to the relationships
with the Group’s suppliers, customers and key stakeholders, the
Group’s environmental policies and performance and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group are set out in below paragraphs and the section on
employees under page 46 of this report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year with financial
key performance indicators is set out in the “Chairman’s statement”
on pages 4 to 14 of this report.

The events significantly affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this report
are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 14 of this
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects would be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties including business risks, operational risks and financial
management risks.

The details of financial risk management policies and practices of the
Group is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate
and long-term goals. The hotel management continuously enhance
relationships with individual and corporate customers, which enjoys
good relationship with suppliers and customers. During the year of
2019, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures
have been adopted in the Group’s managed hotel. Such initiatives
include recycling of used papers, energy saving measures and water
saving practices. An environmental, social and governance report is
set out on pages 48 to 56 of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the mainland China while the Company
itself is incorporated in Bermuda with its shares listed on the Stock
Exchange. Our establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda, mainland
China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2019
and up to the date of this report, we have complied with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the mainland China, Hong Kong and
the Bermuda that have a significant impact on the Group.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 70.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the year ended
date. There was a revaluation surplus of HK$4,618,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: surplus of HK$8,945,000). Details
of such revaluation are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.

Particulars regarding the Group’s major properties are set out on
pages 241 to 244 of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements.

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 74 and Note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had no reserves available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, except that under
the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of approximately HK$725,199,000, may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman)

Mr. Lin Pingwu (Managing Director)

Mr. You Guang Wu (Director)

Mr. Huang Zhihe (Deputy Managing Director)
Ms. Wang Xin (Deputy Managing Director)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai
Mr. Chen Da Cheng
Mr. Deng Hong Ping

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
He Xiangming, Mr. Chan Kwok Wai and Mr. Chen Da Cheng shall
retire by rotation from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

The term of office of each independent non-executive director is two
years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

He Xiangming, aged 53, was appointed as an executive director
and chairman of the Board of the Company on 23 July 2014. Mr.
He is the chairman of the nomination committee, a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company and a director in a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. He holds a master degree in
Geography from South China Normal University. He has extensive
experience in business management and environmental public
utilities. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. He was the chairman of
Grandblue Environment Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange).

Lin Pingwu, aged 52, was appointed as an executive director and
the managing director of the Company on 20 January 2016. He
is a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company and a director in a number of
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lin holds a degree in History from
South China Normal University. He has extensive experience in
business management and finance. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Lin worked as /8T E B BIEHK (Chief of the Planning
and Finance Section of Nanhai Education Office*), manager of a
company which engaged in the education industry, /% [& 78 # $8 §E
£ (Township Head of Xigiao Town, Nanhai District*), & /& & 9N =5
% B (IR#EB) BEK (Director of Nanhai Foreign Affairs & Overseas
Chinese Affairs Office (Travel and Tourism Administration)*), F /& &%
Bl#Z K (Deputy Secretary-General of Nanhai District Committee®),
m /&% $l A = £ T (Director of Nanhai Legislative Office*) and &
BRI B F 8B K (Deputy Director of Nanhai Finance Office®).

You Guang Wu, aged 55, was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 22 September 2004 until 6
April 2006 when he was redesignated as vice chairman of the board
and executive director of the Company. On 26 February 2009, Mr.
You was appointed as the chairman of the board and on 23 July
2014 resigned as the chairman of the board. Mr. You is now an
executive director of the Company and a director in a number of
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. You is a senior accountant in the
PRC. He holds a master degree in economics. He has accumulated
extensive experience in investment, financing and financial
management.
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Huang Zhihe, aged 51, was appointed as an executive director
and the deputy managing director of the Company on 5 August
2013. Mr. Huang is also a director in a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Huang holds a bachelor degree in industrial
management and engineering and a master of business
administration from South China University of Technology. He has
extensive experience of investment and development in real estate
and management in hotel industry.

Wang Xin, aged 48, was appointed as an executive director and
the deputy managing director of the Company on 1 May 2014 and
is also a director in a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Ms.
Wang holds a master degree in economics from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics. She has extensive experience in corporate
business operation, strategic financial planning and management,
team building and management innovation.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chan Kwok Wai, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 22 September 2004 and is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Chan holds a bachelor degree in Accounting and Commerce, and is
member of the CPA Australia and a member of Hong Kong Securities
Institute. He has over 30 years of experience in the finance and
accounting industry. Mr. Chan is also currently independent non-
executive director of 4 other listed public companies in Hong Kong,
namely Chinese Estates Holdings Limited, Tern Properties Company
Limited, National Electronics Holdings Limited and Far East
Consortium International Limited.

Chen Da Cheng, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 22 September 2004 and is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chen
graduated from the Sun Yat-sen University, PRC. He is a practicing
solicitor in the PRC and the executive director of Guangdong
Lawyers Association. He has over 30 years of experience in legal
services.
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Deng Hong Ping, aged 46, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 6 April 2006 and is a
member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Deng holds a Bachelor
Degree in marine engineering of the Ocean University of China in
Guangdong and graduated in master of economics and legal studies
of Huazhong University of Science and Technology. Mr. Deng is a
practicing lawyer in the PRC and he has accumulated extensive
experience in legal sectors, particularly in enterprises mergers and
acquisition and debt reorganization.

Note: The Group’s businesses are under the direct responsibility of the
above executive directors who are the senior management of the

Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interest of the Company’s directors
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by

EERKRG  HBERORESE

3¢
m

RZB-NAF+-A=1t—H RBRERFRE
ErRBEGRD ([FExRBEERM]) %352
GRRENELCMALCE HRBHN TR
AT EMBITAERETES %E’J
FESTRI ([EETR) MBMEAR

RHHRE ARREFELAR Tﬁﬁfﬂﬂ
MREEE (&R EHRPERGIFEXVED)

—

Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 BEIAMD « HHERRD M EHF RN T
to the Listing Rules were as follows:
Long positions in the shares of the Company RELTRDHEF R
Approximate
percentage
of total
issued shares
Number of as at
Nature of ordinary 31 December
Name of director Capacity Interest shares held 2019
R=ZF—h%F
+=ZRA=+-—H
s AR BT
ESHE 54 EntE ZBEREE R zE DL
He Xiangming Beneficial owner Personal 1,441,000 0.08%
fa] [A) BA EREEBA {EPN
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the KB EXFREBEEN R_ZE—HhE+ - A

directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or short
positions in any shares or underlying shares or interest in debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2019, according to the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, the persons who were interested in 5% or more in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company are as follows:
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RZB-—AF+ZA=+—H RELARF
RRE S LG GO E3B6RFEZ ETERR
Bk BAEARR RN REERN5%
A bz a2 BRI

Approximate

Number percentage
of shares/ of total issued
underlying shares as at

Names shares  Capacity 31 December 2019
R=ZE-NF

+=-A=+-H

R 13,/ e wiEeBe BT

=L BROBE 56 BHzBEDE
EREEEREEBR AT (Guangdong 1,441,439,842  Corporate interest 84.18%

Nanhai Holding Investment Co., Ltd.*) (Note)

Note:

These 1,441,439,842 shares comprises (i) 1,222,713,527 shares held by
Prize Rich Inc. which was wholly-owned by ER M /EIEREEER A A
(Guangdong Nanhai Holding Investment Co., Ltd.*); and (ii) 218,726,315 new
shares to be allotted and issued by the Company to Prize Rich Inc. upon the
exercise of conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds issued by the
Company to Prize Rich Inc. pursuant to an acquisition agreement as part of
the consideration.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the
register as having an interest in 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company.

* For identification purpose only
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Save as disclosed below, there were no connected transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

1 On 12 March 2019, the Company and Prize Rich Inc. (“Prize
Rich”) entered into an extension deed to extend the maturity
date of the outstanding convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$166,232,000 by 5 years from 13 October 2019
to 13 October 2024, with all the terms and conditions of the
outstanding convertible bonds unchanged.

As Prize Rich held 1,222,713,527 Shares, representing
approximately 71.41% of the issued share capital of the
Company, and was a controlling shareholder and connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules and the
extension constituted a connected transaction of the
Company which was subjected to announcement, circular
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Independent Board Committee had been established to
give recommendations to the Independent Shareholders on the
proposed extension. Independent financial adviser had been
appointed by the Company as to advise the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders in this regard.
Related announcement and a circular were issued on 12 March
2019 and 25 April 2019 respectively. The special general
meeting was convened and held on 23 May 2019 for the
Independent Shareholders to approve the proposed extension.
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On 30 September 2019, the main disposal agreement and its
ancillary documents entered into amongst Zhong Chuang Xing
Ke (Shenzhen) Investments Company Limited* (& & B &} (75
YN IEE AR QA (“ZCXK”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, CIH Finance Investments Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“CIH Finance”), Foshan
City Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Zone Investment Holdings Co.,
Lid* (LS MEREEREBR A F) (“Nanhai
Financial Hi-Tech Holdings”) and Canton Risen Financial
Leasing (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd* (EEEIgERE (EM) AR
A F]) (“Canton Risen Guangzhou”) in relation to the disposal
of the entire equity interest in Canton Risen Guangzhou
owned by ZCXK and CIH Finance to Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech
Holdings pursuant to the terms of the disposal agreement at
a cash consideration of RMB52,720,000 and the continued
loan by ZCXK to Canton Risen Guangzhou in the form of the
outstanding shareholder’s loan in the amount of approximately
RMB157,120,000.

As at the date of above disposal agreement Nanhai Financial
Hi-Tech Holdings holds 20% equity interest in Guangdong
Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd. (EER A A HREH
BRAF]) (“Sino Rock Tyco”), an 80%-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and was accordingly a substantial shareholder
of the Company’s subsidiary and a connected person at the
subsidiary level according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions constituted a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. By virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules, since (i)
Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Holdings was a connected person at
the subsidiary level; (i) the Board had approved the Disposal
and the transactions contemplated under the Disposal
Agreement; and (iii) the independent non-executive Directors
had confirmed that the terms of the Disposal Agreement were
fair and reasonable, and the transactions were on normal
commercial terms or better and in the interests of the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole, the transactions were subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements only, and
were exempt from the circular, independent financial advice
and shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. The announcement and the circular of the
Company in respect of the said transaction was made on 30
September and 31 October 2019 respectively.
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3 On 4 December 2019, the disposal agreement entered into
between CIH Finance and Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Holdings in
relation to the disposal of 8% equity interest in Sino Rock Tyco
owned by CIH Finance to Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Holdings
pursuant to the terms of the disposal agreement at a cash
consideration of RMB84,892,886.65.

As at the date of above disposal agreement Nanhai Financial
Hi-Tech Holdings holds 20% equity interest in Sino Rock Tyco,
an 80%-owned subsidiary of the Company, therefore, Nanhai
Financial Hi-Tech Holdings was a substantial shareholder of
the Company’s subsidiary and a connected person at the
subsidiary level according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions constituted a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. By virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules,
since (i) Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Holdings was a connected
person at the subsidiary level; (i) the Board had approved
the Disposal and the transactions; and (i) the independent
non-executive Directors had confirmed that the terms of
the Disposal Agreement were fair and reasonable, and the
transactions were on normal commercial terms or better and
in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole, the transactions were subjected to the reporting and
announcement requirements only, and were exempt from
the circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The announcement of the Company in respect of the said
transaction was made on 4 December 2019

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements. Those related party transactions constituted
exempt connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2013 (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme is for a term
of 10 years from the date of adoption. No option has been granted
since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Group
with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the participants for their
contribution or future contribution to the Group and to strengthen the
many long-term relationships that the participants may have with the
Group.

For details of terms of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to
Note 32 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, no charitable donation was made within the Group
(2018: HK$Nil).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the vyear, the largest supplier accounted for 32% of the
Group’s purchases and the five largest suppliers accounted for 45%
of the Group’s total purchases. The largest customer accounted
for 19% of the Group’s turnover and the five largest customers
accounted for 60% of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has an interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of employees of the Group is approximately 197
(2018: 183). The remuneration of the employees of the Group
is determined on the basis of performance and responsibility of
the employees. The Group provides education allowances to
the employees. The Group also provides internal training to its
employees to enable them to achieve self-improvement and to
enhance their job related skills. The Group also operates a share
option scheme, under which qualified employees may exercise their
options at an agreed price to subscribe for shares of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Bye-laws provided that the Directors for the time
being of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profit of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except
such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the convertible notes and share option scheme as disclosed
in notes 29 and 32 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 were audited by HLM CPA Limited who will retire
and seek for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
China Investments Holdings Limited

He Xiangming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 13 May 2020
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The Company always puts great emphasis on environmental
protection, is particularly dedicated to reducing emission of
greenhouse gas and promoting resource utilization efficiency and
waste management, etc., and paying the highest attention to its
hotel business. An environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”)
task team has been established by Guilin Plaza Hotel to formulate
relevant policies for hotel under the 5R principle (replace, reduce,
reuse, recover and recycle), plan and organize the implementation
of various relevant tasks and constantly put forward administrative
measures, in an effort to save energy and reduce resource
consumption.

EXHAUST GAS

— Boilers and other combustion facilities have been installed flue
gas purification devices that have passed the standardised
test of the environmental protection administration, so as to
minimize the emission of harmful gas.

—  Fuel have been changed from using diesel with a lot of nitric
oxide emission to clean using natural gas, so as to reduce
emission of sulfur dioxide and particles.

—  Exhaust gas emission has passed the test of environmental
protection administration, with emission indicators has met the
statutory and regulatory standards.

— All vehicles in the hotel use highly efficient fuel detergents to
reduce fuel consumption and hydrocarbon emissions.

—  During the year, the emissions of nitrogen oxides, cerium oxides
and particulates amounted to 358.3kg, 1.83kg and 8.94kg
(2018: 310.3kg, 1.6kg and 8.8kg), respectively.
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GREENHOUSE GAS

The greenhouse gas emitted by the Company mainly comes from
electric consumption. The hotel also tries our best to reduce electric
consumption and carbon footprint in the following ways.

Electricity consumption

- During the year, the hotel enhanced the solar water
heating function of its solar power system, using clean and
environmentally-friendly renewable energy and further reducing
power consumption.

— The hotel used more new energy saving light source like
LED semiconductor lamps in its lighting system during
the refurbishment, which not only reduces 75% of power
consumption under the same lighting effect, but also has a
longer useful life and reduces the consumption of resources.

—  The hotel has worked out Regulations on Energy Saving and
Environmental Protection, advocating active adoption of up-
to-date saving techniques and management methods in the
energy-saving management of the hotel, so as to practically
reinforce the capacity of energy management and control, carry
out energy saving and consumption reduction works, reduce
operation cost and protect the environment.

— The hotel adheres to the guideline of “Full Attention and
Participation by all, Constant Persistence and innovation”.
Therefore, we are not only dedicated to educating and training
our employees and strictly enforcing relevant regulations, but
also encouraging employees to put forward feasible advices to
continuously improve our energy saving and control, in a bid to
continuously intensify and develop energy saving of the hotel.

—  During the year, the electricity comsumption and greenhouse
gas emissions of the Company totalled 2,312,450 units
and 1,763.35 tons (2018: 2,051,789 unit and 1,562.2 tons
respectively), the increases is because the Company is under
development, the consumption is proportionally increased with
the expansion of the office space.
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ENVIRONMENT AND RESOURCE
CONSUMPTION

Water Consumption

The water consumption of the Company focuses on the hotel
business. In all guest rooms of the hotel, we apply water-saving
pedestal pans which meet the Class-1 standards of water
use efficiency. We guide guests to correctly use the pedestal
pans according to different standards for bowel movement and
urination. We also encourage employees to use water frugally
in daily life. We also install the intelligent inductive water-
saving system in employees’ bathrooms. These measures
can effectively control the intensity and total amount of water
consumption.

The hotel collects a large amount of condensed water vapour
by the cooling tower, thereby significantly reducing the loss of
plume.

Strengthened water consumption regulation at the hotel: Water
leakage detection and water balance testing were conducted
and water tanks were cleaned on a regular basis. Ledgers
were established to conduct measurement and assessment by
installing separate water meters and water-saving faucets so as
to exercise control over water consumption. Water-saving signs
are placed in guest rooms to guide guests as a reminder, and
change of cotton fabric products is made on a per guest basis
instead of the previous daily basis, all aiming to reduce water
consumption and minimize pollution to water resources.

The hotel also enhanced employees’ water-saving awareness
to promote good habits and culture of saving water and
other resources, in hope to convey the concept of resources
conservation and environmental protection to guests.

During the year, the water consumption in total of the Company
totalled 34,012 m® (2018: 33,516 m?® and is similar to last
year’s consumption.
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Consumption of Other Resources and environmental impact

— The Company tries to save the use of paper by advocating
“paperless office”. Moreover, we reduce the use of disposable
stationery, print both sides of paper, and deliver waste paper to
the environmental recycling company for disposal.

—  The hotel reduces resource consumption by reducing guest
supplies, minimizing packages and preventing the use of
disposable tableware.

—  The new energy industrial park in Danzao, Nanhai is still at the
preliminary stage of development. Prior to the construction
of plants, the parcel of land is required to be backfilled with
soil for ground surface levelling, and a total of 770,000 cubic
meters (2018: 240,000 cubic meters) of soil was used during
the year. In particular, the Company negotiated with the persons
in charge of the neighbouring properties under construction and
factories, and collected silty sandy and clayey soil excavated
from the basements of the projects as part of its endeavours
to reduce damage to the afforested hills and mountains, the
impact on the ecological environment and the pollution and
emissions caused by long-distance transportation.

The silt soil generated from the excavation of the basement
of the Nanhai Danzao rental housing project is partly used as
garden soil in the area, and the remaining 20,000 cubic meters
are discharged in the legal landfill.

- By internally employing a method of hierarchical utilisation
of food raw materials and providing catering customers with
packaging and wine storage services, the hotel also minimised
the consumption of food raw materials and significantly reduced
the production of food waste and other wastes.

The non-hazardous wastes produced during the production and
operation of the hotel are mainly household garbage and kitchen
waste. The hotel has established a garbage house which meets
the standards of the Star Rating and Assessment on China Tourism
Hotels ( (R BUIREEER /5 2 R EID EFTE) ) . All these non-hazardous
wastes are collected and treated by the environment and hygiene
management agencies designated by the government. Kitchen
waste is processed mainly to animal feeds and composts. Therefore,
it is considered as zero emission of harmless waste and the impact
on the surrounding environment is minimized.
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In relation to the Hotel Business nature, Company not use any
packaging material. Except for the abovementioned, Company’s
business activities do not make any significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

In the spirit of a good corporate citizen, the Company actively
participates in various activities with regard to caring community,
fundraising for poverty and environmental protection, tries to be a
conscientious enterprise, offers all-round security to our employees,
and makes due contribution to building a better community.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOR

In order to promote employees’ sense of belonging to the Company,
the Company launches various games for employees every year,
including simulated ball game, outdoor activities, etc. In addition,
the Company tries to promote employees’ job skill and sense of
superiority by instruction, activities, skill competition and other
trainings.

The Company has set up the Employee Manual, wherein all articles
and the formulation and release procedures of the Employee Manual
meet relevant legal requirements. The Company has established a
trade union to offer guidance to employees.

The Company treats each employee equally, and recruits,
compensates and promotes employees according to the same
standards irrespective of their ethnology, race, nationality, sex,
religion, age, sexual orientation, political faction, marital status and
other social identities.
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The following is the employees distribution information as at the end

AT REBRARRFAKXBEINMHZER -

of the year.
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZF—)\F
Number of employees BT AZ 197 183
Male employees/% BHEI ALt 114/58% 96/52%
Female employees/% BT 5L 83/42% 87/48%
Below the age of 30/% F AR AB08%, 5t 40/20% 40/22%
Between the age of 31 to 50/% FE31R 25058, 1h kL 119/61% 109/60%
Over the age of 50/% FHEANE08%, 1t 38/19% 34/18%

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Company is dedicated to providing employees with a safe
working environment, trying our best to prevent work from bringing
any risk to the public, and paying attention to employees’ health. The
orientation training of the hotel employees includes the labor safety
course, so as to promote employees’ safety awareness and self-
protection capacity. We have worked out safe-operation procedures
for each job that may bring about any risk. In addition, we carry out
daily safety supervision and monthly safety check.

During the year, the company organized two firefighting evacuation
drills with a total of 142 participants, 16 external safety conferences
and trainings, a total of 30 participants, and the company also
organized two safety knowledge trainings with a total of 123
participants. There are a total of 6 company security licenses.
The safety production team made safety and fire inspections to
the subsidiaries 22 times, and checked, rectified, followed up and
supervised the hidden dangers.

In addition, we provide all employees with free professional health
check every year.
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TRAINING AND SKILL DEVELOPMENT

The Company invests sufficient resources in employee training and
development, so as to maintain the competitiveness, professional
level and moral standards of employees. All new employees must
receive training of industry knowledge, health and safety and job
skill. Furthermore, guided by Annual Employee Training Program,
we continuously offer expertise and skill training to employees every
year, so that they can possess a high professional quality, maintain
their competitiveness, fulfill their duties and reach the highest service
standards.

In addition, we select and assign employees to pursue advanced
studies at domestic well-known professional academies, with a view
to bringing up professional talents with a broad vision and versed in
industry operation and management.

Each employee of the hotel received 12-day training of 6 courses on
average. (2018: 12-day training of 6 courses on average)

LABOR REGULATIONS

With regard to labor standards and human right policy, the Company
strictly abides by relevant laws. The internal labor policy formulated
by the Company contains a strict ban on child labor or forced labor.
In each of the previous years, we smoothly passed the annual check
of labor supervision by relevant government authorities.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

PRIVACY POLICY

The hotel aims to safeguard the personal data and information
of all stakeholders basis by formulating strict privacy protection
policies and complying with internationally recognised standards to
the greatest extent. The privacy policy of the hotel applies to the
data and information on its guests and other individuals who have
business contacts with the hotel, as well as the management of
such data and information in electronic or written form. The hotel
is committed to the safe personal information collection, personal
data processing, personal information use, personal information
disclosure and daily record management. All business activities are
in compliance with relevant national laws and regulations as well as
internationally recognised privacy protection standards.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The supplier management of the hotel is always an important link
of quality control system. The hotel has worked out strict purchase
control measures, so as to ensure the quality and safety of all
purchased raw materials. All food suppliers must provide inspection
and quarantine certificates issued by the government authorities of
hygiene and disease control. Materials supplied by other suppliers
must also have national quality and safety (QS) certificates. The
hotel has formulated and implemented a strict cargo receipt and
inspection system, ensuring the quality and safety of all materials
(including raw materials) purchased by us.
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PRODUCT LIABILITY

In the opinion of the Company, products represent the core
competitiveness of an enterprise. In order to practically improve
product quality and ensure customers’ rights and interests, we
have taken an active part in the event of “Brand Creation Year”
organised by the local government, formulated and implemented
the standardised management procedures of product quality, and

successfully applied for a brand enterprise.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company carries out a zero-tolerance policy toward any act
of bribery, fraud or money-laundering. Both the Employee Manual
and Financial System formulated by the Company contain control
procedures for preventing bribery, fraud or money-laundering
from occurring. Moreover, the Company has set up a reporting
mechanism, through which employees can report any surreptitious
irregular act.

The Company has a working group to carry out supervision and
inspection, to enhance awareness of accountability, to strengthen
efforts in cleaner governing organ building, safety production,
environmental protection, etc., and conducted comprehensive
integrity risk investigation and control, aiming to ensure the healthy

and stable development of the Group as a whole.
COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
For many years, the hotel has been helping local student

groups through cash donation, material donation and employee
participation, so as to meet our commitment to community service.

In addition, the hotel always pays high attention to the impact of our
operation on our community and environment, and tries to minimize
such impact, so as to fulfill our obligation as a member of our
community.
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HLM CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Rooms 1501-8, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
FE AR BoE 18198

KA KE1581501-8%

Tel &7 : (852) 3103 6980

Fax fH &.: (852) 3104 0170

E-mail 7§ #: info@hlm.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FERRZRERDA

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 70 to 239,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter: Impairment of finance lease receivables

FRRETEER

BT FESUMNERHE S BRAH
BGRAVBBREATREENETR -RMARE
ZEREEMBHRREIEUFEE MBI
RER MAefttEETRERBERER -

HREFISEE REHERRRZRE

Refer to Notes 5 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the impairment of the Group’s finance lease receivables
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements, and the use of judgement by the management
in evaluating the recoverability of finance lease receivables.

The carrying amount of finance lease receivables is HK$1,262,855,000
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$608,173,000), which contributed
to approximately 25% to the total assets (2018: 18%). In determining
the impairment for finance lease receivables, the management
considers the credit worthiness, past collection history, subsequent
settlement of each finance lease customer, and also relevant deposits
received, value of leased assets pledged and of the guarantees. As at
31 December 2019, the Group recognised an additional impairment
loss allowance of HK$1,913,000 (2018: HK$934,000).

As set out in Notes 5 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, management measures expected credit loss (‘ECL”) for
finance lease receivable by using a provision matrix. In determining
the impairment of finance lease receivable, the management
considers internal credit rating which reflect shared credit risk
characteristics, historical past due information and lessees’
creditworthiness for different groupings of finance lease receivable as
parameters of the ECL models.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE )

How we addressed the Key Audit Matter

BMWETNMEERARETEE

Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of finance
lease receivables included:

- understanding of the key controls over the granting of the
finance leases and management’s impairment assessment in
relation to the recoverability of finance lease receivables;

- evaluating the appropriateness of the ECL provisioning
methodology for finance lease receivables based on current
economic conditions and forwardlooking information;

- assessing the credit profiles of the related borrowers based
on the external evidence and factors to determine the internal
credit ratings;

- evaluating the reasonableness of management’s determination
of the estimated loss rates based on internal credit ratings;

- checking the mathematical calculation and basis of impairment
loss recognised under the ECL model; and

- evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of finance lease receivables in Notes 5 and 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Based on available evidence, we found the assumptions adopted
in relation to the impairment assessments to be supportable and
reasonable.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE )

Key Audit Matter: Valuation of investment properties and
PRC hotel properties

BRESSEH REVRRPEBEUEN
518

Refer to Notes 16 & 17 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified the valuation of the Group’s investment properties
and PRC hotel properties are significant to our audit because
the determination of fair value of hotel properties and investment
properties is based on several key inputs that require significant
management judgments, assumptions, estimations and other inputs.

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s
the investment properties and the PRC hotel properties are
HK$313,415,000 (2018: HK$230,206,000) and HK$115,000,000
(2018: HK$115,000,000) respectively as at 31 December 2019.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE )

How we addressed the Key Audit Matter

BMWETNMEERARETEE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties and PRC hotel properties included:

- assessing the valuation methodologies used by the external
valuer;

- assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness of
the key assumptions based on our knowledge of the business
and industry;

- evaluating the independent external valuer’s competences,
capabilities and objectively; and

- considering the appropriateness of the resale values estimated
by the external valuer based on the recent transaction price in

the PRC and Hong Kong’s property industry.

Based on available evidence we found management’s assumptions
in relation to the valuation are reasonable.

Key Audit Matter: Revenue recognition
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Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group’s revenue amounted to approximately HK$161,107,000
(2018: HK$79,550,000), representing the gross amounts received
and receivable for revenue arising on big data business, hotel
operation, wellness elderly care business, sales of properties, goods
sold by the Group to outside customers, less return and allowances
and gross rental income, interest income generated from financial
leasing, consultancy fee income provided to outsiders and others
during the year. The Group adopted HKFRS 15 to consider the
revenue recognition and significant judgements and estimates were
required to be made by the management. The significance of the
amount of revenue, the diversification of the sources of revenue,
and the extensive adoption of HKFRS 15 made us identify revenue
recognition as a key audit matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea) BRETEE (&)
How we addressed the Key Audit Matter RPN ESNAEEREEESE
Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition included: PR RERNTHE T B

- evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the existence,
accuracy and timing of revenue recognition;

- obtaining the ledgers and selecting samples to review
whether the management had made correct judgements
on identifying the contract, identifying single performance
obligation, determining the transaction price and other aspects.
Recalculating the accuracy of the progress of performance of
the contracts; and

- selecting samples of the contracts and inspecting the original
contracts, evaluating whether the management had made
reasonable estimates on transaction price (estimated total
revenues), obtaining evidence to confirm the degree of
completion of related service and comparing with the progress
of performance recorded in the Group’s ledger.

We found that the amount and the timing of the revenue recorded
were supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE 2

Key Audit Matter: Accounting for interests in associates

MEEGSEE BEQARERCEHEE

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s associates operate in the PRC. The Group’s share of
profit of associates for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the
Group’s interests in associates at that date are significant in the
context of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The financial information of associates is prepared in accordance
with the prevailing accounting standards in the PRC which may differ
in certain respects from HKFRSs.

Converting the financial information of these entities into HKFRSs
for the purpose of equity accounting involves management making
a number of manual adjustments some of which are complex in
nature.

We identified the accounting for interests in associates in the PRC as
a key audit matter because of the material impact that these entities
have on the consolidated financial statements and also because of
the complex nature of certain adjustments made by management
which we consider increases the inherent risk of error.

E2RERA M B WRMEE18 -

E%E’UH&%%QTE’\EPI%L CHIEZF—N
F+-A=+t—HI" IFFMEH N
Az & F & EEIH&%%’ATZ% ifh &
SEGAMBBRRERNNRIE-

B2 R R R E A A S R 2RI W 2 4 A B
B B (BEMBREER) BRER-

BB (BB
B AR B
FRERE AT HE

B R A HEEEEEA
SHERE AR R
T AR M

BPERTEBERARBR S RIEREA
REASFHE AR E%%’TE Tﬁéﬁ?éﬁﬁ%%&
REBEATENEBEMRAENHBARYL

g RfEES Ebﬂi@ﬁﬁ%%‘%ﬁ’ﬂ@ﬁf’

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

63



64

T8 S A% Sl o

Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE )

How we addressed the Key Audit Matter

BMWESF N MEEEARETER

Our procedures to assess the accuracy of the accounting for
interests in associates included:

- performing an audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the PRC based associates, Nanhai Changhai Power Company
Limited* and Guangdong Tiannuo Civil Explosives Co., Ltd.*, in
accordance with the requirements of HKSAs;

- evaluating significant manual adjustments made in respect of
associates to convert their financial information into HKFRSs by
comparing the adjustments to underlying documentation or by
re-performing the calculations on which the adjustments were
based; and

- assessing whether the financial information of associates
after the adjustments made by management was prepared in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

We found management’s accounting for associates after the
adjustments are supportable and reasonable based on available
evidence.

Key Audit Matter: Impairment assessment on interests in
associates
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Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group has significant interests in associates, which are
accounted for under the equity method. As at 31 December 2019,
interests in associates amounted to approximately HK$651,873,000
(2018: HK$821,682,000).

Interests in associates is subject to impairment assessments when
there is an indication of impairment.

Management analysed the associates’ cash flow and operating plan
and no abnormal items were found. Management concludes that
there is no impairment of interest in associate.

*

For identification purpose only
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE )

How we addressed the Key Audit Matter

BMWETNMEERARETEE

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment on interests in
associates included:

- analysing associates’ cash flow and operating plan;

- assessing the identification of CGUs based on the Group’s
accounting policies and our understanding of the Group’s
business;

- assessing the competency, objectivity, capabilities and results
of the work of independent professional valuer that was
appointed by the management and assisted management to
determine the recoverable amounts of relevant CGUs;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology;

- assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions including
growth rates and discount rate, based on our knowledge and
understanding of the business and market;

- verifying the mathematical accuracy of the cashflow model
used; and

- testing input data to supporting evidence, such as approved
budgets and available market date, and considering the
reasonableness of the budgets.

We found the assumptions adopted in relation to the impairment
assessments to be supportable and reasonable based on available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
(“Other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing, the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a bodly,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibilities towards or
accept liabilities to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continuea)

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosure made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continuea)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

HLM CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Ng Fai Fiona

Practicing Certificate Number P04986
Hong Kong, 13 May 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE-_ZT—NLF+-_F=+—HIt Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-hEF — N\
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B & BT T BT T
Revenue WA 6 161,107 79,550
Cost of sales and services $HE KRS A A (90,825) (37,534)
Gross profit EAH 70,282 42,016
Other operating income H A & U A 8 97,052 118,221
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEAS (4,349) (1,820)
Administrative expenses TEFA X (118,891) (70,206)
Share of profit of associates JFE {5 B8t 2 N B & ) 18 84,354 78,218
Increase in fair value of investment ®E % EQ /N IR D)l
properties 16 4,618 8,945
Gain on write-off of other payables BB TNEBREZHM
legally time barred and lapsed JE R [ 48 K 25 78,819 -
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of FFABRZEREEZ
financial assets at fair value through ANAEHE M
profit or loss W) 20 41,015 (1,148)
Loss on early redemption of convertible ERIEL A BRRER 2
notes i 29 (991) -
Impairment loss on asset classified VRFHEEEZ
as held for sale VERER=ES 19 (28,838) -
Finance costs W 9 (109,032) (86,296)
Profit before taxation B 5 B &2 A 114,039 87,930
Income tax expense FriS®iF & 10 (34,127) (32,115)
Profit for the year AEERR 11 79,912 55,815
Other comprehensive income/ Hihz2mmukss,
(expense), net of income tax (BX) BB
Itemn reclassified to profit or loss: BEEF S HEE
Be ZHE -
Exchange difference upon R A& —FEEsN
deemed disposal of B %”A Az
a foreign associate HNPE Z 5 231 -
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEHHHEE
profit or loss: BmsIEE -
Surplus on revaluation of hotel properties /@E%iifﬁ&ﬁﬁ% 4,694 4,510
Items that may be reclassified subsequently &] 5& % 7 > 48
to profit or loss: Bz 15 E’
Exchange differences arising on BME G INEE R
translation of foreign operations EEZINEETE (15,863) (51,585)
Gain on partial disposal of interest in a e *F'EEJ WEB ARz
subsidiary otEm 2z W 8,927 -
Share of exchange difference of J'Ef’fu e /NS
associates A E% %Ei (15,436) (38,044)
Other comprehensive expense i&_/\ﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬂi :
for the year, net of income tax R FTIE R (17,447) (85,119)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FE2EkKE(FAX)
for the year B 62,465 (29,304)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE-_ZT— L+ -A=+—HIt Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T ¥ T
Profit for the year attributable to: FERANRE .
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIE ¥ =N 68,612 42,383
Non-controlling interests FEPE MR i A 11,300 13,432
79,912 55,815
Total comprehensive income/ FE2HEWE (BX)
(expense) attributable to: B8
Owners of the Company KRARIER A 58,213 (30,198)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 i A 2 4,252 894
62,465 (29,304)
Earnings per share BRER 15
Basic HAR HK4.01 cents HK2.48 cents
B HE4.014L FEEE2. 481l
Diluted e HK4.01 cents HK2.48 cents
B ME4.014L PR HE2. 481l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
NR-ZZE—HLE+=-A=+—H Asat 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-hHF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BET T ¥ I
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties AW 16 313,415 230,206
Property, plant and equipment M- WERZE 17 510,091 280,684
Interests in associates iR /N o Xl 18 651,873 821,682
Financial assets at fair value through EARBERHABRZ
profit or loss TREE 20 14,318 7,598
Finance lease receivables B & T & R 24 739,311 365,465
Rental deposits HEZS 4,842 3,417
Right-of-use assets FREEE 21 988,067 148,255
3,221,917 1,857,307
Current assets REEE
Properties held for sale HEME 22 8,098 39,000
Inventories FE 23 529 380
Financial assets at fair value through BASRBEFAEBR
profit or loss STREE 20 40,439 -
Finance lease receivables & M E K 24 523,544 242,708
Trade and other receivables JE U BR SR e Ho A
JE W kA 25 79,440 21,716
Pledged bank deposits BEHERITER 26 32,958 77,755
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 26 1,028,396 1,221,671
1,713,404 1,603,230
Asset classified as held for sale JIRFHERE 19 212,345 -
1,925,749 1,603,230
Current liabilities REBERE
Trade and other payables FEATER SR e E Ath
JE < R IA 27 54,502 131,577
Tax payables JEMT & 31,442 30,470
Convertible notes AR B 29 - 152,226
Deposits received from customers BEWEFIZS 13,076 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 17,427 4,980
Borrowings EEN 28 1,303,788 1,071,264
1,420,235 1,390,517
Net current assets REBEEFH 505,514 212,713
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 3,727,431 2,070,020

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%




Sar A Y
LEE BRI
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZZTE—AE+=-FA=+—H Asat 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 2 BET T BT T
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital & 7 31 171,233 171,233
Reserves i 933,973 821,882
Equity attributable to owners of EAREEAEGESRZ
the Company 1,105,206 993,115
Non-controlling interests FERER 33 600,764 338,205
Total Equity % AR 1,705,970 1,331,320
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Borrowings B 28 846,249 563,523
Convertible notes Al % E 29 113,453 -
Deferred tax liabilities BEEIAEE 30 10,558 8,412
Deposits received from customers BWEFLZS 43,798 21,315
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 1,007,403 145,450
2,021,461 738,700
3,727,431 2,070,020

The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 239 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13

May 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

HE XIANGMING

1A [ B9
Director

EF

FT0OEZEF20E Z2MERREN T =_F
FRHA+=-HEE=SHERFETE I

HATEERRESE:

LIN PINGWU
HFR
Director

EF

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

73



74

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATREAREER
Hotel
properties Convertible Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other revaluation Exchange note equity ~ Capital ~ Retained controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve*  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total interest equity
BENE TERER
Rx  BRHEE EEAB HtRE ERRE ERRE BRRE EARE  REEN @i kBRER ERSE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
BETn BETn AETn BETn BETr BETn B¥Tn B¥Tn BETn A¥%Tn  B¥Tn AETn
THE GROUP r58
At 1 January 2019 W=Z-NE-F-A 171,233 725,199 117,838 - 49,845  (151,513) 34,700 3,079 42,734 993,115 338,205 1,331,320
Proftfor the year KEERY - s = - = = = - Gee12 68612 11300 79912
Other comprehensive income/ EEEB2ENE/
(expense) for the year (A%)
- Surplus on revaluation of hotel -BENEERES
properties - - - - 4,694 - - - - 4,694 - 4,694
- Release of revaluation reserve of ~ —EENEEfR
hotel properties GEEE - - - - (2,034) - - - 2,034 - - -
- Exchange differences upon -RIELE-FEMN
deemed disposal of a foreign BERFL
associate MEEE - - - - - 231 - - - 231 - 231
- Exchange differences arising -REBNEBREL
on translation of foreign LNEEE
operations - - - - - (8,815) - - - (8,815) (7,048)  (15,863)
- Gain on partial disposal of ~HE-BHBARZ
interest in a subsidliary Hokm hiE
(Note 37(0) (B 37(0)) = = - a9 = = = = - 8 Y
- Share of exchange difference of ~ElEBERT
associates (Note 16) SMEZE (HiF18) - - - - - (15436) - - - (15436 - (15436
Other comprehensive income/ FREEMZANRE/
(expense) for the year (A%) - - - 8,027 2,660  (24,020) - - 2,034 (10,399)  (7,048)  (17,447)
Total comprehensive income/ EazEkE/
(expense) for the year (Ax) 8 - - - 8,927 2,660  (24,020) - - 70646 58,213 4252 62,465
Acquisition of additional interestin W —EHBLEZ
a subsidiary BIMER - - - - - - - - - - 1,178 1,178
Capital injection from non-controling ~ SEiZ kB3 &
interests (Note 37(2)) (Hi#37(a)) - - - - - - - - - - 175985 175985
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary BELENBLA - - - - - - - (3079 - (3,079) 3,079 -
Dividend paid to non-controlling AERRESHzRE
interests - - - - - - - - - - (1,621) (1,621)
Deregistration of a subsidiary HH-BHBAR - - - - - - - - - - (993) (993)
Transfer upon early redemption of REABRTHRRER
convertible notes (Note 29) - - - - - - (34,700 - 30,135 (4,565) - (4,565)
Recognition of equity component of 22
convertible notes (Note 29) @A (W) - - - - - - 56,616 - - 56,616 - 56,616
Partial disposal of a subsidiary HE-HNBARZ
(Note 37(0)) B (KiEsr) - - - - - 4,906 - - - 4,906 80,679 85,585
Transfer to statutory reserve BREEETNE - - 2534 - - - - - (25324) - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+ZA=1+-H 171,233 725,199 143,162 8,927 52,505  (170,627) 56,616 - 118,191 1,105206 600,764 1,705,970
* Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss * rTeEsfnEEER2EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-T AE+-A=t-AILER

Attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2019

LSNGET PN Y 5
Hotel Convertible
properties note Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other revaluation ~ Exchange equity Capital  Retained controling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve’  reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
BENE
Bx RhEE EE0B HbEE EREE ELRE BXGEE  REEA @ FRRER  EREE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKEO00 HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT A% A%Tr BETrn AETr A%t AETr A%Tr BETrn A¥Tn BETrn BETx
THE GROUP r5E
At 1 January 2018 W=%-\5-F-A 171,233 725,199 97,139 - 47,186 (74,422) 34,700 - 19,199 1,020,234 157,625 1,177,859
Profitfor the year RERRF/ (BR) - - - - - - - - 12383 42383 18432 55815
Other comprehensive income TEEER2ENE
for the year
- Surplus on revaluation of -EENZERES
hotel properties - - - - 4510 - - - - 4510 - 4510
- Release of revaluation reserve -EENEEHEE
of hotel properties BE - - - - (1,851) - - - 1,851 - - -
- Exchange differences arising -REBNEBH
on tranglation of foreign EE7NEEE
operations - - - - - (39,047) - - - (89,047) (12,538 (51,585)
- Share of exchange difference -EEBERT
of associates HEEE - - - - - (38,044) - - - (38,044 - (38044
Other comprehensive income/ EEAB2ENE/
(expense) for the year (A%) - - - - 2659 (77,091) - - 1851 (72,581)  (12538) (85,119
Total comprehensive income/ EEE2ENE/
(expense) for the year (B%) - - - o085 (77,097) - S M3 (30199 804 (29304)
Capital injection from FERERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 3,079 - 3079 179686 182,765
Transfer to statutory reserve EREEELNE - - 20,699 - - - - - (20,699) - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\#
+-A=1+-H 171,233 725199 117,838 - 49845  (151,513) 34,700 3,079 42,734 993,115 338,205 1,331,320
* [tem that will not be reclassified to profit or loss * TEEFHEEERZEE
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Consolhidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
2019 2018
—E-hEF — N\
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B & BT T BT T
Operating activities ReEED
Profit for the year REFZREF 79,912 55,815
Adjustment for: BEATIEEEL
Bank interest income RIT RS WA 8 (14,515) (19,564)
Finance costs B 9 109,032 86,296
Income tax expense FriS®if = 10 34,127 32,115
Increase in fair value of "EMEZ RAE
investment properties 3 50 16 (4,618) (8,945)
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate & & & — E B &
NG & 8 (4,400) -
Gain on write-off of other payables legally @K@TEL,%EEZ
time barred and lapsed HAth 1 A5 3K (2]
LG (78,819) -
(Increase)/decrease in fair value of SFAEBZZ ¢ R
financial assets at fair value through EEZANE
profit or loss (gm) @ 20 (41,015) 1,148
Interest income from financial leasing KEMEHEED
FLEMA 6 (47,849) (18,000)
Share of profit of associates FE1G é‘fﬁ ENEIFR 18 (84,354) (78,218)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE-
plant and equipment = REEAT - (74)
Depreciation of property, WE BE &
plant and equipment HERE 17 16,006 14,492
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTHEEERE 21 25,566 783
Provision written-back on trade and FEUBR R
other receivables HAth E Y RIE 2
RSN EIEE: 25 (1) (255)
Impairment loss on asset classified as NWAEFHEEE R
held for sale (EREPS 19 28,838 -
Impairment loss on finance lease BERES R T2
receivables Bk 24 1,009 972
Impairment loss on trade and JE S AR R B H A JE iR
other receivables R 2R EE K 25 - 26
Loss on early redemption of IRIE R AR iR
convertible notes ZIBK 29 991 -
Loss on acquisition of additional interest 4 — I B A 72
of a subsidiary BIME T ZES?E' 2,378 -
Net exchange loss/(gain) BE R 1B (Wa
F R 5,194 (5,788)
Operating cash flow before movements in & & ¢ & & a2
working capital KERERE 27,482 60,803
(Increase)/decrease in inventories BE (&M, R (149) 114
Decrease in properties held for sale RFEWERD 30,902 8,820
Increase in rental deposit in respect of CTREEEZ
right-of-use assets HEZSEM (19,626) (3,417)
Increase in deposits received from BUEF IS E N
customers 35,559 21,315
Increase in finance lease receivables 7 & 70 & FE W ERE hn (674,622) (632,673)
Increase in trade and other receivables JE UK BR 3k I H A
& uﬁmlﬁi‘m (54,376) (10,584)
Decrease in trade and other payables JE A BR 3R I EoAth
FEH/TAIEMQ\ (7,491) (2,157)
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Consohidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Cash used in operations KERERS (662,321) (5657,779)
Interest income from financial ElREmERED
leasing received B YA 44,708 14,996
Tax paid EftHE (30,264) (13,669)
Net cash used in operating activities &ZE&ZFZHBEE
T EE (647,877) (556,452)
Investing activities REED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE %% R E
&g 17 (129,586) (12,657)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value ~ B EIZ A EH AEBZ
through profit or loss L EREE 20 (6,756) -
Purchase of investment properties BEREME 16 (200,145) -
Acquisition of an associate HER—EBE QT - (148,444)
Acquisition of additional interest in WE—HHNBARZ
a subsidiary EIME = (1,200) -
Increase in time deposits with more than ~ REFAREIH B BB
three months to maturity when placed =8 Az EBFER
# 0 (1,115) (54,813)
Capital injection to an associate m— A E R RIEE 18 (45,352) -
Dividend received from associates B BB E A R
Bz B 18 46,889 115,628
Payments of deregistration of a subsidiary T 85— K B X &
P 5738 (993) -
Uplift/(placement) of pledged bank deposit & R 1F k32 ER
(710 44,797 (13,792)
Proceeds from partial disposal of interest HE—RHMKB AT 2
in a subsidiary MoERZPIEHIE  37(b) 94,512 -
Interest received 2 U B 14,402 19,708
Net proceeds from disposal of property, HEREMENFTE
plant and equipment IR F &R 14 287
Net cash used in investing activities RETB2HE
R FEE (184,533) (94,083)
Financing activities AMEEE
Capital injection from non-controlling FEREREE
interests 175,985 182,765
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests A 3 22 A% # & 32 1+ I & (1,621) -
Interest paid on loan arrangement fee ENERLHE 9 (3,359) (6,078)
Interest paid on borrowings B EFF B 26(b) (38,768) (55,892)
Interest paid on convertible notes B BEREEREF S 29 (3,325) (3,325)
Repayment of bank loans EERITER 26(b) (394,185) (61,668)
Payments of lease liabilities HEaGMNEIE 21 (14,077) -
Proceeds from borrowings BEMB A 26(b) 929,780 917,005
Net cash generated from MEIBH2ES
financing activities WAFEEE 650,430 972,807
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Consolhidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B & BT T BT T
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and iﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%f‘%
cash equivalents SR Biip::2 ] (181,980) 322,272
Cash and cash equivalents E’\\‘— B—HZzHER
at 1 January REeEEY 1,166,858 886,861
Effect of foreign exchange rates EXxgEHovE
changes (12,410) (42,275)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=-—BA=+—-HB2
31 December ReRRSEEY 972,468 1,166,858
Analysis of the balances of cashand BR&RRESZEEY
cash equivalents, being: HEHOMBUT
HEARMK:
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRERES 1,028,396 1,221,671
Less: time deposits with maturity WoEBB=@EAZ
over three months EHER (55,928) (54,813)
972,468 1,166,858
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION FEHBRERS
On 12 March 2019, the Company entered into the Extension Deed R-ZT—NE=ZA+-_H AQAREA-Z

with the holder of the convertible notes issued on 13 October 2014
(the “2014 CB”), Prize Rich Inc. to extend the maturity date of the
outstanding 2014 CB in the principal amount of HK$166,232,000 by
5 years from 13 October 2019 to 13 October 2024. Since the fair
value of the liability component of the 2014 CB was approximately
HK$161,667,000 on the date of redemption, the Company recorded
a loss of HK$991,000. Above transaction does not have direct
impact on current cash flows.

* For further details, please refer to Note 29.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding company is
Prize Rich Inc, which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Island (“BVI”) and the ultimate holding company is Guangdong
Nanhai Holding Investment Co., Ltd, which was incorporated
in the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”). The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section
of the annual report.

During the year, the principal activities of the Group are big
data business, property development and investment, financial
leasing, hotel operation, investment holding and wellness
elderly care business. The principal activities of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are described in Note 39.

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (HK$), which
is their Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Ema

ARARBREFMKLAEREE
RARERONREBBMEXHHMAR
AR ([BAAT]) EMR ET - HEEER
NABRABREZHS ([RBELE
& 1) AL 2 Prize Rich Inc R H&#&
TRATARPEARLME ([HE])
AR EREGIEREEERD
Alo ARNRIFEMPIERE R B & ¥R
B HE R F R [ AR ER] SO IETE -

AFEEHE AEBZEXBEBAAK
BER MEERRIKRE BREHEE B
EEE REERRAREEEEES-
AR REWBRAR ([AE®E]) 2 E
EEBEHNHIFEI

DEERZSEN

AEEANZERBNY B RRMBARBTD
RAZEREEMEN T REEREM
ERANEE ([eE¥ ) AE -&ZRalt
BRRIDAEE ([BE])27 B
BARBHNNEEERAEENZINE
HE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new

and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA which

are or have become effective for the Group’s financial year

beginning on 1 January 2019:

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Employee Benefits

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interest in Associates
and Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The adoption of new and revised HKFRSs has no material
effect on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current or prior accounting periods. Accordingly, no prior
period adjustment is required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continuead)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective. The Directors of the Group anticipate that the
application of these new HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the results and the financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business?

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and
Associate or Joint Venture*

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material’
(Amendments)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.
4 Effective date to be determined.

FERHIIREEITE BT
REEN([EBUBREE
all) &)

AREBEWERFERMAUTE BB B R
ERE T R] RS T BB M S W %
Al- NEBEETHEG EBALSMIR
REETBEBNBREENE T SEHERE
B EBERVBRREKTRAERE
@,

BEMBHRELER KB ER?

E35% (&3T)

BAEVHRELR  FREERS
BT BAEWE

W AR E I M

FH gt &L

S£395% (1&3T)

BEMBHRELER KREFHABL

=
F105% R EHB NAHBER
Gt RS 285 AlZRANEE
(1&7]) HEFEE

BEBMBEREEN RBREL°
FATR

BE G R BEEZHNEER
F15% R E85R
(1&%7)

! RZEZEF—F—HRXZERBH
FREHMER CAREEA-

2 RETKEBEESHAEA-Z-_2F—f—
Askz %k & BT ESHEFRBK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRSs), the collective term which includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“cQ”).

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain properties, financial
instruments that are measured at fair values and assets held
for sales that are measured at fair value less costs to sell as
explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost are
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for assets.

Fair Value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair Value (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies to
be in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
have been eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

3.

NE+=ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

BEESHE (#2)

REEE (&)

AR A ARRI AN 5 B BUS P /B 2 B 12 il 1
By i8R - e 70 7N 5 ) 3R K Y B 8 A4 A6
BERKL-AEBMS ﬁW%%Yﬁ&
ZHBARRARFX A RNEEIRE
M%H%tﬁi$EITETﬁWE
Al BIERFABE®R-

BakEHEME2AKRESHER RBRA
REBEAANGFERER - MBRAFZ
PHRGSEEFRBNARREA AR

PERRRE RS - B It & 8 BRI AR 25
IR 5 Al 45
MEFEZ WEARFIEHREEEL S

E-UEESHBREREEEMNKE
NEFTAE—H-

FEEERZRS &
IR B T B8 o

5 WA R X

N BRI of FE X BN SR B P R T

TZ%E’J}F‘%WE\ bk B 3R B R

ARNBERERTEFSAEARLIDEF
REIZBEFRE-

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

85



86

2o I\ 203
Zr o BB R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination

Acquisition of business, other than business combination
under common control, are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value if the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after the reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
(which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts

information obtained during the “measurement period”

and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
the interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments/
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed

directly of the previously held equity interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets and liabilities at the
respective fair value, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s

statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment loss.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%

3.

BEESHE (#2)

EBEH(E)

HWERBEHNITETRERAHES
MR E BRDARTHK MRS EE AN
AEKREHRENEEEZREEER -
ZEE TN ENEAFELFHE
HERBIEEXAE URRESH
ARNKEEHEFESERBERNHNE
oM mEZEER SERERE
HERH T

BE-BTEREBZHNELT

EAEERE-ATEBREKEESR
BB A5 3 R N R AR (8 ) P U Y
ABREENAERE TEARAE
BKRBERSEENANESIEERE
ME REVMEBEREARREREYG
B heRMEERETBMAGB MHETH
WBERIENEES B8N KE B SR
MAREIEZEEMNAHMNEERE
E-ZRXHTEELRMERFEBYE R
FlJ o

RBRRZKRE

M A B 2 8B Ty iR AN B (AT E 3
BB ERRFTARRREBMRREK -



ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations

or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments/
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that
gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of the interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.

Impairment of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash
generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including property under construction
for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEGEHE (&)

(Continued)

ME- BERRE

Property, plant and equipment

i.

Hotel properties

Hotel properties are stated at revalued amounts, being
fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any subsequent
impairment loss. Fair value is determined with reference
to in appraisals by external professional valuers with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to
the revalued amount of the asset. All other property,
plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
loss.

Any surplus arising on revaluation of hotel properties
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
are accumulated in the properties revaluation reserve
in equity, unless the carrying amount of that asset has
previously suffered a revaluation decrease or impairment
loss. To the extent that any decrease has previously
been recognised in profit or loss, a revaluation increase
is credited to profit or loss with the remaining part of
the increase dealt with in other comprehensive income.
A decrease in net carrying amount of hotel properties
arising on revaluations or impairment testing is recognised
in other comprehensive income to the extent of the
revaluation surplus in the properties revaluation reserve
relating to the same asset and the remaining decrease is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

ii.

iii.

Property, plant and equipment (other than Hotel
properties)

Property, plant and equipment (other than hotel
properties) are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
loss.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than hotel
properties) over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

2% to 10%
10% to 30%

Land and buildings
Furniture, equipment and
leasehold improvements
10% to 30%
15% to 30%

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when it is completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit and loss.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%

3. EEEFHE &)

ME- BERRE (E)

il.

iii.

W¥ BERZE (TEELEY
*)

WME BEREE (TREEEY
B)ERAERERRATERR
FHRER KT

ME - BERRE (TREBEEY
X)EBZWERAGAIER
FHAEFREGBFAREAERE
2N B R E A

THFEF 2%Z210%

R BER 10%230%
BFEEE

R 55 Ko i 2% 10%Z30%

e 15%230%

FEREIE

ERIRNEREEXEREN
ZYE -BEIRREB EEIREN
FRASRAT (AT RE SRR (B 1R R 51 B = 72
BITREREKEAEERRSD
BERENYE  BFE &R EER
FeRFEEZTEDNREMYE
BEZHREERAFERTE RS

R R AR °

BEHEXMEREE 2 Wa K
ERLDREBEEBEEHEMSENK
HEHERREZ ZREMEE XN
Ba R HER -



ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Assets held for sale

Assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of
such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal
of an investment, or a portion of interests, in an associate or
joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment
that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the
criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues
the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is
classified as held for sale from the time when the investment (or
a portion of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

3.

BEESHE (#2)

$RMIA(£)

AEE-REHBRETEENF WA
25/ -

EHEE
ETREENTERAERSE

R TSI R 2 & B A 2 Kk R 8
AsHE

s SREEDNZAGAKEAZRE
EABEE RS RENEBR
AFE R

s AUBFRETEHELEZRS
MEMESINAE MREER
S

C

HETIGREZEREEERAIZAR
EEBHEMEERRIIR ([RARES
BmEMEEEEIIR]) T AGE:

s SMEERKNAERMENRER
EMHERSBMNZEBRATH
B R

s AHUBKFRETEHELEZRS
MEBEAESINAE MREER

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

99



100

2o I\ 203
Zr o BB R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significant reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned
on the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables and finance lease receivables) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, twelve-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
from hotel operation, property investments and financial lease
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to twelve-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

- significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the

debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability

to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change

in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

ii. Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the Probability
of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and exposure at
default. The assessment of the PD and LGD is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between a contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

° Past-due status; and
° Nature, size and industry of debtors.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

ii.  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
from hotel operation and finance lease receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or in which the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets
recognised on its consolidated statement of financial position,
but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards
of the transferred assets. In such cases, the transferred assets
are not derecognised.

On derecognition of a financial asset, except for a financial
asset that is classified as FVTOCI, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Convertible notes

The component parts of the compound instruments
(convertible notes) issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

NE+=ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that
does not have an associated equity component.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until
the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
When the conversion option remains unexercised at the
maturity date of the convertible notes, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of
the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity components are recognised directly
in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible notes using
the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle
that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation
at the end of each reporting period, and are discounted to
present value where the effect is material.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods and services provided in the normal course of business,
net of discounts and sales related taxes.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows
a 5-step process in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers:

1. ldentifying the contract with a customer

2. ldentifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is
allocated amongst the various performance obligations based
on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction
price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf
of third parties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Hotel operations, wellness elderly care business and
big data business

Revenue arising from hotel operations, wellness elderly
care business and big data business are recognised when
the relevant services are rendered.

(ii) Sales of goods

Sales of goods other than properties are recognised when
goods are delivered and title has passed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Sales of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties are recognised when
properties are delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from financial leasing

Interest income from financial leasing including handling
fees (if any) represents interest income from financial
leasing business, is allocated to accounting periods so as
to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Consultancy service income from financial leasing

Consultancy service income from financial leasing is
recognised when the services are provided.

Rental income
Rental income arising from properties let under operating

leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the respective leases.

(vii) Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(viii) Dividend income

(ix)

Dividend income from investment is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have
been established (provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably).

Operating income from big data business

Operating income from big data business includes
providing business |IT management, design,
implementation and support services under fixed-
price contracts is recognised in the accounting period
in which the services are rendered. For fixed-price
contracts, revenue is recognised based on the actual
service provided to the end of the reporting period
as a proportion of the total services to be provided
because the customer receives and uses the benefits
simultaneously.

Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling
price.

22 I\ 2
5o s R R b
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(x) Income from construction of platform and technical
service from big data business

Income from construction of platform and technical
service from big data business is recognised over time
as the Group creates or enhances an asset or work
in progress that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
goods or services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If the considerations (including advances received
from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date
under the output method then the Group recognises a contract
liability for the difference.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangement, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
and over the lease terms of the relevant right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

3.

BEESHE (#2)

BIE (&)

M EBERARERAHEZREDE
ZEERARBEHIECHAEEMS
BRIFZBRERE SRIEEMEZE
HENRESZBHEZHRE -RNE
EMERAITERIZB R REREER
BENEANZZRARI D EBENE A
EEARE MIEERHEERENENR
TR E BRI E -

IAKEEREREEEMEREER
BENHERXZFHAERELEHREMS A&
BELECERAEEEXHEAGED
F& A B TR IR

AHEHRRENHERECHERS
me AREEHEREEEIEER
BEOFRERETEGERE125 (/7
B ZHRTE - AR ERARTER TR - 8
TERREHEAREENEERBR
iR R EA TR E5-

A HA R FE RS TR 1R 5 PO R AR+ i L
BP0 H fth 2T U o B N IR AR RE R
HEAR EZBERAT AHRRELER
BT B E Al 2 T W as sk B R PO RS
R WMAHEHAHETINREE
BmEERNPRASELERIEA - AHRB
TEIARGAHNSEEAR-

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

119



120

BE_T—

2o I\ 203
Zr o BB R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For a contract that is, or contains, a lease, the Group accounts
for each lease component within the contract as a lease
separately from non-lease components of the contract.

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable
period of a lease, together with both:

i) periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

ii) periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the
lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option.

In assessing whether a lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
an option to extend a lease, or not to exercise an option to
terminate a lease, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the lessee
to exercise the option to extend the lease, or not to exercise
the option to terminate the lease. The Group revises the lease
term if there is a change in the non-cancellable period of a
lease.

NE+=ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor

Operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing.

When the Group is a lessor under finance leases, an amount
representing the minimum lease payment receivables and initial
direct costs is included in the statement of financial position
as finance lease receivables. Any unguaranteed residual value
is also recognised at the inception of the lease. The difference
between the sum of the minimum lease payment receivables,
initial direct costs, the unguaranteed residual value and their
present value is recognised as unearned finance income.
Unearned finance income is recognised over the period of the
lease using the effective interest rate method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The non-lease components are accounted for in accordance
with the Group’s policies.

For determination of the lease term, the Group reassesses
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option, or not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances that:

) is within the control of the Group; and

ii) affects whether the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise an option not previously included in its
determination of the lease term, or not to exercise an
option previously included in its determination of the lease
term.

At the commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability under the lease contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Leases liability

Lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured by (a)
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (b) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (c) remeasuring the carrying amount to
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Where, (a) there is a change in the lease term as a result of
reassessment of certainty to exercise an extension option,
or not to exercise a termination option as discussed above;
or (b) there is a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset, assessed considering the
events and circumstances in the context of a purchase option,
the Group remeasures the lease liability to reflect changes to
lease payments by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate. The Group determines the
revised discount rate as the interest rate implicit in the lease
for the remainder of the lease term, if that rate can be readily
determined, or the incremental borrowing rate at the date of
reassessment, if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be
readily determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Leases liability (Continued)

Where, (a) there is a change in the amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee; or (b) there is a
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or a rate used to determine those payments, including
a change to reflect changes in market rental rates following a
market rent review, the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged
discount rate, unless the change in lease payments results
from a change in floating interest rates. In such case, the
Group uses a revised discount rate that reflects changes in the
interest rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the re-measurement of
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Where
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero
and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the re-
measurement in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Leases liability (Continued)

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if both:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

LLease modifications that are not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group, at the effective date of the lease modification:
(a) allocates the consideration in the modified contract; (b)
determines the lease term of the modified lease; and (c)
remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate.

The revised discount rate is determined as the interest rate
implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, if that
rate can be readily determined, or the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification, if the
interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost comprising:

i)

amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease. These costs are recognised as
part of the cost of right-of-use asset when the Group
incurs an obligation for these costs. The obligation for
these costs are incurred either at the commencement
date or as a consequence of having used the underlying
asset during a particular period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

After initial recognition, a lessee shall measure the right-of-
use asset at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms
part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation, in
which case, such exchange differences are recognised in
equity in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the re-translation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the
exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For
all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, time deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. For the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts or bank loans, if
any, which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of an enterprise’s cash managements are also included as
component of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that management has made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

4.

EXSHHBRAERRER
ENETERIR

BIEEEE AN ESH R AR B & ET K
RE - AR KRR RBRIEEMIRE
MEEENMBEREEFDHE- S
KRR - et REEERRIRIE AL
BLREMERSEBREEL BRE
RA B RIN &S -

M RAAEBRROERFEED N
AHEFHERTER 2% BFE BERTRE
HERTfhaT IR RERR > RAHERT R B %
LR LARKERE - RIS HEERTHE &
7R 2 HA P e R0

EETBCRIE AR E X H

AT ERERERANEEZ 5T HE
BREFMEL BHERNGE M B RKRER
ZEBERERTE 2BRAE (5K
CRELPINK

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

133



134

2o I\ 203
Zr o BB R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed that
Group’s investment properties portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the Directors have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. Moreover, the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties is lower than acquisition cost. As a result, the Group
has not recognised any deferred taxes on change in fair value
of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any
incomes taxes on disposal of its investment properties.

Deferred taxation on hotel properties

By comparing the initial cost and the revaluated value of PRC
hotel properties of the Group, the Directors considered that
no capital gain may generate and does not constitute a timing
difference and not expect to settle the carrying amount of the
tax liabilities. Therefore, deferred tax has not been recognised
in respect of the valuation surplus relating to Hotel properties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Estimated the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. Management will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives are different to previously estimated, or will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets and
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the higher of fair value of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets less
costs to sell or the value-in-use calculations. An impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable
amount is less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 December 2019 the Group reported no
impairment loss for certain property, plant and equipment and
right-of use assets (2018: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Estimation of fair value of the Group’s other assets and
liabilities

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The qualified
external valuers establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The Financial Controller reports the
qualified external valuers’ findings to the board of Directors of
the Company every quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations
in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 5, 16 and
17 provide detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value of various assets and liabilities.

Estimation of fair value of the Group’s investment
properties and hotel properties

The Group’s properties were revalued as at 31 December
2019 based on the appraised market value by independent
professional valuers. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimate
of fair value, the Group considers information from current
prices in an active market for similar properties in the same
location and condition and uses assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Estimation of fair value of the Group’s investment
properties and hotel properties (Continued)

The carrying amount of investment properties and hotel
properties at 31 December 2019 was HK$313,415,000 and
HK$115,000,000 respectively (2018: HK$230,206,000 and
HK$115,000,000).

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and finance
lease receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss allowance for trade receivables and finance
lease receivables by assessing the ECLs, which requires the
use of estimates and judgements. Assessing the ECLs requires
to use provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, and review general conditions, internal credit
ratings and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions. The
impairment loss allowance of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
estimates.

The information about the ECLs and the Group’s impairment
loss allowance regarding trade receivables and finance lease
receivables are disclosed in Note 5, 24 and 25.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted
to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in the
PRC and Hong Kong and accordingly are subject to special
considerations and several risks.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s operating income and costs are denominated
in RMB. In the business operation of the Group, foreign
exchange fluctuation of income and costs would be mutually
offset. However, as the Hong Kong-based Group has
invested substantial borrowings into domestic wholly-owned
subsidiaries in the Mainland whilst owning substantial RMB
denominated monetary assets, an exchange gain or loss will be
recorded due to the appreciation or depreciation of RMB. The
Board expected that RMB will be immensely affected by any
change in the Sino-US trade war in the short term, therefore
the trend of RMB is unforeseeable in the short term. In the long
run, RMB’s exchange rate will not fluctuate drastically and will
not bring material adverse foreign exchange risk on the Group.
Therefore, the Group currently does not have any specific
foreign exchange risk hedging need for this matter.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

5.
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At 31 December

At+=-—BR=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Assets BE
Denominated in Renminbi AREZH 2,306,049 1,769,707
Denominated in US dollars ENLKEE 85,972 134,634
2,392,021 1,904,341

Liabilities afE
Denominated in Renminbi AREZS 2,421,361 967,486
Denominated in US dollars ENLHEE 701,010 783,038
3,122,371 1,750,524
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Exposure (Continued)

The following shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% increase/
decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars. The sensitivity
analysis includes only RMB denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year and for a 5% change
in RMB rates. If there is a 5% increase/decrease in RMB
exchange rate against the Hong Kong dollar, the effect in the
profit for the year is as follows:

5.

MEERERE &)
SNERK (F)

TERETARKLEETEH2E%
M BURE DT - ZBRE DT ERIEIA
ARBENEEEE RFRAEA
REEREEE%MAERE - WARK
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FEML:

At 31 December

W+=—A=+-—H
2019 2018
—ZE-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BYET T BT T
Increase/decrease in profit or loss for the year EEEz51E 0,k 2 8,126 8,104
Capital risk management EcRRER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to equity holders, return capital to equity
holders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes bank loans and convertible notes) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued
share capital, share premium, reserves and retained earnings).

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of new shares as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. BiIXRBER &)
Capital risk management (Continued) EcARERE (&)
The Directors monitor capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This EEUEEBBRBEEREITER.
ratio is calculated based on total debts divided by equity plus ZhERNBEBRERNERRBEESE
total debts. Total debts is calculated as total interest-bearing ZMFE -BERBENIZTEBEERESE
borrowings and debt component of convertible bonds. MRl ESNEESS -
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as RBERR EEBBLEOT:
follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Total debts (Note 1) BEAER (M) 2,263,490 1,787,013
Equity (Note 2) Ewm (MEE2) 1,105,206 993,115
Equity and total debts e FE LA &
SRRk 3,368,696 2,780,128
Gearing ratio BEEABRRE 67% 64%

Notes:

1) Total debts comprises long-term and short-term borrowings and
debt component of convertible notes as detailed in Note 28 and
29 respectively.

2) Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
floating interest rate from borrowings (see Note 28 for details
of these borrowings). The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to fair value interest
rate risk. However, the management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

1) BEAERREREREHERLAE
BEEHEEBD ZFED RIS
To8 K fi 29 -

2) BEBRREALXFRHEBEAEBEMAEREAR
Kotk o

R E

AEE R EMNRERRE B ST EFIR
ZIEEEH (REREZFBEFLHN
iE28) - NEE B AT EAE R AT
TEAMEMERSE Z AREMNEXE
oA EEERNATERZEY
B R B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuead)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk mainly arises from
the Group’s RMB denominated borrowings. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2018:
50 basis points) increase or decrease in interest rate is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2019 would decrease/increase by HK$5,719,000 (2018:
HK$3,187,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rest with
the board of Directors. In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. BiIXRBER &)
Liquidity risk management (Continued) REBESREBRER (£)
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net current assets RZZE-—NWFE+TA=T—0 Fx%KH
amounted to HK$505,514,000 (2018: HK$212,713,000), ZmB) A EF R BB 505,514,0007T
current ratio (being current assets divided by current liabilities) ZZF— )\F: & %212,713,0007T) °
was approximately 1.36 times (2018: 1.15 times), while mELE (AIRBEERRBBE) AR
total current assets amounted to HK$1,925,749,000 (2018: 1836 (ZE—NF:1.15F) ' MRH
HK$1,603,230,000), which is sufficient to meet the capital B ELRRER AEA,925,749,0000T (=
requirement of the Group’s operations and development in the T — )\ F : #%1,603,230,0007T) ' &
foreseeable future. DENEAEENAREERER . ES
LTk
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into AEE BB ERERT 2F AR
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period EHAREANIHBEEABBEEHS A
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity ETRAM-MTITERZESBEIHIREEGLD
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual AR 2B REHE -
undiscounted cash flows:
2019
—E-hE
Weighted Total Total
average On Within Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5years  cash flows amount
miE RAERES
Rk EEZX —EhR —-E=f ZZRE RENE REAHE BREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETR BETT BRI BRI BETT
Trade and other payables FERER R
Qb e - 54,502 - - - - 54,502 54,502
Borrowings e 4.74% 841,504 631,985 507,768 251,494 106,513 2,339,264 2,150,037
Lease liabilities MERE 5.00% - 17,427 95,383 102,218 2,079,628 2,294,656 1,024,830
Convertible notes issued on R =E—4F
23 May 2019 RA=t+=A
RE£6)
TRREE 10.64% - 9,103 33,683 123,446 - 166,232 113,453
896,006 658,515 636,834 477,158 2,186,141 4,854,654 3,342,822
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5.

E—HFE+-A=+—HBILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. BiIXRBER &)
Liquidity risk management (Continued) REBESREKRER (£)
2018
“T-N\E
Weighted Total Total
average undiscounted carrying
interest rate~ On demand ~ Within 1 year 1-3 years 3-5years  Over 5 years cash flows amount
mig RERES
THHE EEx —ENR —EZF ZERF RENE MELE BREEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$YOOO HK$'000
BETTL BETTL BETTL BETT BB BB BETTL
Trade and other payables HEE
mFW¢ - 131,577 - - - - 181,577 181,577
Borrowings ﬁaiféf 4.42% 897,217 281,192 529,445 40,244 17,639 1,765,737 1,634,787
Lease liabilities MERE 5.00% - 4,980 14,235 15,228 312,647 347,090 150,430
Convertible notes issued on R =F—E4F
13 October 2014 +A+=A
REEH)
aRER 14.16% - 166,232 - - - 166,232 152,226
1,028,794 452,404 543,680 55,472 330,286 2,410,636 2,069,020
Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause as at 31 RZE-—hAhF+A=T—H EZE
December 2019 are included in the “on demand” time band KEEBKRIHE f)f ‘Jr ALXRTESR
in the above table. The carrying amount of the borrowings KIEREBARN RZTE—NF+=
amounted to approximately HK$802,706,000 (2018: A= —1— = 1ﬂfﬂ’75§@ﬁ7%i’]/’§’ﬁg
HK$827,647,000) as at 31 December 2019. Taking into 802,706,000 (ZE— \F B K
account the Group’s financial position and assets pledged 827,647,0007T ) ° &t M 7N & B Bf 1% AR

for the borrowings, the Directors did not believe that it was
probable that the lenders would exercise the discretionary
rights to demand immediate payments. The Directors believed
that the borrowings would be repaid in accordance with the

5R&)ﬂ{’ﬁ1ﬁ§$fﬁﬁ3u%ﬁ@§§?§'%$
TRBERASTEREEERL
Elha " EERRBBAEERERE
3 Tﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁ*ﬁ\%ﬁa “EE

repayment schedules set out in the loans agreements. The $h2$(i>&ﬂ ReEMLBERLE
total cash outflows for the principals and interests of the #841,504, OOOTI: (ZZ2—NF B
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$841,504,000 897,217,0007T) ° sFFBEH N T & ¢
(2018: HK$897,217,000). Details of which are set out in the
table below:
Maturity Analysis - Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
HHAAM-BRERBERRNEE
Total Total
Within Over undiscounted carrying
1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
AEBRE
—ER -E=% =Zhf RENE REAE BEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BB BETTL BETTL BB
As at 31 December 2019 “E-NE+-A=1+-H 758,931 34,590 12,658 35,325 841,504 802,706
As at 31 December 2018 ZE-\F+ZA=t-H 87,022 763,932 4,240 42,023 897,217 827,647

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%




ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of respective
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its city ledger from hotel, which belongs to trade
receivables and finance lease receivables. Credit risk on other
receivables is limited because no historical default record has
been made during the year and the Directors expect that the
general economic conditions will not significantly changed for
the 12 months after the reporting date.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determining of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts (please refer to Notes 24 and 25). In addition, the
management of the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual receivable at the end of reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment loss is made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group applied the simplified approach to measure ECL
on its trade receivables from hotel operation and finance
lease receivables. Under the simplified approach, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL.

5.

NE+=ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2019
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

To measure the ECL on trade receivables from hotel operation,
based on forward-looking economic information through the
use of industry trend and experienced credit judgement as well
as past experience including historical credit loss experience
and current expectations, the Group has collectively used a
provision matrix with 5% ECL rate on total carrying amount of
trade receivables from hotel operation, without distinguishing
different ECL rates based on different customer segments nor
past due status.

To measure the ECL on finance lease receivables, finance
lease receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics. The Group has collectively applied
another provision matrix with two different ECL rates, which in
other words classified the credit risk regarding finance lease
receivables into 2 grades. ECL rates of the Group’s finance
lease receivables, which represent internal credit risk ratings,
are based on qualitative (such as lessee’s operating conditions,
financial positions, usage of finance lease assets, etc.) and
quantitative factors (mainly include past due information of
the finance lease receivables). The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk of finance lease
receivables and the provision matrix showing the ECL as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.
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BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MEERER &)

Credit risk (Continued) FERK (&)
Adjusted
carrying Impairment
ECL amount loss
rates (Note ) allowance
REEW
BHER IREEAHE WA
BAX (PFEE3) BARERE
HK$’'000 HK$’000
Internal credit ratings AEBEETR BT T BT T
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—-NF
+ZA=+—8
Grade 1 - Low risk F-R—ERR
- Government related (Note 1) — B (&%) 0.1% 864,414 864
Grade 2 - Low risk E_FK— KRR
- Others (Note II) —H A (FFFE2) 0.3% 349,415 1,049
1,213,829 1,913
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—NF
+=-A=+—H
Grade 1 - Low risk F—R— KRR
- Government related (Note 1) — T (FFFET) 0.1% 418,840 419
Grade 2 — Low risk F_R—ERR
- Others (Note II) —H b (FzE2) 0.3% 171,839 515
590,679 934
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuead)

Credit risk (Continued)

Notes

Grade 1 category is finance lease receivables which are
government related customers. Such customers are determined
to have low credit risk and related lease receivables are no past
due.

Grade 2 category is finance lease receivables which are the
customers without government related. Such customers are
determined to have low credit risk and related finance lease
receivables are no past due.

The adjusted carrying amount is gross carrying amount of
finance lease receivables after adding finance lease interest
receivables and deducting finance lease deposits received.

The measurement of ECL regarding the Group’s finance lease

receivables is a function of the Probability of Default (PD), Loss

Given Default (LGD) and exposure at default. The assessment
of the PD and LGD is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. The Group calculated PD by

applying linear regression by inputting gross domestic product

index, purchasing managers’ index and certain other index with

adjustment factors such as industry and region. The LGD was

based on historical observed default rates over the expected

life and by referencing the external database on regional

recovery by creditors.
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BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Credit risk (Continued)

Movements in the accounts related to ECL in respect of trade
receivables and finance lease receivables are summarised as

MEERERE &)
EERK (F)

B R AR R e B E T E R MR B R
ERBAZEREZESHALT

follows:
Finance
Trade Lease
Receivables Receivables Total
mERE
PE U BR X FE U X FEEC)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T BT T
Balance as at 1 January 2018 R-ZZE—N\F
— A —HB®W &% 498 - 498
Impairment loss recognised BB K TER 26 972 998
Provision written back R B 18 5 B B (255) - (255)
Exchange difference & H =% (13) (38) (51)
Balance as at 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF
—RA—RZ#&&R 256 934 1,190
Impairment loss recognised BB KR - 1,009 1,009
Provision written back BB 18 K B # (1) = (1)
Exchange difference &5 =% (4) (30) (34)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 RZZE—hF+=A
=t+—RHZ#ER 251 1,913 2,164

Fair value

i) Fair value of financial assets

The following table provides an analysis of financial
assets that are measured at fair value subsequent to
initial recognition, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

) =ZHEEZRAAE

TREVRNTHERENANRAE
AEZEMEEZ DN XD HR
ARBEZABEREIBER—E=
i

E—BAREHBRERAES
£ EE RIS HE (RBR)

Al =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuead) 5.

Fair value (Continued)

i) Fair value of financial assets (Continued)

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from

prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets or
liabilities that are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs).

R RER &)

DRE(E

) EHEEZAAME(E)

E_ROAREFENRE R
AZBEN REELABTER
(BPER) KMZ (BERITE)B

R ABESL R

FE=ZROAEFTENFALIER
BRABEMSRE (BEBEREA
BB 2EERABZHETER

H o

As at 31 December 2019
R-B-hAE+=A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& ER E=R #@st
HK$,000 HK$,000 HK$,000 HK$,000
BETRT BETT BETT BETT
Recurring fair value REMEDAENE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFTABRZ
through profit or loss: CREE:
Listed equity investment ETBRHEE - - 6,879 6,879
Unlisted equity investment FEEMBRMHIEE - - 7,439 7,439
Sale option granted for the BT —HMBAAF
remaining 72% equity FIRT2%R% MY
interest in a subsidiary & B - - 40,439 40,439
- - 54,757 54,757
As at 31 December 2018
RZZB-N\F+ZA=+—-H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ -/ F=; Mgt
HK$,000 HK$,000 HK$,000 HK$,000
BETT BETT BETT BB T
Recurring fair value CEMARERE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BARERABRZ
through profit or loss: SREE:
Listed equity investment EmikmizE - - 7,598 7,598
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuead) 5.

RE-F-AET-A=+—AILEE

Fair value (Continued)

i)

Fair value of financial assets (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and

Level 3 during the year.

The Group’s financial assets is measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair value of the
financial asset is determined (in particular, the valuation

technique(s) and inputs used).

ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DRE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

R RER &)

) ZTHEEZALE(E)

RARFEEARF—-

FE_HMNE

=R Y TR

Valuation technique and key

RERESHR AEEZERHEE
WA E - TREHIB B
EremBEEANERAERMEE
Bl kTR A B ARE)

Significant unobservable

Fair value inputs input(s)
Financial asset Fair value as at Hierarchy fEERMTR EARITHE
CHEE RUTEENQIAE AAEBESEHR IEHARE WAE
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT-N\F
EmikpHRE 6,879 7,598 Level 3 Income approach - discounted - Discount rate 13.80%
Listed equity BE=M; cash flow analysis (2018: 15.11%)
investment WAE-BRA S - Discount for lack of
MED marketability rate 18.31%
(2018: 18.00%)
— BRIRE13.80% (ZZT—N\
F:1511%)
- BREmBRAEEE
18.31% (ZZE— N\F:
18.00% )
FELTRHIEE 7,439 - Level 3 Asset approach - The attributable net asset
Unlisted equity FE=M BEEMME value
investment - EHEEFRE
BE¥—REHBAR 40,439 - Level 3 Binomial pricing model — in this - Volatility, determined by
FIERT2% A IEH BE=4 approach, certain parameters reference to historical
& HR determined by management are volatilities of companies

Sale option granted
for the remaining
72% equity
interest in a
subsidiary

input into the binomial model
to derive the valuation of the
option.
“THEAEBEE-FALFE
EEEETMNET289RAZ
EARL ESHENGE.
Certain parameters include:
- Risk free rate 2.75%
(2018: N/A)
- Volatility 27.92%
(2018: N/A)
ET2YBE:
— EERNE2.75%
(ZZE-N\F:T@EA)
W E27.92%
(Z2—-N\&E:T@Em)

operating in the same
industry
- RIE KL2ERERETR

fBEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuead) 5.

Fair value (Continued)
i) Fair value of financial assets (Continued)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets approximate their fair values.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

MEERERE &)
DARAE (4
) 2REEZAAE(F)

EERReMEEZREERA
RAEREE -

BE=ZROAREFEZHE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

As at 1 January ®n—H—H 7,598 9,172

Additions 215 6,756 -
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of FFAEZZ R
financial assets at fair value BEZANE

through profit or loss #n, Cad) 41,015 (1,148)

Exchange difference E X =% (612) (426)

As at 31 December R+ZA=+—H 54,757 7,598

Total fair value changes of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$41,015,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year, with all the amount of the fair value changes
attributed to Level 3 financial assets.
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RE-F-AET-A=+—AILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities as recognised at the end of the reporting period are
categorised as follows. See Note 3 for explanations about
how the classification of financial instruments affects their
subsequent measurement.

For the year ended 31 December 2019

MEERERE &)
BERNS YL HEERSENRE

AEENGEIRRcEREERAR
FREENRATERNE D -EBRTASD
BUHERFAEZZEFTRAI2HME
30

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Financial assets tRMEE
Financial asset at fair value through BEAREFAEBRZ
profit or loss TREE 54,757 7,598
Financial assets measured at RHEHK AT EZ
amortised cost: TREE:
Rental deposits MEZS 4,842 3,417
Trade and other receivables FEUBR R H A
JE W IR 17,142 4,366
Finance lease receivables B E M E YR 1,262,855 608,173
Pledged bank deposits BB ITER 32,958 77,755
Cash and cash equivalents e kReEED 1,028,396 1,221,671
2,400,950 1,922,980
Financial liabilities TREE
Financial liabilities measured at REBIHKAGTEZ
amortised cost: TRAE:
Convertible notes QY& 113,453 152,226
Lease liabilities HERE 1,024,830 150,430
Trade and other payables FET AR R I H A
J& 1~ 53R 31,574 111,543
Borrowings B 2,150,037 1,634,787
3,319,894 2,048,986
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BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

REVENUE

Revenue represents the gross amounts received and receivable
for revenue arising on big data business, hotel operation,
wellness elderly care business, sales of properties, goods sold
by the Group to outside customers, less return and allowances
and gross rental income, interest income generated from
financial leasing, consultancy fee income provided to outsiders

and others during the year.

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised

L ON

WATIEFRNAABBER BIEZ
BORREREZED HEME A%KE
ASNREFPHEEMMREE R
HEWABBRMEL 2 W R B Z I
A HREHEMELEZNBEA @A
S SRR EE A AR B U A A R B A U A

MR-

FRAEERATHERNSHEEZHHH

during the year is as follows: BRI
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT I
Revenue from contracts with customers RE-BEERBEF
recognised at a point in time: EHZWAER:
Consultancy service income from financial BE S A
leasing Bk 75 A 32,682 7,221
Food and beverage B8] 4 41
Operating income from big data business REBEBLEERA 2,724 5,635
Other income from hotel operation B JE A B U A 1,050 711
Sales of properties e 30,378 17,100
Service income from wellness elderly care REREEZEBRS
business A 7,407 4,338
Income from other sources b AR A 42 753
74,287 35,799
Revenue from contracts with customers RE-HERBEF
recognised over time: EHZ WM AR :
Construction of platform and technical service AEIBEEKEEZT A
income from big data business R B4t B 75 e A 16,157 6,422
Service income from wellness elderly care ANERBEEZEBRG
business WA 470 68
Service income from hotel operation BEREERA 7,651 7,839
24,278 14,329
Revenue from other sources: Hah g ARR -
Rental income from hotel properties BIE £ WA 4,814 4,642
Rental income from investment properties WEMERTEDE
and properties held for sale e WA 9,879 6,780
Interest income from financial leasing KEMERENFE
WA 47,849 18,000
62,542 29,422
161,107 79,550
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised
into six operating divisions — big data business, financial
leasing, hotel operation, property investments, wellness elderly
care business and other business. These divisions are the basis
on which the Group reports its primary segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

Big data business industrial internet project
construction, smart city
construction and big data
operation and management

Financial leasing

provision of finance lease consulting
services and financing services in
the PRC

Hotel operation — hotel ownership and management

Property investments

holding investment properties,
properties held for sale and
investment in the development
and construction of industrial park

Wellness elderly care comprehensive elderly care services
business

Other business — T-BOX® business

For the property investments, the management reviews the
financial information of each property investment, hence each
property investment constitutes a separate operating segment.
However, the properties investment possess similar economic
characteristics, and are with similar development and selling
activities as well as similar customer bases. Therefore, all
properties investment are aggregated into one reportable
segment for segment reporting purposes.

2 EER

REEAR AEEBERKE D /NEL
BEBOM-ABUEXK BREME -
BEEE MERE AREREEZED
REMER AEETALEDBRE
HERAFEDHER -

FTEEBFWT:

REIEEY — TX¥EHMER
BB
R R AE
BEEER

BmERE - P Bl R g &
HEZERRE
KEE R

Y - BIEHERERE
2

MR E - BEEREME.
FEMERE
REEREZE
Bz&E

AEEEE - BEGRERY

E

H M5 - T-BOX®% 15

IEREME ASEEEEEHE
HEEMENMBER HBEREY
EBRBUKEDE AT REVE
EERLUNKEERTE BERNMEER
AL FPERITESE - Fit AR
BYMEORBER/—EARS D UED
HEHRA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information presented

below:

BRZEZMERZINWNT

Segment Revenue

Segment Result

DEBBA D EEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F —E-NhE —Z-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Big data business AEEER 18,881 12,057 29 (387)
Financial leasing MERE 80,531 25,221 35,457 14,498
Hotel operation B EE 7 13,519 13,233 (5,504) (6,015)
Property investments MERE 40,257 23,880 (27,984) 10,759
Wellness elderly care business AEEEEER 7,877 4,406 (3,051) (1,165)
Others Hi ¥R 42 753 (1,506) (3,642)
Total @t 161,107 79,550 (2,559) 14,048
Bank interest income RATH BHA 14,515 19,564
Interest income from wealth REEBHEROF KA
management product 1,206 2,079
Compensation and government BERAMEXR HER
subsidies received for the BT #63 B
development of industrial Park
in Danzao 74,288 74,771
Compensation of land resumption Wit E S - 13,111
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of FIABRZEREEL
financial assets at fair value DREEM CRD)
through profit or loss 41,015 (1,148)
Gain on deemed disposal of an BAHE-—HBEEARZ
associate W 4,400 -
Gain on write-off of other payables BBRTABREZ
legally time barred and lapsed Hfth [ < SR B U 2 78,819 -
Impairment loss on asset classified JAGLEEEL
as held for sale SRER X (28,838) -
Loss on early redemption of RABRATREEE
convertible notes HEPS (991) -
Professional fee 2XEH (8,031) (8,018)
Net central administration cost RRITHR A F (29,913) (24,187)
Net exchange (loss)/gain X (B8, Mz FE (5,194) 5,788
Share of profit of associates EREEREATH 84,354 78,218
Finance costs B (109,032) (86,296)
Profit before taxation Fr 5% B & 7 114,039 87,930
Income tax expense RS (34,127) (32,115)
Profit for the year RERF 79,912 55,815
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales in the current year (2018: Nil).

Segment result represents the profit generated by each
segment without allocation of bank interest income, interest
income from wealth management product, compensation
and government subsidies received for the development of
Industrial Park in Danzao, compensation of land resumption,
increase/(decrease) in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, gain on deemed disposal of an
associate, gain on write-off of other payables legally time
barred and lapsed, impairment loss on asset classified as
held for sale, loss on early redemption of convertible notes,
professional fee, net central administration costs, net exchange
(loss)/gain, share of profit of associates and finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the Group’s management for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.

DEER (&)

R E2HmzDMPAEREINATRZ
WA -RAE W ABREAMHEE (ZF
—\F ) e

DERPFAEEL B ECIRITH WA
KEBEMEROMNBWA BERALE
EEHERBTME YOt HES -
AABRRZeRMEEZARBEE M
(R RAHE—HEERRZK
@ BR N EEREZ EAM RN R E
W JIRFHEEBEZRERRK 12
AIBEARRRECBL EXEM
FRITHAAERE X (B1R)
FECEEBERARANEM B H®N
BT &0 BARIERF &R
AEEEREB2HRNER UBHAKLE
RRFHEDEBREZ -
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BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 7. DEER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERAERE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Segment assets PEEE
Big data business RNEIRETS 11,998 4,442
Financial leasing MERE 1,271,502 613,806
Hotel operation B 5 35 150,063 155,026
Property investments YERE 1,600,868 437,363
Wellness elderly care business KERSEER 10,144 1,272
Others HihE® 327 665
Total segment assets moHEE 3,044,902 1,212,574
Pledged bank deposits BEMIRITER 32,958 77,755
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEEY 1,028,396 1,221,671
Interests in associates REE R 2 Em 651,873 821,682
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFAERC
profit or loss SREE 54,757 7,598
Asset classified as held for sale JIRFHERE 212,345 -
Unallocated assets ROBLEE 122,435 119,257
Consolidated assets HREEE 5,147,666 3,460,537
Segment liabilities PHEE
Big data business KEUEET 5,777 6,977
Financial leasing BMEMEE 1,016,572 575,838
Hotel operation G ¥ 4,523 5,967
Property investments MERE 1,198,044 333,863
Wellness elderly care business RNEERBEEZER 1,909 1,629
Others HMhEH 403 1,619
Total segment liabilities mosaE 2,227,228 925,893
Convertible notes AR R 113,453 231,047
Borrowings &R 1,044,693 917,646
Unallocated liabilities el =K 56,322 54,631
Consolidated liabilities meaE 3,441,696 2,129,217
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BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEER (&)
Other segment information Hih I EH
2019 —E—NE
Wellness
elderly
Big data Financial Hotel Property care
business leasing operation investments business Others Total
A
RBBER MEHE EEER WERE BEER Hitt %% st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Depreciation of property,  #%KiE Rk
plant and equipment RENE 201 719 9,152 2,279 233 - 12,584
Depreciation of FREEENE
right-of-use assets - - - 25,566 - - 25,566
Additions to investment  REMERE
properties - - - 200,145 - - 200,145
Additions to property, nE-BER
plant and equipment RERE 348 744 88 121,923 6,440 - 129,543
2018 —E-N\F
Wellness
Big data Financial Hotel Property  elderly care
business leasing operation  investments business Others Total
N5
REBEH REME BEEH WERE BEEB Hit %% Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BB BB BB BB BB
Depreciation of property, ~ #1%FHE R
plant and equipment GEmE 10 45 9,014 3,495 12 - 12,576
Depreciation of CREEERE
right-of-use assets - - - 783 - - 783
Additions to property, ME -BER
plant and equipment RERE 701 2,814 1,601 4,948 - - 10,064
Gain on disposal of LENE BER
property, plant and REZBF
equipment - - 31 - - - 31
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Geographical segments

The Group’s big data business, financial leasing, hotel
operation, wellness elderly care business and others are
located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), other
than Hong Kong.

Property investments are located in both the PRC and Hong
Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of
operation and information about its non-current assets by
location of assets are detailed below:

DEER (&)

RE®BED

REBZRBEBEES

D EE R

MEMESE JHE

X AEREREXBHREMEHLR

hEARK

MEREBDURTEREE -

REBEEBINBEP 2 Wiz
i‘J“&ﬁ#m@JéF&éFf

BF

Revenue from

external customers

ME [ TREEE-

KENE

BEnZ

Non-current assets*

HEBEFZHEEWSE ERBEE"
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hE —Z-N\F —E-hE ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BETT BETT
The PRC # 160,394 78,934 729,025 373,353
Hong Kong B 713 616 19,508 19,510
161,107 79,550 748,533 392,863
* Non-current assets excluded interests in associates, financial * IEREEETBIEREE QA2 #

assets at fair value through profit or loss, finance lease
receivables, rental deposits, right-of-use assets and unallocated
non-current assets

Information about major customers

During the year, HK$30,378,000 out of the Group’s revenues
of HK$161,107,000 arising from property investments were
contributed by a customer. And the customer accounted for
nearly 19% of Group’s total revenue.
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OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income included the following items:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. HM&&EWA

HAi &L WABIRIATIER :

For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
=F-hEF — )\
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Bank interest income RITR B WA 14,515 19,564
Compensation and government subsidies ERALEZEEZ
received for the development of 18 N BUR 8 Bk~
Industrial Park in Danzao* 74,288 74,771
Compensation of land resumption Wi E e - 13,111
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate HAELE—ME
BN A 2 W 4,400 -
Interest income from wealth REEBMEm®D
management product LB WA 1,206 2,079
* For further details, please refer to business review. * H— LA IERELMEBEE-
FINANCE COSTS 9. MBXZH
2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Handling fee FEE - 19,007
Loan arrangement fee ERLHE 3,359 6,078
Interest on: T?'J%Iﬁzﬂ B
- Bank loans —RITER 40,785 33,033
— Convertible notes — AR R E 15,612 19,965
— Lease liabilities —HEas 42,058 1,479
— Loan from an associate —BE RN R 2 E X 435 731
- Loan from an immediate —BEERAAZ
holding company B 2,737 2,699
— Other loans —HER 4,046 3,304
109,032 86,296
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FREBIBAX

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2018:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year, except
for the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s assessable
profit which is calculated at 8.25%, in accordance with the
new two-tiered tax rate regime effective from the year of
assessment 2018/2019.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profits in Hong Kong for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at
25% for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 25%).
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2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Tax charges comprise: MBS B
Current tax: REHIA
Provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EMEH
B (31,778) (39,025)
Over/(Under) provision in previous year: BEFERBERE
(BETR):
Hong Kong Profits Tax BHEMEH 2 -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEDEMSE (36) -
Deferred tax (Note 30): IEEFIIE (MI7E30) -
Temporary (differences)/reversed arising NF 7 R
in current year (Z82) /&M (2,315) 6,910
(34,127) (32,115)

REE A RRBUE M FBNER
BB E16.5% (—ZF—/\F:16.5% ) &t
EOEREBE-Z - ZE-NRBEF
EEMIGERNOHNESHMAS A&
1% & §8 1) & /8 2,000,000 & 3R 4 4
M #28.25% 5 K5t B RSN o

HRASBEHEE-_ZTZ—hhF+=A
=+ BULEFEYEEATERERT G
F» I BRI BB TSR -

BE_ZT-AF+-_A=+—HRF
BB B 22 R TH3225% 2 B R ik o Bl
EARH(ZF—\F:25%) °
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. FTBFHBAX (&)

NE+=ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit BEGFEERREMEZEKER  FA

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

MBS EAR SR WEM T

2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit before taxation B 355 AT 22 A 114,039 87,930
Tax at the rates applicable to profit in the EEBEREF
countries concerned BV RAE
BIE (27,061) (22,258)
Tax effect of share of profit of associates R E R RABF 2
Mg & 8,630 8,253
Tax effect of non deductible expenses AR 2
ik (45,940) (13,040)
Tax effect of non taxable revenue FEERTMAZ
MBRE 33,600 1,483
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RIERBIARE 2
i (3,322) (6,683)
Utilisation of tax loss EIHT TS B 1R 2
R 2 - 130
Over-provision of previous year BEFEHBERE (34) -
Tax effect for the year REBZRETE (34,127) (32,115)
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1. XEEEF
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Profit for the year has been arrived at AEERME (M)
after (charging)/crediting: FTA
Auditor’s remuneration ZERTB &
Audit service &t iRT% (1,650) (1,500)
Non-audit service FERE R (994) (1,994)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W WEREZENE (16,006) (14,492)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEBENE (25,566) (783)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE -BMEREEZ
AF = 74
Gain on write-off of other payables legally time HETrEEREL
barred and lapsed H i A5 0 B Bk 2 78,819 -
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of properties HEFEMEL
held for sale F(BRX) M (524) 8,238
Net exchange (loss)/gain BN (X)) WamFEE (5,194) 5,788
Operating lease charges in respect of buildings BFREHERY 30 9
Provision written back on trade and IR 5 B R I L Ao E UK
other receivables FOE 2 R E B 1 255
Impairment loss on finance lease receivables MEHERIGRZ
VREEEES (1,009) (972)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables JFE W2 B R B Lt U
BRZBERKX - (26)
Cost of properties held for sale ERAEAZZ
recognised as expense HFEMERE (30,902) (8,820)
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAMI 2FERR (1,755) (1,489
Total staff costs HEETRA
Directors’ remuneration T (8,072) (8,136)
Other staff cost Hith 8 TRA (35,930) (27,112)
Retirement benefit schemes contributions Ht 8T 2 RINEH
for other staffs BERGE (1,778) (1,209)
Termination benefits B EHE R (338) (232)
(46,118) (36,689)
Gross rental income from investment properties REME 2B WA 9,879 6,780
Less: o
Direct operating expenses from investment FREHESEAZ
properties that generated rental income BEMEL
during the year BEREERX (18) (42)
Direct operating expenses from investment FREESIRAZ
properties that did not generate rental REMEZ
income during the year HEEERY (803) (1,508)
9,058 5,230
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EERETHS
EMOLUMENTS
a. Directors’ emoluments a. EEMS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight ERREMNE (ZZE—NF N
(2018: eight) Directors were as follows: BI)EZEAZME2OT :
2019 2018
—2-nF —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fees nue BT T BT T
Executive directors HITESE
Mr. He Xiangming fa] [7) BR 5% A 120 120
Mr. Lin Pingwu MR 5 A 120 120
Mr. You Guang Wu R ST 120 120
Mr. Huang Zhihe EEMEE 120 120
Ms. Wang Xin T ME=* 120 120

Independent non-executive directors B FHITES

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai PR B {2 % A& 120 120
Mr. Chen Da Cheng BREAK LA 120 120
Mr. Deng Hong Ping BRI A 120 120

960 960
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BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

12. EERETIME &)

a. ESM® (&)

2019 2018
—E-NE ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Salaries and other benefits FEeRHEMBEF BT T BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. He Xiangming fa] [7) BR 5 A 600 600
Mr. Lin Pingwu MR 5 A 600 600
Mr. You Guang Wu R ST 600 600
Mr. Huang Zhihe EEMEE 420 420
Ms. Wang Xin T ME=* 420 420
Independent non-executive directors B FHITES
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai PR B (8 5k & - -
Mr. Chen Da Cheng PSR 3 B 5E A - -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping BRFEE - -
2,640 2,640

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ 8 2% ¥ 3t 45 B 2 5]
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

12. EERETIME &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) a. EEME (£)
2019 2018
—E-NE ZE-N\F
Performance-based or BREY HK$’000 HK$’'000
discretionary bonus [R5 P AN BET T BT T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. He Xiangming fa] [7) BR 5% A 936 936
Mr. Lin Pingwu MR 5 A 936 936
Mr. You Guang Wu R ST 936 936
Mr. Huang Zhihe HEMEE 655 655
Ms. Wang Xin T ME=* 655 655
Independent non-executive directors B FHITES
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai PR & Sk & - -
Mr. Chen Da Cheng PR3 B % A - -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping BRI A - -
4,118 4,118
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
Retirement benefits HK$’000 HK$’000
scheme contribution R KE GBI ALK BT T BT T
Executive directors HITESE
Mr. He Xiangming Al TR) B 58 A 75 90
Mr. Lin Pingwu MR ST A 75 90
Mr. You Guang Wu wER A 74 80
Mr. Huang Zhihe |mEMEA 65 79
Ms. Wang Xin * ML 65 79
Independent non-executive directors B Y EHITES
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai BR B9 & 5 4 - -
Mr. Chen Da Cheng BRIZERK A& - -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping B 7 5 A - -
354 418
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BE_T—

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

12. EERETIME &)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed above include their
services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Group. No director had waived any emoluments
for both years. Save as disclosed above, no other
emoluments were paid or payable to any director.

During the year ended 2019 and 2018, no emolument
had been paid by the Group to the Directors or the five
highest-paid individuals referred to in (d) below as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests, transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance
to which the Group as a party and in which a director
of the Group had material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

No loan, quasi-loan and other dealing in favour of
directors of the Group or body corporate controlled by
such directors, or entities connected with such directors,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)
d. Five highest-paid individual

During the year, the five individuals whose emoluments
were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 are directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12a. No
individual other than the directors has been included in
the five-higher-paid individuals.

13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group contributes to a defined contribution retirement
scheme which is available to Hong Kong permanent employees
under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance. This
retirement scheme is administered by independent trustees
with their assets held separately from those of the Group.
Contributions under the staff retirement scheme for each
year are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred.
The total contribution to the scheme amounted to HK$45,738
(2018: HK$41,651) for the year and has been charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Forfeited employer contributions in
respect of former employees from the staff retirement scheme
before vesting period may be used by the Group to reduce
its ongoing employer contributions. There is no forfeited
contribution utilised during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no balance of
forfeited contributions available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

12. EERETIME &)

d IEREFMAL

REA - AEBREESHMA
THAESE EMeEMEi12an
Mol TEFZHN RBETAEM
ATHAADLEESFTMAL

13. EERARTE

RNEBRBEZERIKET EUEDI AT Bk
AEEREREHNRE TRIKEE oK
RARGTE T2 EERBIETATE
BAEEZEESFAFAR - B TR
Sl HFRNBBEEEREEF X
BEEPLTE WERGEBEREM
2HRERANGR -5 FZTE 2B H
RAEEEAS T8I (ZE—NF  BE
41,65170) " RENGFEEm KHME
AW EEATNG -RIEE IEREEIRIK
ETEI 2 B R BT EE B M R 2
H AR AEEALRKEEHEK
EAFER WECEBHAZZWER-

RS A A R A - I B HOR W R
£ ] AR D R 2 FEAS K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T—

13.

14.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (continuea)

Since the introduction of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has also participated
in an approved MPF Scheme with Bank Consortium Trust
Company Limited effective 1 December 2001 to provide an
MPF Scheme to all employees. The contributions borne by the
Group are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages (monthly
contribution is limited at 5% of HK$30,000 for each eligible
employee) as calculated under the MPF legislation. During
the year under review, the total amount contributed by the
Group to the MPF Scheme and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$79,989 (2018: HK$76,999).

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the required contributions under the schemes.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
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14.

NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$68,612,000 (2018: profit of approximately
HK$42,383,000) and on the number of 1,712,329,142 ordinary
shares (2018: 1,712,329,142 ordinary shares) in issue during
the year.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

15.

BERAEF

EREARBERFDRBERNEEHES
ATE(EARNEE B 497 %68,612,0007T
(ZZ—\F  BHEK 42,383,000
TL) RARFE B E171,712,329,142L 5@
B (= — )\ :1,712,329,142% @

B)EtE -

AREEBANEE2ERERAREER
M2 ETER TSR

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T AT T
Profit for the year attributable to FERMNGE
owners of the Company PiN/NETE ¥ =N 68,612 42,383
Number of shares RO E
2019 2018
—E-hHF —E—N\F
’000 000
T T i%
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of AR EEFRER
basic earnings per share ARz EBREE 1,712,329 1,712,329

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for both the basic and diluted earnings per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, there was no
dilutive potential share as the exercise of the convertible bonds
would have an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
share.

FrER A BE EXAHFLSRERNA
M Pt E AR R o

B2 NErR-_ZE2—N\FE+=HA
—t+—HIEFEE TESRESEN
AAEEBETEIRERERSEERES

=4
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. REWE

In the PRC  In Hong Kong
held under held under
medium-term medium-term
leases leases Total
RN REBN
THENRE FHENEE wmE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BT
FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT REMEZDAE
PROPERTIES
As at 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—H—H 213,025 19,500 232,525
Increase in fair value RIEFEEERER
recognised in profit or loss N EEN 8,945 - 8,945
Exchange difference M N EE (11,264) - (11,264)
As at 31 December 2018 and R=ZZB-N\F
1 January 2019 +-A=+-HK
—E-NF-HA-H 210,706 19,500 230,206
Additions NE 200,145 - 200,145
Transfer to property, M BB RS
plant and equipment (115,918) - (115,918)
Increase in fair value REZERRERZ
recognised in profit or loss DA B 4,618 - 4,618
Exchange difference b = (5,636) - (5,636)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—-hF
+-B=+—H 293,915 19,500 313,415

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ 8 2% ¥ 3t 45 B 2 5]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

All of the Group’s property interests held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

On 31 May 2019, the Group acquired the entire interest in
a commercial plaza located in Nanhai District, Foshan City,
PRC with a consideration of HK$200,145,000, which was
subsequently revalued by the Group as at 31 December 2019.

The carrying amount of investment properties amounting to
HK$293,915,000 (2018: HK$210,706,000) have been pledged
to secure general banking facilities and mortgage loan to the
Group.

Investment properties were revalued at their open market value
at 31 December 2019 by Associated Surveyors & Auctioneers
Ltd., an independent firm of professional valuer, on an open
market value basis. The valuation gave rise to a revaluation
surplus of HK$4,618,000 (2018: surplus of HK$8,945,000),
which has been recognised in profit or loss.

16. REWE (&)

AREEFAA R ARRE S HIEEARE
ERgzYERIZHUARAEBEAG
E UDBERARRKEME-

RZE-—hAhFRA=Z+—H A&H
WET —BURPEHBILTEERR
WAXES 2R REA/BK
200,145,0007C - ABEAREER T — 1
FT+-A=+t—HBEHNMHE-

HEWME  BREE RS 293,915,000
T (ZZF— )\ F : ##210,706,0007T)
EEBUERETASE 2 —RIB1TH
BRI

REMERZZE—NF+_A="+—
HREYEXEGHEMBHEEARAE
TEAAHMEEFNHEI KR - RA
FEBEMHAHBE4618,0007T E i A
BEBRRR(ZE-—N\F BBRABE
8,945,0007T ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

16. REWE (&)

Associated Surveyors & Auctioneers Ltd is a member of
the Institute of Valuers of Hong Kong, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which
conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at
by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s investment properties were classified under level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of
Level 3 during the year.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Level 3) based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements is observable.

Fair Value Valuation
Hierarchy Techniques

MAEER  MHEFR

Commercial unit Level 3 Direct comparison

located in Hong Kong method per square feet

N EE 2 R B F=H BREEE

Commercial units Level 3 Direct comparison
located in PRC method

IR Bz BRER F=H BREEE

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
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Significant unobservable inputs

TEREUBRRZEE

Estimated market unit sale price

EATSELETIRER

Estimated market unit sale price
per square metre

AT HENE T RER

BEAERHETERAR SR EME
MEegl URFAEERNREIH
R REERUNE &R -G
HEDERBERGEERRZ2ZEUY
ERXRFMERET

tFEEERZHENANEFAREER
H-ELEMENRIAER BAER
MENTRD REERS-

REBMZRENER DB RANEFR
B =R R FEARLEAE(EALE L
E=f-

TRREHRNAHERENEZAR
EEH (FRIREEREARERZEA
B)  RRRER ME%ELA&E,T\&f DR
Z—E/Aﬁ:@.ﬁr THEOABESHRER (B

Relationship of unobservable inputs
to fair value

BUBRCBBEEARENRRE

The increase/decrease in the market unit sale
price would result in an increase/decrease
in the fair value of the property

M5B HEEREM/ HOTEEMER
REEN/ B

The increase/decrease in the market unit sale
price would result in an increase/decrease
in the fair value of the property
SEMIEEEREN RO TEEMER
REEN/ B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ -BERREE
2019 —E-NF
Furniture
Land and equipment
Hotel Buildings and
properties inHKand  Construction leasehold Plant and Motor

in the PRC the PRC in progress  improvements machinery vehicles Total

REER B
ReBREZ HEKEZ RER BER
BRENE THRET EEIR BFEE W nE sz
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BT AT BRI BRI BT BT

COST AND VALUATION RARfE{E

At 1 January 2019 R-E-hE
—-R-H 115,000 114,974 2,008 55,745 18,594 3,367 309,688
Additions NE - - 120,362 9,221 3 - 129,586
Transfers i - - (1,486) 1,486 - - -

Transfer from RENEER
Investment property - 115,918 - - - - 115,918
Disposals and write off & R - - - (142) - - (142)
Exchange difference ERER - (2,198) (1,632) (1,044) (508) 27 (5,409)

At 31 December 2019 R=ZE-HE

+-A=1+-H 115,000 228,694 119,252 65,266 18,089 3,340 549,641
Comprising: 2
At cost A - 228,694 119,252 65,266 18,089 3,340 434,641
At valuation - 2019 thi-
“E-NE 115,000 - - - - - 115,000
115,000 228,694 119,252 65,266 18,089 3,340 549,641
DEPRECIATION g
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE
-R—-H - 9,266 - 14,483 1,967 3,288 29,004
Provided for the year 4,694 3,149 - 6,316 1,747 100 16,006
Eliminated on disposals % H& R i85
and write off i - - - (128) - - (128)
Eliminated on revaluation 1 & A& i3 (4,694) - = = = = (4,694)
Exchange difference ELER - (75) - (291) (59) (213) (638)

At 31 December 2019 RZE—N&
+-A=1+-H - 12,340 - 20,380 3,655 3,175 39,550

CARRYING VALUES BEFE
At 31 December 2019  R-ZE—-N%&
+-A=t-H 115,000 216,354 119,252 44,886 14,434 165 510,091
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ - BERXE (&)
(Continued)
2018 —E-)N\F
Fumniture
Land and equipment
Hotel Buildings and
properties in HK and Construction leasehold Plant and Motor
in the PRC the PRC in progress  improvements machinery vehicles Total
REER it
RAERELZ PEREL Rk BE R
EENE THEREF ERIR BFRE W "E 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETTL BETT

COST AND VALUATION HARfEE
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F

-A—H 115,000 116,912 4,153 44,699 20,297 3,220 304,281
Additions RE - - 6,334 5,893 203 227 12,657
Transfers 3 - - (8,344) 8,344 - - -
Disposals and write off & Rt i - - - (571) (902) - (1,473)
Exchange difference ~ EXEE - (1,938) (135) (2,620) (1,004) (80) (5,777)

At 31 December 2018 W-Z—/\%

+-A=1+-8 115,000 114,974 2,008 85,745 18,594 3,367 309,688
Comprising: BiE:
At cost KA - 114,974 2,008 55,745 18,504 3,367 104,688
At valuation - 2018 fEE—
“T-N\fF 115,000 - - - - - 115,000
115,000 114,974 2,008 55,745 18,594 3,367 309,688
DEPRECIATION g
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NE
—-A—H - 6,240 - 10,605 1,154 3,202 21,201
Provided for the year EEAE 4510 3,194 - 4,977 1,662 149 14,492
Eliminated on disposals & R BRES
and write off i - - - (505) (755) - (1,260)
Eliminated on revaluation 7 & ff 5 ] 3§ 4,510) - - - - - (4,510)
Exchange difference ERER - (168) - (594) (94) (63) 919)

At 31 December 2018 RZE-\&
+-A=1+-H - 9,266 - 14,483 1,967 3,288 29,004

CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 December 2018 RZE—/\&
+-A=1+-H 115,000 105,708 2,008 41,262 16,627 79 280,684
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Fair value measurement of the Group’s buildings

The Group’s hotel properties situated in the PRC were valued
on 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 by Associated
Surveyors & Auctioneers Ltd., an independent valuer not
related to the Group.

The fair value of the buildings were determined based on the
market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction
prices for similar properties, adjusted for differences in the
nature, location and condition of the buildings under review.
There has been no change to the valuation technique during
the year.

The Group’s hotel properties were classified under level 3 in
the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfer into or out of
level 3 during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

If hotel properties had not been revalued, they would have
been included in these financial statements at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation of HK$61,662,000 (2018:
HK$64,248,000).

Fair Value Valuation
Hierarchy Techniques

DREER  HEAR

Combination of
direct comparison
method and income
capitalisation method
ERLBERRA
BR(EES

Hotel properties in PRC Level 3

R B ZBENR EF=R

Significant Unobservable inputs

TERNBECHE

Estimated market unit sale price per
square metre and estimated market
unit sales price per square metre

S EL ST I AEER
fhEt s B ST I KER

17. ¥ -BERZE 2)

SEEFQAAETE

AEBEMRFRZBEVER=ZZ—N
Ft+ZA=FT—HBERZZE—N\F+=A
= +—HRBLEEMGEMBEEER
HETERAREHGEE-.

BEMZAARERBRBEERTSLES
o BBROIRRZER WERBMLE 12
FRASEERZUEL AR FAZ
BET AL EEE -

AEBZBEDERDIBRANEZTR
B =R RFEAILEAE(TEALE L
E=f-

WESMEZRARER PEZESR
RFZEBENREZRFEE.

i M EEBIE W ADBE MKk
J& 52K AR 3T B R 8 #61,662,0007T
—ZT— )\ f : % ¥64,248,00070 ) 5t A
e B -

Significant Observable Inputs

TERRECHE

The increase/decrease in the market unit
rent and the increase/decrease in the
market unit.

TISEREER,/ S HEEREM/ RS
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The movements in the Group’s interests in associates,

Aok B 25 R PR R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

including goodwill, during the year are analysed as follows:

18. Rt E N AR

AREERAFEMEBERR 2R

(REHE)RBHWMT

Nanhai Guangdong
Guangdong Changhai Tiannuo
Financial Power Civil
Leasing Company Explosives
Co., Ltd* Limited* Co., Limited* Total Total
ERERN BERE BERXH
MEHEE BE RiF
BRAT BRAF BRAT HEt Bt
2019 2019 2019 2019 2018
“E-hE ZEB-hE ZEB-NFE ZB-hF ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BET T BETT BETT
At beginning of the year F¥] 238,734 429,444 153,504 821,682 745,571
Additions g - - 45,352 45,352 80,602
Goodwill [EES - - - - 70,963
Share of post-acquisition profits &1 Ut i 1% 2 7 6,562 73,564 4,228 84,354 78,218
Share of exchange difference BEELESE (4,113) (8,139) (3,184) (15,436) (38,044)
Distribution from Wik 2 REDE
post-acquisition profit - (29,737) (17,152) (46,889) (115,628)
Reclassified to asset classified ~E#H DA A AFHTHE
as held for sale (Note (a)) BE (K@) (241,183) - - (241,183) -
Deemed disposal of RAEDE —HEE
an associate (Note (b)) ~al (HeEb)) - 3,993 - 3,993 -
At end of year FR - 469,125 182,748 651,873 821,682

For identification purpose only

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ 8 2% ¥ 3t 45 B 2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F-#t




18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

22 I\ 2
5o s R R b
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

18. Rt & N TR (&)

Details of each the Group’s material associates at the end of RmEPRRNEBZERBERAFE
the reporting period are as follows: mr
Proportion of Proportion
Principal Class of ownership of voting rights
Form of Place of place of shares interest held held by Principal
Entity Name the entity incorporation operation held by the Group the Group activities
x5
FisEaE AEEfE
EREE ERKR s B TEEERE FSROER L $:3:40]) SR TEEH
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-AFE T\ ZB-NFE ZT-)N\#F

Guangdong Financial  Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC Ordinary 25% 25% 25% 25% Finance leasing
Leasing Co., Ltd.* business and
(Note (a) related advisory

and guarantee

services
i@éﬂrﬂﬁ%ﬁ& Rl FEAR FEAR EER REBEXBRIER
BRR HME HAE R RS
(WE

Nanhai Changhai Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC Ordinary 31.875% 32.636% 31.875% 32.636% Generation and sale
Power Company of electricity and
Limited* (Note (b)) heated steam

BEREEE ElifpAvA FEAR FEAR EER BEAEEREANA
BRAT HAE #AE e
(M (b))

Guangdong Tiannuo  Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC Ordinary 49% 49% 49% 49% Manufacture and
Civil Co., Limited* sale of emulsion
(Note (c)) explosives

and industrial
detonating cord

BRARHRE il FEAR FEAR EER RAREIREER
BRAF HAE HAE HE
(BzE(e))

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Referring the circular dated on 31 October 2019, the Group
entered into a disposal agreement with Foshan City Nanhai
Financial Hi-Tech Zone Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.* (“Nanhai
Financial Hi-Tech Holdings”), pursuant to which Nanhai Financial
Hi-Tech Holdings has conditionally agreed to purchase 25%
equity interest in Guangdong Financial Leasing Co., Ltd*
(“Guangdong Financial Leasing”) at a cash consideration of
RMB52,720,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$58,971,000)
and the Group agreed to continue to lend to the purchaser in
the form of the outstanding shareholder’s loan in the amount of
approximately RMB157,120,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$172,046,400) following the completion of this transaction.

Since the transaction would not be completed for the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group decided to reclassify
the interest in Guangdong Financial Leasing as asset held
for sale on 31 October 2019. Details of asset classified as
held for sale for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in Note 19. For the ten months ended 31 October 2019,
Guangdong Financial Leasing recorded operating profit of
approximately HK$26,250,000 and total comprehensive income
of approximately HK$9,797,000. From the date on which the
interest in Guangdong Financial Leasing was reclassified as asset
held for sale, the investment in Guangdong Financial Leasing
was discontinued to be accounted for using the equity method.

(b)  On 18 March 2019, the Group entered into a capital increment
agreement with another existing investor in which the registered
capital of Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* (“Nanhai
Changhai“) would be increased from USD31,132,460 to
USD32,235,446. The transaction was completed on 11 October
2019. The Group did not subscribe for additional shareholding
and accordingly, the equity interest held by the Group in Nanhai
Changhai decreased from 32.636% to 31.875% after completion
of the transaction. Deemed disposal of an associate amounted
to HK$3,993,000 is recognised in the Group’s interest in Nanhai

Changhai as at 31 December 2019.

(c) On 25 March 2019, Foshan City Nanhai Canmanage Investment
Holding Limited* (“Nanhai Canmanage”), a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Capital Injection Agreement with
Guangdong Nanhai Chemical Factory Co., Ltd.* (“Nanhai
Chemical”), Foshan City Nanhai District Lianhua Asset Operation
& Management Co., Ltd.* (“Nanhai Lianhua”) and Guangdong
Tiannuo Civil Co., Limited* (“Tiannuo”) in relation to the Capital
Injection on the basis of their respective shareholding proportion
in Tiannuo. Upon completion of the entire Capital Injection, the
percentage shareholding interest of Nanhai Canmanage, Nanhai
Lianhua and Nanhai Chemical in Tiannuo will remain unchanged

at 49%, 2% and 49% respectively.

For identification purpose only
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18. REE&E N TR (&)

Bt 5
(@)

BRIEAHA-ZZ—LF+A=+—8
ZHEEK AEEEBLTHESHS
FEEEERARAR (MEEE])
AVTHERE BhEEsSEER
HRE AR & REARS52,720,000
7t (FHE R #)7# #58,971,0007T )} A
EERERZR I TR ENCENA
AR ¥157,120,0007T (18 & R 4975 K
172,046,4007T) 2 MR EEREE R
FRAMEFBEERRBEEERER
REMEARAF (([EREREMR
EASZ-_tRZKRHE:

HRAERHITEEE LT —NF
T A=+ HBZEERTR  AEE
ARERZZE—NF+A=+—BHR
ERERBEREESIAFTLEESR
E-BE-ZT—NF+-_A=+—HL
FEIAFHELE ZFHBHINK
H1I9 - RZZTE—AF+A=+—81t
+EA ERERBMERECHALE
#06,250,0007T 2 4 & K| & 4 74
9,797,000tz FE 2 EMF - RER
BNPEHERRSNASTLEEES
A RERERIBMEREZRERIE
FAEREANR

R-ZE—AFE=ZA+/\B  AEBERE
BRSREERAR ([MERE])Z
SEME AN 131,132,460 T in &
32,235,446k Ll 5 — IR B EH
RN THERE RINZT—NF
+A+—RA5EHK - ANEE W R RIEEI
BE#E - MR R B TERE  AEER
MEREHMIEHE 2 R#EHA32.636% T~
[% %31.875% ° & %8 &5 3,993,000
THMEBLE—MBLERAREN -
—NWE+-_A=+—B2Z2AREBRE
BRBZERS TR

RZBE-NE=ZA=-+HB K272
FRABBILTEERERERR AR
(IFEREE])BEREAE S TR
BERAR ([E&8T]) BLUTEE
BHMELEELLTERRAA ([ME
BEE D MERKBREER AR ([X
BT EERH KBRESAR
KtiE B 2 RIEL FIRRHEETEE -
REEIETKEZ BERE -BE
HEMEESEINRERECRER
DB HERFTE D5 B49% 2% &
49% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s material associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

All of the investments in these associates are accounted
for using the equity method in these consolidated financial

18. Rt & N TR (&)

BERAASERERMERRZHBER
BMEFI W T - U THBERREZ5
REBERRZMBRRZEE  BRR
BEMBHRELERIRS

FIBRZEBRE QR 2REINHEFS
EMBHRAERERIEATR

statements.
Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* EEREBREERLA
2019 2018
—2-nF —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BET T
Current assets MENE B 1,038,363 994,698
Non-current assets ERBEE 803,857 743,748
Current liabilities mENARE (374,436) (422,585)
Non-current liabilities RBEE (50) -
Net asset value BEEFHE 1,467,734 1,315,861
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEET T BET T
Revenue WA 1,396,531 1,397,805
Profit for the year RNEE R 229,700 193,558
Exchange difference for the year FEENEZRE (25,401) (68,529)
Total comprehensive income for the year FETEKR=BE 204,299 125,029

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. Rt E NE R (#)
Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* (Continued) EEREREARAT (£)
Recongiliation of the above summarised financial information to REREMEmER PR S A B R
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised AR TH B B2 _E it B 75 28 R A it S5 B

in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Net assets of the associate BE N NR 2 EEFA 1,467,734 1,315,861
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in RN & E R )8 K&
Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* EEARAAZ
W RS TL
BOX 31.875% 32.636%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REBEREERE
Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* BERR AT
(Note) w2 REE
(M5E) 469,125 429,444
Note: B 5 -
On 22 March 2019, the Group’s shareholdings in Nanhai Changhai RZZE-NWF=ZAZ+ZH AEERHEE
Power Company Limited* decreased from 32.636% to 31.875%. REBHEAR QA ZRIEM32.636% [ =
There was undistributed profit due to the dilution of the Group’s 31.875% - AEBREEREBEEER AT
shareholdings in Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited*. It is Z RS ME BT IR M R D IR A o FE -
therefore the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Nanhai AEERMEREREBFRAFB ZERNT
Changhai Power Company Limited* as at 31 December 2019 cannot T-NFF+_A=T—HZEAEBETEEE
be directly calculated by multiplying its net assets with the proportion BRAGEEEFERASEHGERZE D
of the Group’s ownership interest. RIRETE -

* For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. Rt E N E R (2)
Guangdong Tiannuo Civil Explosives Co., Limited* ERAXEREERAT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Current assets mEEE 126,846 58,778
Non-current assets EREBEE 220,053 232,499
Current liabilities mEBE (114,444) (120,876)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (1,728) (1,950)
Net asset value BEFRE 230,727 168,451
2019 2018

—EB-NF —EF-)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Revenue WA 207,756 259,646
Profit for the year REFE R 8,627 10,742
Exchange difference for the year FEERZ5 (3,903) (6,786)
Total comprehensive income for the year FETEKR=BEHE 4,724 3,956

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REE&E N TR (&)

Guangdong Tiannuo Civil Explosives Co., Limited*

(Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

ERAFRBERQR (&)

AR B B 75 R SR

i N AR

BRI (B B b B 7% B R a1 B

2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Net assets of the associate BE N NRICEEFR 230,727 168,451
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ~ AEBEREE X
in Guangdong Tiannuo Civil Explosives REBRAFZ
Co., Limited* BEEE ST
EBEDL 49% 49%
Group’s share of net assets in Guangdong REBEEEERKH
Tiannuo Civil Explosives Co., Limited* REEBRAFZ
BEFR 113,056 82,541
Goodwill* e 69,692 70,963
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REERERXHA
Guangdong Tiannuo Civil Explosives REBERAF
Co., Limited* ez BREE 182,748 153,504
2019 2018
—E-NE —N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
“Goodwill Gk BT T BT T
At 1 January n—H—H 70,963 -
Additions i - 70,963
Exchange difference MEH =% (1,271) -
At 31 December Rn+=-—A=+—H 69,692 70,963

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

19. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 19. JIRAGHEERE

Pursuant to Note 18a, the Group’s interest in Guangdong INMisE18a K Fe - N BN ER ER

Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.* was reclassified as asset held for BEHEERAFAEZNR_ZE—NF1+ A

sale on 31 October 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the Group =t —HIARFHEEE-R_ZE—N

recognised an impairment loss for the subsequent write-down FH+_A=+—8 RAEERI RFH

of asset classified as held for sale to fair value less costs to EEECBEMAZE A AERLEKRA
sell. Details are as follows: BRMEEEX - FHHINAT

As at

31 October

2019

R-ZZB-IF

+A=+—A8

HK$’000

BT T

Net assets of the associate BE R NACEEFR 1,147,260

Non-controlling interest of Bt RNRlZ EERER
the associate’s subsidiary (182,527)
964,733

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interestin ~ AEBRERERMEHREGRE AT

Guangdong Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.* BERESEE DX 25%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in AEERERENBEHREBER AR
Guangdong Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.*, BmsRKHE JAFHEEE
reclassified as asset held for sale 241,183
2019
—2-NE
HK$’000
Asset classified as held for sale NABLHEEE BT T
Reclassified from the Group’s interest in REEERERENBEHERR AR
Guangdong Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. T 7 B 1% 241,183
Impairment loss recognised R EEX (28,838)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 212,345

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. RAREFFAEBRZERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2019 2018
—B-AF —EF-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Analysed as: DR
Non-current IR B
Listed equity investment (Note i) EmEmigE
(M &Ei) 6,879 7,598
Unlisted equity investment (Note ii and iii) EETRMHIEE
(B 5% Rzii ) 7,439 -
14,318 7,598
Current mE
Sale option granted for the remaining 72% BT —HKBAF
equity interest in a subsidiary (Note iv) FIER72% M5 1 1Y
oS Hi R
(B 7Eiv ) 40,439 -
54,757 7,598
Movement of financial assets at FVTPL is analysed as follows: BAREFAEBR EMEE 2 &I
T
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 January n—H—H 7,598 9,172
Additions 18 6,756 -
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of FFABRCeREE
financial assets at fair value through ZARE
profit or loss #m, G 41,015 (1,148)
Exchange difference PE H Z=%E (612) (426)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 54,757 7,598

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

The fair value of the financial assets was approximately HK$54,757,000
(2018: HK$7,598,000) as valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuer.

The equity investment represents investment in equity security
issued by a listed entity in PRC. As at 31 December 2019,
the fair value of the equity investment was approximately
HK$6,879,000 (2018: HK$7,598,000).

On 30 October 2019, the Group acquired 33% equity interest
in Foshan Baihualin Investment Management Co. Ltd.*, a
company was established in PRC and engaged in providing
capital investments and funds management services, at the
consideration of approximately HK$1,118,000. As at 31
December 2019, the fair value of the equity investment was
approximately HK$1,055,000 (2018: HK$NIl).

On 22 November 2019, the Group acquired 12.6% equity
interest in Shenzhen Waicheng Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership)*, a company established in PRC and engaged
in investment holding, at the consideration of approximately
HK$5,638,000. As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the
equity investment was approximately HK$6,384,000 (2018:
HKS$NI).

In 2017, the Group established “Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco
Construction Co., Ltd* (BERPERZHERBRAA), a
subsidiary of the Company. According to the terms, as fully
defined in the agreement, the Group has the right to sell existing
equity interest of the subsidiary to non-controlling interest. As
at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the sale option was
HK$40,439,000 (2018: HK$NIl).

Details of the fair value measurement of the financial assets for

the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 5.

For identification purpose only

20. RAREFABRBZEHEE
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GEE

TREEZ ANEBERBY BEGEMBET
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ZRABEERERETFR LT 2E
BETHRAZS BHE-_ZT—NEF
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A5 16,879,0007T (—F — \4F:
7 #7,508,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 1. FHAREEREEESERS
LIABILITIES

Right-of-use assets EREEE

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

At 1 January nw—H—H 148,255 -

Additions #rig 879,246 155,010

Depreciation provided during the year FRETIRITE (25,566) (783)

Exchange difference fE 5 =% (13,868) (5,972)

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 988,067 148,255

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to
use underlying leased premises under operating lease
arrangements over the lease terms, which are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liabilities.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%

ERREERASBERELEHER Y
REEHNEERBEEEN R 2E
A BIARAR REH T 8 R REHRER
K (AMERNEHERBENRFET AR
)G



ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 1. FRAREEREEESERS &)
LIABILITIES (continuea)
Lease liabilities HEEE
2019 2018
—2-nF —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BET T
Maturity analysis E| R A
- contractual undiscounted cash flows: —BHRMBRRERE:
Within one year B —F 17,427 4,980
In the second to third year inclusive F_ZFE=F(ER
MEBIELEA) 95,383 14,235
In the forth to fifth year inclusive FNEERF (BE
MEBIELA) 102,218 15,228
More than five years BERF 2,079,628 312,647
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at R+-_A=+—H82
31 December KAAHAEAERAR 2,294,656 347,090
Less: total future interest expenses B ARRF B B (1,269,826) (196,660)
1,024,830 150,430
Analysed as: DR
Current B Af 17,427 4,980
Non-current 3F BN A 1,007,403 145,450
At 31 December W+ZRA=+—8 1,024,830 150,430
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 21. FRAEEERBEEESRSE »)
LIABILITIES (continuea)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEaesE (&)
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial REOBRERAERZZH
position
2019 2018
—2-nF —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
At 1 January n—HA—H 150,430 -
Additions #hig 861,045 155,010
Interest charged to profit or loss SFABEZMFE 42,058 1,479
Payment during the year RESNHEE (14,077) -
Exchange difference E X =% (14,626) (6,059)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 1,024,830 150,430
19 CHININVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIVITED B S35 e 4 B2 )
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F-#t



ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continuea)

21. FRAEEEREERSE »)

Amounts recognised in consolidated profit or loss REEEBBRAZEH
2019 2018
—2-nF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBEZFE 42,058 1,479

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

RGEHRERBRERZZH

cash flows
2019 2018
—E—-hE —E—)\4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRe&RTR 14,077 -

22. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at net realisable value. They
are held under medium-term lease in the PRC.

The cost of properties held for sale incurred and recognised as
expenses during the year is HK$30,902,000 for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: HK$8,820,000).

22, FEWE

BENE AT RTFETR - KEN
S0 1 7R B DA B 40455 ¢

HIE-FT—nF+-A=1+—HILHF
B HRAEMI MU AREAZFEEY
%5k K &7 %30,902,0000T (ZZF— N\
1 5 #8,820,0007T ) °
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23. INVENTORIES 23. 78
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
At Cost 5%

Food, beverages and hotel supplies B R RBE
& m 497 380
Health smart devices RS R 32 -
529 380
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in BHE-_ZE-AFT+A=T—HILHF
cost of sales amounts to HK$1,755,000 for the year ended 31 B HRAEAXVHAEENEAZFE
December 2019 (2018: HK$1,489,000). AR A7 1,755,0000T (& — )\ &

75 #51,489,0007T ) °

The Directors considered the provision for inventory AEBEEREEARFBEEER 2
obsolescence is not required. (2018: Nil). GEMIERERE (ZZE—NF F)-
24. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 24, BHEHEE W

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Analysed as: PER:
Current mE 523,544 242,708
Non-current JEME 739,311 365,465
1,262,855 608,173

1 92 CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
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24. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. MEHERWR (&)

Minimum lease Present value of
payments lease payments
BEHEEMNR HENRZEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F —E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BETT BT T BT
Finance lease receivables comprise: L& & & W £ 4E
Within one year THB—F 590,252 286,004 523,544 252,388
In the second to third year inclusive ~ £-ZF=4F (H=&
MEBAEEA) 362,137 292,734 324,936 276,004
In the forth to fifth year inclusive FNEFERF (HR
WEBREEA) 448,150 85,700 416,288 80,715
1,400,539 664,438 1,264,768 609,107
Less: unearned finance income B AR RERFS A (135,771) (55,331) N/A TiE A N/A 7 i
Present value of minimum lease RURERENRZRE
payment receivables 1,264,768 609,107 1,264,768 609,107
Less: impairment loss allowance R E KRS
— lifetime ECL allowance -2 HEHER
B (1,913) (934) (1,013) (934)
1,262,855 608,173 1,262,855 608,173
Movements of impairment loss allowance on finance lease BMERERBGR ZBEBRERNE
receivables are as follows: N
2019 2018
—B-NF —EF-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 January ®n—H—H 934 -
Impairment loss recognised BR 2 REEX 1,009 972
Exchange difference g5 =% (30) (38)
At 31 December R+=—HA=+-—H 1,913 934
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24. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

All leases are denominated in RMB. The term of finance
leases ranged from less than 1 year to 5 years (2018: 1 to 5
years). The effective interest rates of the finance lease as at
31 December 2019 ranged from 5.30% to 10.40% per annum
(2018: 5.30% to 7.41% per annum).

There was no unguaranteed residual value in connection with
finance lease arrangements or contingent lease arrangements
that needed to be recorded as at the end of the reporting
period.

The finance lease receivables are secured by the leased assets,
mainly plant and machinery, as at 31 December 2019. The
Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collaterals of the
finance lease receivables without consent from the lessee in the
absence of default by the lessee.

Estimates of fair value of collaterals are made during the
credit approval process. These estimates of valuations are
made at the inception of finance lease, and generally not
updated except when the receivable is individually impaired.
When a finance lease receivable is identified as impaired,
the corresponding fair value of collateral of that receivable
is updated by reference to market value such as recent
transaction price of the assets.

Security deposits received from customers as at 31 December
2019 represent finance lease deposits received from customers
which will be repayable by end of the lease period of the
respective finance leases. Deposits of HK$56,874,000 (2018:
HK$21,315,000) have been received by the Group, in which
deposits of HK$13,076,000 (2018: Nil) were classified as
current liabilities and the balances were classified as non-
current liabilities, based on the final lease installment due date
stipulated in the finance lease agreements. All deposits are
non-interest bearing.

The finance lease receivables at the end of the reporting period
are not past due. Details of impairment assessment for the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 5.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
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K530%ET7.41%) °

RBEMR UTEEBAREBEE LR
IARMER 2 RERFSKEEBEAK-

R-ZE-NF+-_A=+—H ®EH
ERWFNEEEEFRER TERK
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R-ZE-AFE+-_A=+—8 2KE%E
FREESDECREFPFREMAER
L ERERERERPLERIBEE-
AEEE YR 4 556,874,000t (=
T — )\ F : 21,315,000 Hh &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The Group allows an average credit period of
90 days to its customers.

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade
receivables after deducting the impairment loss allowance
presented based on invoice dates at the end of the reporting

25. fE U AR H b B UK IR

B EPBEEABLENRI REBEHE
BEPZRZBERIENEEET A&
B THEEPTHOBZEES-

AEERREMARBEEAB2
L B A AR (B HB A 2 R AT
mF

period:
2019 2018
—F-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
BET T BT T
0-60 days 0&60H 4,269 1,194
61-90 days 61%90H 1,769 29
91-120 days 91E120H 93 -
Over 120 days HBiB1208 4,853 48
Trade receivables & UK BR 3R 10,984 1,271
Other receivables (Note) E b g s (FIsE) 68,456 20,445
79,440 21,716

Note: It includes VAT receivables, interest receivables, and
prepayments.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

The Group’s largest trade receivables balance amounted to
HK$9,346,000 (2018: HK$628,000) at the end of the year.
None of the remaining trade receivables balance represented
more than 5% of the total trade receivables (2018: six trade
receivables balances represented more than 5% of the total
trade receivables, amounted to HK$668,000).

fizr: EhSFEUEMNLEED  BEFNE
ESEENE/S

REEY B L FERFE TAERR
LA B R B AR A

TEBIBERERERGEH BB
¥9,346,0007C (= F — )\ F : B #&
628,0007T ) ° &8 T &Y JE U2 BR R0 A 45
B BTES%IA F (B — N\F R B
BG4 EE5% A F - 4858 58 15668,000
TT) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

At as 31 December 2019, trade receivables over 90 days
amounted to HK$4,946,000 (2018: HK$48,000) were past due
but not impaired as the balances were related to debtors with
sound repayment history and no recent history of default.

An aging analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not

25. fE U AR H b B UK IR

(%)

RZZT—hAhF+=-A=+—8"BiB0O
B &) fE U IR ;& 588 15 4,946,0007T (=
T— )\ & : 5#48,0007T) A - B
RABREER AR R 238k T 5
M\ R RS A R EH RVE -

BHEROB(E 2 YR AR A BR e 0 T

impaired:
2019 2018
—B-AF —EF-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
91-120 days 91&120H 93 -
Over 120 days HBi@120H8 4,853 48
4,946 48

Movements of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables
are as follows:

R R 2B ER R ERNES T

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Balance at the beginning of the year RE V4 5 256 498
Impairment loss recognised PIEWRIBRER 2

on trade receivables E - 26

Provision written back on trade receivables BIEWRIE 2

(B (B 4 (1) (255)

Exchange difference fEH Z%5 (4) (13)

Balance at the end of the year RERGEH 251 256
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the
end of the reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is
limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

As at 31 December 2019, none (2018: approximately
amounted to HK$26,000) of trade receivable over 120 days
was impaired.

The carrying amounts of the other receivables that were neither
past due nor impaired relate to other debtors for whom there
was no recent history of default.

The Directors considered that the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables approximates to their fair value.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

25. fE U AR H b B UK IR

26.

(%)

FE 7 T FE YRR SR A0 T (B W M By - KSR [
EREUEFEEZAEREEELER
EERESHARNEMES BREFPE
MEALEERE FERRESTIEE
BR-

RZE-NF+ZA=+—B IER
BI20B M EWIRR (ZF—\F: 8%
26,0007T ) KT SRR 18 4 -

R 780 B S R ORI (B Y LAt B W RKR 2 BR T

18 22 EL A5 50 1 8 e R AT ) < SR A (B 7%
ABR-

E=ZRR BUWRZR N EAMERHRIRZ
FREESEEARERS-

RekBeESEYRCEMR
T

(@ BRE=RBASFEYEE:

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BT T

Cash at bank and on hand RITNIR & &6k 910,657 1,233,229
Bank time deposits RITEHFR 150,697 66,197
1,061,354 1,299,426

Less: pledged bank deposits B B EIRITIFR 32,958 77,755
Cash and cash equivalents HehReEED 1,028,396 1,221,671
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BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand held by the Group and bank time deposits.

Bank balances are interest bearing at respective saving
deposits rate in the Hong Kong and PRC, and the
effective interest rates of the Group’s bank balances
range from 0.30% to 3.3% per annum in Hong Kong and
0.30% to 2.75% per annum in PRC. (2018: 0.13% to
4.10% per annum in Hong Kong and 1.30% to 2.94% per
annum in PRC).

Pledged bank deposits represents deposits pledged to
banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.
Deposits amounting to approximately HK$32,958,000
(2018: HK$77,755,000) have been pledged to secure
a bank borrowing and is therefore classified as current
asset.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

26. B RRESEYRSEAR

TER &)

(a)

RERREEENEE: (&)

RekBReTBYEREASEM
FRITEBES MRITEHRFR -

RITHEBIERBEERTESEN
FRMEFTE  MAEERITHEH
WEBRFANEREEEN T0.30EE
3.3E - £ E 1 F0.30EF £2.75
EBE(ZZE—-—N\F:£&EMNTF0.13
[EZE410E - EHENTF1.30EE
2.94F) »

EHEAIRITEFIEE IR FIRITLAR
BETFTAEBRITREZTR -
75 132,958,000 ( & — \4F:
7 #877,755,0007T) MTF REES
RITEENER BsEARD

RekBReFTEYNHRASEN
THEHHE:

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BET T

Hong Kong dollars B 15,720 25,102
Renminbi AR 953,939 1,139,690
US dollars ETT 58,737 56,879
1,028,396 1,221,671
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (Continued)

22 I\ 2
5o s R R b
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

26. BERBEEEBYREIEHFR
THER#)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and cash

equivalents with an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$953,939,000 (2018: HK$1,139,690,000) were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible

currency in the international market. The government of

the PRC has implemented foreign exchange control and

the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to

exchange restrictions imposed by the government of the

PRC.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

(a) RERRSZEWEE: (&)

RZEB-AF+_A=+—H K
SEUARKFHENR e RRESE
BV BEEL BB 1953,939,0007T
(== —)\&F : %%1,139,690,000
To)  EWIHBEBETmIS LA ABA
BOEE - AR EEINES
H - A E L E S IE AP BREEST
B BAT 2 e A B BR ) o

(b) BMEZHRELENEEHRK

Interest
from Convertible Lease

Borrowings borrowings notes liabilities Total
BR  BRAE TAREE HEAE “m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  AETr  BETx  B%Tn A% Tx
As at 1 January 2019 R-ZE-NF—F—H 1,634,787 - 162,226 150,430 1,937,443

Changes from financing cash flows: RERERE
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEIE 929,780 - - - 929,780
Repayment of borrowings BEEX (394,185) - - - (394,185)
Interest paid EFIE - (38,768) (3,325) - (42,093)
Payments of lease liabilities BEaEMEHE - - - (14,077) (14,077)
2,170,382 (38,768) 148,901 136,353 2,416,868

Other changes: Hing

Additions g - - - 861,045 861,045
Early redemption ®REL - - (160,676) - (160,676)
Exchange difference EHER (20,345) - - (14,626) (34,971)
Interest expense FEHZ - 48,003 15,612 42,058 105,673
Issuance of the convertible notes BIOTBRRER - - 109,616 - 109,616
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NEF+-A=1+—H 2,150,037 9,235 113,463 1,024,830 3,297,555
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BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The credit period granted by the Group’s supplies ranges from

30 days to 90 days.

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade
payables based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting

27. BERR R EMBEMSKE

AEERTHERZEERNFI0RE
90H -

AEERBERR REZTAMETZ
R BR AR 2 AR AT AN TS

period:
2019 2018
—B-AF —EF-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
0-60 days 0£60H 1,423 3,269
61-90 days 61290H 4 1
91-120 days 91F120H 12 -
Over 120 days HBiB1208 3,857 200
Trade payables FETBR K 5,296 3,470
Other payables H fth JE S 308 49,206 128,107
54,502 131,577
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 27.

Other payables included the following items:

ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

FE A BR 7% K HL At B 3 SRR

(%)

Hit BN RIEBIETHIER :

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Contract liabilities EHBE 293 4,768
Other tax payables H b JE T R I8 12,569 10,921
Payable on convertible notes and ERATB®RERR
interest payables FET I B - 78,819
Others (Note 1) Hh (HFeE1) 36,344 33,599
49,206 128,107
Note: B3 -
1 Others include accrued staff salaries and welfare, amounts 1 HBEErE I kEdM 2lE
received from staff on equity investments and other temporary % BR 15 50 R H A BT UK -
receipts.

The Directors considered that the carrying amount of trade and
other payables approximates to their fair value. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

EERR AKRENEMEREEMME
MHRBEZEEEEEARERE A%
B 2 ) E B 7% B B IR R A RE LR T
BRMNFEOREERR A -
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amounting to HK$90,000,000 from the Group’s immediate
holding company, Prize Rich Inc. which is unsecured and with a

fixed interest rate at 3% per annum.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
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NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019
28. BORROWINGS 28. AR
2019 2018
—E—hEF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Bank loans RITEE 1,953,911 1,465,060
Loan from an associate e a2 EBR 26,846 -
Loan from immediate holding company EEERARIZER 90,000 90,000
Other loans HMER 79,280 79,727
2,150,037 1,634,787
Secured BEA 1,953,911 1,465,060
Unsecured A 196,126 169,727
2,150,037 1,634,787
Carrying amount repayable: JEEZARTE(E -
Within one year R—F A 1,303,788 1,071,264
More than one year, but not exceeding thiE—F1E A
two years N 4 280,400 404,003
More than two years, but not exceeding B 38 A S 18 S R iR
five years HF 468,534 142,505
More than five years HBEAT 97,315 17,015
2,150,037 1,634,787
Amount shown under current liabilities ARBBES
KIB 1,303,788 1,071,264
Amount shown under non-current liabilities A ERBEBEZ
IE 846,249 563,523
2,150,037 1,634,787
On 5 December 2017, the Group obtained a three-year loan RZE—+F+—AAH  AEBERAR

EB/ y BEEERA A Prize Rich Inc.
15 & 8§ = 4 /9% #90,000,000T &
%’('E%%mﬁ’jﬁ#ﬁﬁ BEMEXEEF

3% °



ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

28. BORROWINGS (continued)

On 6 December 2017, the Group obtained a loan facility
from a bank of approximately USD110,090,000 for which a
controlling shareholder has provided the necessary corporate
guarantee. As at 31 December 2019, the Group has drawdown
an amount of USD100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$778,900,000) (2018: USD100,000,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$783,038,000).

In March 2018, the Group obtained two two-year unsecured
loans amounting to RMB70,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$78,300,000) in total from two independent
third parties, at a floating interest rate plus a premium
calculated at 10% above the prevailing RMB benchmark rate
published by The People’s Bank of China. On 26 February
2019, the Group entered into the Supplemental Loan
Agreements with these two parties respectively, in which the
loan repayment periods for these two loans were extended by
2 years to March 2022. Interest rates and any other terms and
conditions of the loans remained unchanged.

On 16 April 2018, the Group obtained a loan facility of
HK$40,000,000 (loan facility 1) from Hang Seng Bank. Since
the facility limit would be reduced by 10% of the facility
amount each vyear, it became HK$36,000,000 during the year.
On 11 April 2019, the Group obtained another loan facility of
HK$52,700,000 (loan facility 2) from Hang Seng Bank. These
two loan facilities were secured by the Group’s property which
is situated at Unit 01, 14 and 15 on 5th Floor, Wing On Plaza,
No. 62 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. As at 31 December
2019, the Group has drawdown an amount of HK$78,350,000
in aggregate.

28. B (&)

NZE—+F+_ARNB KEFEMA
RITHR B #9110,090,000% T E &
BmE TERABEERHEMLEQT
ER-BE-ZZFT—hhF+t=ZA=+—
B A% EERN100,000,0003% 7T
(HHE R B ¥778,900,0000t) (=&
— )\ : 100,000,000 75 HHE R B
783,038,0007T) °

RZZE-—NF=ZA AEERREEL
BEZFHEMELRERNEEHARE
70,000,0007T (48 55 1A 7% #78,300,000
TLHER  BERYAERKBER  FIX
REFBFE AP ARBRITEMD
HEEERFR FIZH10% - R_F— A
FZ_AZTRA - KAEBDFIEZMA
FUHAER B EXRNERBAE
EMFEE_ST__F = FERMER
LM 65K N A0 Bl e 3 T o

RZZE-—NFEOA+B XEEMRA
BAERITARAANNSERBRE S
40,000,000 (E#E A1) - HAR
ZERBELLRESFRMI0% AT
URAFEENRMESE LR ABE
36,000,000 A=—FE—NLFWA+—
B AEEREARITERARINGE
INEFEE - HE % BB 152,700,000
T(EREE2) H-Z£EXEEE
DA & B Y % Ok & EI55801 14K
15E)EEB -BHE-_T—-—NF+=
A=+—HB XA&EECRMAEREE
78,350,0007C °

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4F#t

203



204

2o I\ 203
e B R M T
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

28. BORROWINGS (continued)

On 28 February 2019, the Group obtained loans amounting
to HK$980,000 from non-controlling interests. The loans are
unsecured with a fixed interest rate at 4.65% per annum and
the loans would be repayable on or before November 2020.

On 26 June 2019, the Group signed an one year loan contract
with its associate, Guangdong Tiannuo Civil Explosives
Co., Limited* amounting to RMB24,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$26,846,000). The interest rate of the loan is
4.35%.

On 24 September 2019, the Group obtained loan facilities
of RMB200,000,000 in total from Guangdong Nanhai Rural
Commercial Bank. The loans are secured by the carrying
amount of the Group’s investment properties, property, plant
and equipment and entity interest of a subsidiary. The interest
rate of the loans are a floating interest rate plus a premium
calculated at 15% above the prevailing RMB benchmark rate
published by The People’s Bank of China.

During the year, specifically for the operation of financial leasing
business, the Group obtained additional loans from Guangdong
Nanhai Rural Commercial Bank, Bank of DongGuan, Huaxia
Bank, China CITIC Bank and Bank of Communications which
amounted to RMB602,918,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$674,405,000) in total. As at 31 December 2019, the
carrying amount of the loans that are interest bearing at floating
rates ranging from 5.23% to 6.50% per annum (2018: 5.23%
to 6.50% per annum) were approximately HK$941,454,000
(2018: HK$546,367,000), in which approximately
HK$100,671,000 (2018: HK$130,980,000) of loans are
secured by the Group’s investment properties and property,
plant and equipment, while approximately HK$840,783,000
(2018: HK$415,387,000) of loans are secured by the finance
lease receivables of the Group. Such loans are repayable within
5 years according to their own repayment schedules.

*

For identification purpose only
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28. BORROWINGS (continued)

According to HK Int 5, which requires the classification of
whole instalment loans containing the repayment on demand
clause as current liabilities, the Group’s loans with the
aggregate carrying amounts of approximately HK$802,706,000
(2018: HK$827,647,000) have been classified as current
liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position. Taking into account the Group’s financial position
and assets pledged for the loans, the Directors did not
believe that it was probable that the lenders would exercise
the discretionary rights to demand immediate payments.
The Directors believed that the loans would be repaid in
accordance with the repayment schedules set out in the
loans agreements. The total cash outflows for the principals
and interests of the loans amounted to approximately
HK$841,504,000 (2018: HK$897,217,000).

The total secured bank loans of approximately
HK$1,953,911,000 (2018: HK$1,465,060,000) are secured
by the Group’s investment properties and property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$510,269,000 (2018:
HK$316,414,000) that is situated at Phase 1 of Guangdong-
Hongkong Finance & Technology Park, 6 Jinke Road, Guicheng
Street, Nanhai District, Foshan City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC, Unit 01, 14 and 15 on 5th Floor, Wing On Plaza,
No. 62 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong and Block AB to F,
Xianhuwan Commercial Plaza, No. 3 Yangguang Road, Danzao
Xianhu Resort Area, Nanhai District, Foshan City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC, the pledged finance lease receivables
amounted to approximately HK$1,136,206,000 (2018:
HK$505,647,000) and the pledged bank deposits amounted to
approximately HK$32,958,000 (2018: HK$77,755,000).

28. B (&)
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28.

29.

BORROWINGS (continued)

The fair values of current borrowings equal their carrying
amounts, as the impact of discounting is not significant. The
fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate
based on borrowing rates from 1.95% to 6.50% (2018: 1.95%
to 4.90%) and are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Group’s borrowings denominated in the following
currencies:

28.

B (&)

HRMRZYETTAER RBAEN
AABEEEREHERE ARNBEERESE
BFMEA1.95EE650E (ZF—N
F:1.95FB 54908 ) UBHIRIR S REF
B BHBRAAESERE=-

AREBEZEFAMTHEEHE:

2019 2018
—2-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Hong Kong dollars S 192,677 134,609
Renminbi AR 1,256,350 717,140
US dollars eV 701,010 783,038
2,150,037 1,634,787

CONVERTIBLE NOTES 29, MR ERE

On 13 October 2014, the Company issued convertible notes
in the principal amount of HK$166,232,000 (the “2014 CB”)
(of which its fair value at the issuance date was approximately
HK$129,270,000) as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of Southern Limited. The 2014 CB bears coupon
rate at 2% per annum and is convertible into shares of the
Company at a conversion price of HK$0.76 per share at any
time following the third anniversary of the issue date up to
the maturity date on 13 October 2019. At any time prior to
the maturity date of the 2014 CB, the Company is entitled to
redeem in whole or in part of the 2014 CB. Unless previously
redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled, the 2014
CB will be redeemed on 13 October 2019. The 2014 CB bears
coupon rate at 2% per annum, which is payable annually in
arrears or upon the conversion or redemption of the bonds.
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29. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

On 12 March 2019, in accordance with the terms and condition
of the 2014 CB, the Company entered into the extension deed
with the holder of the 2014 CB, Prize Rich Inc. (“Prize Rich”)
to extend the maturity date of the outstanding 2014 CB in
the principal amount of HK$166,232,000 by 5 years from 13
October 2019 to 13 October 2024 (the “Extended CB Maturity
Date”), with all the terms and conditions of the outstanding
2014 CB unchanged. On 23 May 2019, after passing the
ordinary resolution to approve the extension deed by the
shareholders at the special general meeting, the extension
deed became effective. The 2014 CB was redeemed and new
convertible notes with the same terms but the Extended CB
Maturity Date (the “2019 CB”) was issued. Since the fair value
of the liability component of the 2014 CB was approximately
HK$161,667,000 on the date of redemption, the Company
recorded a loss of HK$991,000.

The 2019 CB in the principal amount of HK$166,232,000
(of which its fair value at the issuance date is approximately
HK$109,616,000) bears coupon rate at 2% per annum and is
convertible into shares of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$0.76 per share at any time following the issue date up
to the maturity date. At any time prior to the maturity date of
the 2019 CB, the Company is entitled to redeem in whole or in
part of the 2019 CB. Unless previously redeemed, converted
or purchased and cancelled, the 2019 CB will be redeemed on
13 October 2024. The 2019 CB carries interest at a rate of 2%
per annum, which is payable annually in arrears or upon the
conversion or redemption of the notes.

The convertible notes contain two components, liability, and
equity components. The equity component is presented in
equity under heading “convertible note equity reserve”. The
values of the liability component and the equity conversion
component were determined at the issuance of the notes.

2. T RERE (&)
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29. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

NE+=ZA=+—HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

2. T RERE (&)

On 23 May 2019, the 2019 CB recognised in the consolidated E_Z-NFHhAZ+=H" 20197#%
statement of financial position at initial recognition are as REBEN VSR LRS B BN &
follows: HWRMT

HK$’000

BT T
Fair value of convertible notes issued BERITAIBRERZAAE 166,232
Equity component R EHm (56,616)
Liability component on initial recognition MR 2 B8EBH 109,616

Movements of liability component of the notes for the year are

set out below:

SERAERINAFEZEHHIIOT

2014 CB 2019 CB Total
2014 2019
GIE:Y 3 ARREE a5t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST I BT T
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-—NF—H—H 152,226 - 152,226
Interest charged at an effective BERFE14.16E 5t
interest rate of 14.16% H2RERX 8,450 - 8,450
Fair value on early redemption as at R -Z—AFHA
23 May 2019 T+ =HIRAIED
K2 ARE (161,667) - (161,667)
Loss on early redemption IRATEE D 2B Kk 991 - 991
Liability component on initial RZZE—NFHA
recognition as at 23 May 2019 —+=H %)J R
2B & - 109,616 109,616
Interest charged at an effective TR;%*'J%W.ME%
interest rate of 10.64% H2HBRAX - 7,162 7,162
Interest paid B F B - (3,325) (3,325)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-IF
+=B=+-H - 113,453 113,453
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 20, AR ERE (&)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Analysed as: nER:
Amount due within one year shown under MEBBEBEETAR
current liabilities R—FREEHz
4 %8 - 152,226
Amount due after one year shown under ERBEBEETAR
non-current liabilities R—FEEEH
Gk 113,453 -
113,453 152,226
The fair value of the liabilities component of the convertible MR EBEEBES» 2 A A BN
notes are calculated using cash flows discounted at market 10.64[F (ZZE—\F : 14162 ) 25
interest rate of 10.64% (2018: 14.16%) and are within level 2 of FEIFB|7BHEREAE  BERAA
the fair value hierarchy. EERE—_M-
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 30. IEERIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised LTAREIRBEFE CEEREL
and movements thereon during the current and prior years: MIEEBENAEE
Undistributed
profits of
an associate
BEANTZ
KABMER
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-—NF—HA—H 15,715
Credit to profit or loss (Note 10) s AEz= (HsE10) (6,910)
Exchange differences MEH =58 (393)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R=-Z—-N\E+-A=+—-HR
—E-hF—HA—H 8,412
Charge to profit or loss (Note 10) FrAEE (EE10) 2,315
Exchange differences fEH Z%E (169)
At 31 December 2019 R=B-NAF+=A=t+—H 10,558
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30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continuea)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

30. EERERIIE (&)

VAN AR A TR AE B 2 0 AT LA VR B 7655 R
Wz

2019 2018

—2-nF —2-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Deferred tax liabilities EXERIBEE 10,558 8,412

No deferred tax has been provided in respect of the valuation
surplus relating to the hotel properties for the year as the
carrying amount does not exceed the total investment cost
and the Directors considered that there is no taxable flow of
economic benefits to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$13,288,000 (2018: HK$26,732,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of that tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law dependent
upon the nationality and domicile of the foreign investors, a
5% to 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement has become
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rates range from 5% to 10%.
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30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continuea)

As at 31 December 2019, the unrecognised deferred tax
liabilities were approximately HK$17,000 (2018: approximately
HK$17,000), relating to withholding tax that would be
payable for undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries, as the
Directors consider that the timing for reversal of the related
temporary differences can be controlled and such temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. The
total undistributed profits of theses PRC subsidiaries as at
31 December 2019 amounted to approximately HK$167,000
(2018: approximately HK$170,000).

With regard to the Group’s investment properties, as none of
them is held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through sale,
the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes
in fair value of the investment properties as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on disposal of its investment
properties.

30. EERERIIE (&)

R_E—NF+-_A=+—8 £#ER
BREEFRIB B EL 2B K17,0007T (=
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. |R&

Number of shares Share capital

RGEE &
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F —Z-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRT AT T
Authorised: ETERA -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREEEEATL
i 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: EBETRAERE -
At beginning of year and HYORBR
the end of year 1,712,329,142  1,712,329,142 171,233 171,233

A share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2013
(the “New Scheme”).

The purpose of the New Scheme is to provide the Company
with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remuneration, compensating and/or providing benefits to the
participants for their contribution or future contribution to the
Group and to strengthen the many long-term relationships that
the participants may have with the Group. Eligible participants
means any person falling within any of the following classes (a)
any employee; (b) any business associate of the Company or
any subsidiary; (c) any other group or classes of participants
which the board, in its absolute discretion, considers to have
contributed or will contribute, whether by way of business
alliance or other business arrangement, to the development
and growth of the Group. The New Scheme became effective
on 26 April 2013 and, will remain in force for 10 years.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the New Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares in issues as
at the date of adoption of the New Scheme (i.e. 118,832,914
Shares of the Company) unless the Company obtain a fresh
approval from the shareholders.

No option shall be granted to any participant such that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to such participant
under the New Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant shall exceed 1 per cent. of the total number of
shares in issue.

Under the Scheme, where the Board proposes to grant any
option to a participant who is a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or any of their respective associates, which would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to him or her under the
Scheme and any other option schemes of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant; (i)
representing in aggregate more than 0.1 per cent. of the total
number of Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such proposed grant of
options must be approved by the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with all connected persons of the Company
abstaining from voting (except that any connected persons may
vote against the relevant resolution at such general meeting
provided that his intention to do so is stated in the circular
to the shareholders of the Company). Any vote taken at the
meeting to approve the grant of such options must be taken on
a poll.

32. BIRESE
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and the
option to which the offer relates shall be deemed to have
been granted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer, duly signed by the grantee with the number of
share in respect of which the offer is accepted clearly stated
therein, together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company within 1 month from the offer date.

The subscription price of share options granted under the New
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant in the offer letter and shall be at least
the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date; (b) a
price being the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of a share on the offer date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the New Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30 per cent. (or
such higher percentage as may be allowed under the Listing
Rules) of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

No option has been granted under the New Scheme since its
adoption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company that has material non-controlling

33. FERES

TREIIANEETER B AR A
FREEBMBRRNFFE:

interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of Proportion of
and principal ownership interests voting right held by Total comprehensive (expense)/ Accumulated
Name of place of held by non-controlling non-controlling income allocated to non- non-controlling
subsidiary business interests interests controlling interests interests
A
BERTE FERERFRR FERER FRRFERERN
WRARER EEBE ERERLA R EELA 20 (F8) /Wi ZitFERER
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F ZE-NF —E-N\F = —E-N\F ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BB BETR BETT
Guangdong Yibaiian  PRC - 30% - 30% (295) (336) - (883)
Comprehensive
Health Technology
Ltd." (Note)
ERSAERAER SEARLNE
REERAE
(BfzE)
Guangdong Sino Rock PRC 28% 20% 28% 20% (5,019) 1,326 294,642 218,982
Tyco Construction
Co., Ltd.*
BRPEZHER  PEARLAE
BB
China Select Small  Hong Kong 49% 49% 49% 49% (880) (1,316) 1,404 2,284
Hotel Union Limited
BERBEHYH )
BRAT
Canton Risen PRC 38.85% 37.02% 38.85% 37.02% 10,373 1,290 304,718 116,995
Financial Leasing
Co., Limited*
EREZNRMERE PEARANE
BRRA
Note: B 5 -

On August 2019, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Zhong Chuang
Xing Ke (Shenzhen) Investment Company Limited* (“Zhong Chuang
Xing Ke”) entered into Equity Interest Transfer Agreements with
Shenzhen e-ling Info-Tech Co.,Ltd.* (“Shenzhen e-ling”) and Foshan
Chun Xin Network Technology Co, Ltd.* (“Chun Xin”) (at that time
both belong to the non-controlling interests of Guangdong Yibaijian
Comprehensive Health Technology Ltd. (“Yibaijian”)) respectively, in
which Zhong Chuang Xing Ke acquired the 10% and 20% ownership
interests of Yibaijian from Shenzhen e-ling and Chun Xin for the
considerations of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,134,000) and RMB1 (equivalent to approximately HK$1). Upon
the completion of the related arrangements, Yibaijian became the
Group’s wholly owned subsidiary. Before that, the total comprehensive
expense already allocated to Yibaijian‘s non-controlling interests
amounted to approximately HK$295,000.

*

For identification purpose only

RZZE—NFENA RXEBZ2EHBA
AR EIER CRYDIBEBR A A ([ 8] #
BDosl@ERIETRELEMERRA A
(DRINEZ%E]) REBILZESHEREERA
Al (FEE]) (AR AERSEBAEER
KERAR ([EEE]) 2 IEERER) %5
PEAEEE E i 0 P AIERHA A R 1,000,000
Tt (FBERA)7E 1 ,134,0007T ) A R TT
(FEEROEBB1TL) IRE  MRYIZERERM
FEWEESEE10%F20% 2 BiE-RNEH
ZHREKE SABKARNEBZ2ENE
AaEle WAl ERBRZESAEE 2 IEERE
M) 2 E 1B A %) B #295,0007T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

subsidiaries that have a material noncontrolling interests are

set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*

33. FERER &)

BRAKESE HEIREENIEEE
MEARZHBEMBREHIIMT - A
THHEMBREZIREAHERI 22

B

BRAFERNERERAA([FER

(“Sino Rock”) B1)
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T T T
Current assets MENEE 928,852 1,033,605
Non-current assets EREBEE 1,315,903 153,891
Current liabilities mEBEE (36,016) (23,923)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (1,138,921) (145,450)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR E# A AEILE R 775,176 799,141
Non-controlling interests FEVE MR M A 294,642 218,982
Revenue PN = -
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BBR) BT (5,578) 67,958
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: FE(EB)/
BT RE
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N (4,462) 54,366
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock PEREZ
FEFE AR T = (1,116) 13,592
(5,578) 67,958

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued) 33. FERER 2

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.* ERTPEZRNERERAA ([HEE

(“Sino Rock”) (Continued)

B (&)

2019 2018
—E-NE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Other comprehensive expense, HEmzmEAL
net of income tax: bRz
Exchange difference arising on translation of #5855 15
foreign operations: EECERZE:
Owners of the Company PIN/NETE RSN (17,601) (26,945)
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock FEREZ
FRIER R = (3,903) (12,266)
(21,504) (39,211)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FE2E(AX)/
attributable to: WRBFES B
Owners of the Company PINNETE ¥ =N (22,063) 27,421
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock FERERZ
R R (5,019) 1,326
(27,082) 08,747
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating LEEHRe (R
activities SRANFE (237,258) 44,656
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from REEHRE Ond)
investing activities SRANFE (321,101) 11,892
Net cash inflow from BMEFFES
financing activities MAERE 192,967 217,642
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be (Rt
MAEER (365,392) 274,190

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued) 33. FERER 2

China Select Small Hotel Union Limited (“China Select BERBEBHAERAR ([RER
Small”) Bl

2019 2018
—2-nF —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Current assets mENEE 6,190 7,740
Current liabilities mEBEE (2,401) (1,646)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company A RQal#E A

JEIE#E & 2,385 3,810
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR A 2 1,404 2,284
Revenue WA - 753
Loss for the year REEZEBE (2,217) (2,964)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEBEGE:
Owners of the Company PiN/NEIE ¥ =N (1,396) (1,866)
Non-controlling interests of WERE 2
China Select Small FEVE IR HE 5 (821) (1,098)
(2,217) (2,964)
Other comprehensive expense, Hibh2MEHAL -
net of income tax: Brii%
Exchange difference arising on translation of ~ B E /BN EBFE 4
foreign operations: ZIENZ5:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZF =N (29) (444)
Non-controlling interests of BEREZ
China Select Small I 12 IR A 2 (59) (218)
(88) (662)

2 1 8 CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ 8 2% ¥ 3t 45 B 2 5]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)

China Select Small Hotel Union Limited (“China Select
Small”) (Continued)

33. FERER &)

EXRBEEPHERLT ([EEXRE])
(%)

2019 2018
—2-nF —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to:  FE 2 X
BEEE:
Owners of the Company PiN/NESIEZ TN (1,425) (2,310)
Non-controlling interests of BEREZ
China Select Small FEFE AR A o (880) (1,316)
(2,305) (3,626)
Net cash outflow from operating activities K FEIRE
Diaape -] (3,082) (2,700)
Net cash inflow from investing activities REEESRE
MAERR 16 5
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEHIAS
MAEER 2,000 -
Net cash outflow Bemt FaE (1,066) (2,695)

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 15 8 3% ¥ J§t A5 f 2 5]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued) 33. FERER 2

Canton Risen Financial Leasing Co., Limited* (“Canton

EREENBEAEERQA ([BE

Risen”) B
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Current assets mENE B 1,223,132 546,442
Non-current assets FERBEE 748,362 358,446
Current liabilities mENBEE (568,890) (240,383)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (620,540) (335,455)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR AQG#HAE A
FEh 477,346 212,055
Non-controlling interests FEPE M = 304,718 116,995
Revenue WA 94,681 36,758
Profit for the year REE R A 32,437 17,233
Profit for the year attributable to: FERMNGE:
Owners of the Company iN/NEIEZ ¥ =IN 18,828 15,891
Non-controlling interests of Canton Risen BERZ
FEEMR A A 13,609 1,342
32,437 17,233
Other comprehensive expense, Hth2HEHAX -
net of income tax: BrEE1%
Exchange difference arising on translation of &G4 5 8 E 4
foreign operations: ZIENZRE
Owners of the Company KABEAB A (146) (3,039)
Non-controlling interests of Canton Risen BERZ
FE 12 IR A 2w (3,236) (52)
(3,382) (3,091)

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)

Canton Risen Financial Leasing Co., Limited* (“Canton

Risen”) (Continued)

33. FERER &)

EREENBEAEERQA ([BE
B (&)

2019 2018
—2-nF —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Total comprehensive income attributable to: FEzERG
BEEE:
Owners of the Company PiN/NESIEZ TN 18,682 12,852
Non-controlling interests of Canton Risen BERZ
FEER R 10,373 1,290
29,055 14,142
Net cash outflow from operating activities K FEIRE
Diaape -] (577,204) (779,275)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEESRE
R (5,628) (2,544)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEHIAS
MAEER 791,979 850,979
Net cash inflow W& mAFRE 209,147 69,160

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 34.

35.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]

The Group as lessor

The Group’s property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$9,879,000 (2018: HK$6,780,000). All of the
properties held have committed tenants 1 to 9 years (2018: 1

to 10 years).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted

with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

LERANZH
A MR A

AEBRFAERESMERS ALY
#751%09,879,0007T (ZZF—/\F | B
6,780,0007T) ° FTIS & D W AR K —
ENF(ZZE—NF:—E2+F)HER
HESEiI =

REER AEBERBPRI N2 KRR
REESHOT :

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Within one year R—FR 7,624 8,648
In the second to fifth year inclusive RE_FEFRF
(BEEMEF
BEEAN) 11,708 13,789
Over five years AFMNE 8,631 11,528
27,963 33,965
COMMITMENTS 35. &L
2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Commitments for the acquisition of BAVE BE X
the property, plant and equipment R R 8,820 -
Commitments for the refurbishment of WEMERE
investment properties 2 EHE - 217
Commitments for the investment cost of AL F R ERE AR
establishment of subsidiary ZAE 186,743 409,203
Commitments for the investment cost of ERNMEXERKRE
development of Industry Park in Danzao PR 2 784,249 21,505
Commitments for the investment cost of W IR A D ERTA
acquisition of financial asset at fair value BosoREE
through profit or loss B RN 2 HE 2,610 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%




36.

37.

BE-_T-NF+-_A=1—"BLEE

PLEDGED OF ASSETS 36.

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged
to secure general banking facilities to the Group or borrowings

ook BV 285 A B

Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

EEERH

BEANTHEREENEED ERAERE
TAKEN —RRTRESAAKENE

of the Group (see Note 28): B (Mfsk2s) :
2019 2018
—B-AF —EF-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Investment properties in PRC RPBEzEEME 293,915 210,706
Property, plant and equipment L ESRY 216,354 105,708
Pledged bank deposits 2EFIRITER 32,958 77,755
Pledged lease receivables [REEEiE N T EN 1,136,206 505,647

Pledged paid-up capital of BIRMIEEEMN B

a non-wholly owned subsidiary REZEBHENR 227,080 -
1,906,513 899,816
CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS 37. RMBF LRI EE#EE B

IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT LOSS OF
CONTROL

(a) Deemed disposal of interest in a subsidiary without
loss of control

Canton Risen Financial Leasing Co., Limited*
(“Canton Risen”)

On 10 April 2019, pursuant to the 3rd capital injection
agreement, a third party injected cash of RMB52,147,000
as capital contribution to Canton Risen, which resulted
in an effective dilution of the Group’s interest in Canton
Risen. After the capital contribution, the Group and other
shareholders together own equity interests of Canton
Risen as to 53.14% and 46.86% respectively.

For identification purpose only

EHIERS

(a)

RAALE-—BMNBEFATER B
EHERE

BRREZNBEHEERAA
([E&ER])

RZE—NFEOA+H REFE=
KEEMZER - F=- T MERRDE
AB & AR®52,147,0007C * 1EA
HAEENWB TR EREN
AE MBEREREST A% E
REBRBHER - NLTER K
SEHEAGCRESBHEEERT
53.14% 2 46.86%H) 1 % °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

37. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT LOSS OF
CONTROL (continuea)

(a)

*

Deemed disposal of interest in a subsidiary without
loss of control (Continued)

Canton Risen Financial Leasing Co., Limited*
(“Canton Risen”) (Continued)

On 20 August 2019, pursuant to the 4th capital injection
agreement, a third party injected cash of RMB52,147,000
as capital contribution to Canton Risen, which has
effective dilution of the Group’s interest in Canton Risen.
After the capital contribution, the Group and other
shareholders together own equity interests of Canton
Risen as to 45.96% and 54.04% respectively.

On 30 August 2019, pursuant to the 5th capital injection
agreement, a third party injected cash of RMB52,147,000
as capital contribution to Canton Risen, which has
effective dilution of the Group’s interest in Canton Risen.
After the capital contribution, the Group and other
shareholders together own equity interests of Canton
Risen as to 43.52% and 56.48% respectively, and the
Group still controls Canton Risen.

The Group recognised an increase in non-controlling
interests of approximately HK$175,985,000 (2018: an
increase of approximately HK$118,841,000) and no gain
or loss recognised within equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company.

For identification purpose only
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37. RIMBF AR ERESE B

EEIRERE 2)

(a)

RARALE-—BNEFATER B
ERERE ()

BRREZNBEHEFERAA
(&) (&)

RZE-NFNAZ+H BESE
RSB g B A M EERENE
AR & ARMS52,147,0000  fEA
HAEEMNHBE F AR ERRM
AE O MEREREETAEH
REBRBHEZR - NEER K
SEEEMCRES RS ERT
45.96% F.54.04%H) 1 %5 o

RZE-NFNA=ZTH BESE
RAREERHE  F-FRBEREE
AR & ARMES52,147,0000  fEA
HAEEMHB F AR EREM
AE O MEREREETAEH
REBRBHEZR - NEER K
SEEEMCRES RS ERR
43.52% 5 56.48% K #E %5 °

REBEBRIETERER 2IGMNA
#9785 1175,985,0007T ( —Z — )\
F B IMNALKE118,841,0007T)
KA R AR B BB A FE (R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

37. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS

37. RIMBF AR ERESE B

IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT LOSS OF BEHIERE 2)
CONTROL (continuea)
(a) Deemed disposal of interest in a subsidiary without (a) BRALE—BHEBEFLIER B

loss of control (Continueq)

Canton Risen Financial Leasing Co., Limited*
(“Canton Risen”) (Continued)

The effects of changes in the ownership interests of
Canton Risen on the equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company are summarised as follows:

ERERE ()

BRREZNBEHEFERAA
(&) (&)

RERBRHEEEEZNESY
ARARHEEABENEZNZE
B A

2019 2018
=F mpy- T N\fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Carrying amount of non-controlling B EERERD
interests disposed of IREE (175,985) (118,841)

Consideration received from non- B2 IEIE R R = Y

controlling interests & 175,985 118,841

Gain on disposal recognised within equity 7 #E 25 A #E 52 &

& Was

*
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

37. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT LOSS OF
CONTROL (continuea)

(b)

*

Disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of
control

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*
(“Sino Rock”)

On 4 December 2019, the Group entered into a disposal
agreement with Foshan City Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech
Zone Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.* (1L T 54 &t
S EEEZERARRAF) (“Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech
Holdings”), who is another shareholder of Sino Rock in
relation to the disposal of 8% of its equity interest in Sino
Rock in the consideration of RMB84,893,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$94,512,000). After the disposal, the
Group and Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Holdings own equity
interests of Sino Rock as to 72% and 28% respectively,
and the Group still controls Sino Rock.

The Group recognised an increase in equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$8,927,000, in the consideration of approximately
HK$94,512,000 received from non-controlling interests.

The effects of changes in the ownership interests of Sino

Rock on the equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company are summarised as follows:

For identification purpose only
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37. RIMBF AR ERESE B

EEIRERE 2)

(b)

HE—BENEF L TERS B
RS

BRAEZENERERAA([F
=F8)

MR-ZT—-NAE+-_ANA K&EH
B ERR 2 S —ERE - BN
THEICRESTERRETERER
AE ([FEEEE]ITLTHER
& RSN EARKS4,893,000
70 (A8 & R %978 #94,512,0007T)
HERFERTR Z8%IRE - H
R AEEHEESSESERH
FEREHT72% K28% 5 - A
SBEDAEH P ERR-

REBREWFZERERNEE
BHE94,5612,0007T T~ HER
NAEBANEEOERZ 2= R
#4975 8,927,000 °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

37. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS 37. RBF A RIEE#EES B
BEHERE &)

IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT LOSS OF
CONTROL (continuea)

(b) Disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of
control (Continued)

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*
(“Sino Rock”) (Continued)

(b)

HE—BNEFLRERS B
EARE ()

BRPEFENERBERAA([F
=% (&)

2019 2018
—EB-NF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T ok v
Carrying amount of non-controlling BHEFFIERER
interests disposed of KR EE (85,585) -
Consideration received from non- B IEE R i
controlling interests Enfavk= 94,512 -
Gain on disposal recognised within equity 5 # 25 R R
B i W s 8,927 -
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 38. B S
A) On 5 December 2017, the Group obtained a three-year A RZZE—+tF+_AREAR K&
loan amounting to HK$90,000,000 from the Group's @ [ & # 2 % A 7 —Prize Rich
immediate holding company, Prize Rich Inc. (“Prize Inc. ([Prize Rich ] ) {& T —$£48%
Rich”) which was unsecured with a fixed interest rate at 90,000,000t Ky = F Hi B M E
3% per annum. Interests are payable per quarter, and FoOETEFEFEABI% A EBIEE
the principal is repayable in full on the due date.** On S AERBBAE —RERE-
12 March 2019, the Group and Prize Rich entered into HRZE—NWF=ZA+TZH &X&E
an extension deed to extend the maturity date of the B #1Prize Richz] 37 & H 2 1%
outstanding convertible bonds in the principal amount of N 58575 1166,232,0007T 2 14
HK$166,232,000 by 5 years from 13 October 2019 to 13 REEABRRES ZHHRAH T
October 2024, with all the terms and conditions of the —NF+A+=BERERFE_Z
outstanding convertible bonds unchanged.* TE+A+T=0 MAREER®
MEH 2 B GERRAR R o
B) On 28 February 2019, the Group obtained loans B) RZZE—NF-_A=-+N\HB =&

amounting to HK$980,000 from non-controlling interests.
The loans are unsecured with a fixed interest rate at
4.65% per annum and the loans would be repayable on
or before November 2020.##

For identification purpose only

SERIETRERESER @
B 575 15980,0007T 2 B A E
AR - B TE F K 54.65% - B R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION (continued)

C)

D)

E)

F)

On 13 March 2019, the Company’s subsidiary,
Guangdong Yibaijian Comprehensive Health Technology
Ltd* (“Yibaijian”), entered into a service agreement in a
total amount of RMB100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$115,000) with its non-controlling interest, Shenzhen
e-ling Info-Tech Co., Ltd* (“Shenzhen e-ling”), in which
Yibaijian had fully paid to Shenzhen e-ling for the
management service of the Smart Elderly Care Services
Platform in Nanhai district.”# On August 2019, the
Group acquired 30% equity interest from non-controlling
interest. Upon the completion of acquisition Yibaijian
became the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary.*

On 26 June 2019, the Group obtained an one-year
unsecured loan from its associate, Guangdong Tiannuo
Civil Explosives Co., Limited* (“Tiannuo”) amounting
to RMB24,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$26,846,000). The interest rate of the loan is 4.35%
and the loan would be repayable after one year.**

On 30 September 2019, the Group entered into a
disposal agreement with Foshan City Nanhai Financial
Hi-Tech Zone Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.* (“Nanhai
Financial Hi-Tech Holdings”), pursuant to which
Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Holdings has conditionally
agreed to purchase 25% equity interest in Guangdong
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd* at a cash consideration
of RMB52,720,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$58,971,000) and the Group agreed to continue to
lend to the purchaser in the form of the outstanding
shareholder’s loan in the amount of approximately
RMB157,120,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$172,046,400) following the completion of this
transaction.*

On 25 November 2019, the Group’s non-wholly owned
subsidiary, Canton Risen Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.”
(“Canton Risen”), entered into the Entrusted Shareholding
Agreement with the 8 employees or directors by the
Group to acquire the 1.26% equity interests of Shenzhen
Weicheng Investment Partnership* (Limited Partnership),
the total amount of RMB504,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$564,000). "
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION (continued)

G)

H)

*

NE+=ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2019

38. BEERRZ (&)

On 4 December 2019, the Group entered into a disposal G) RIZE-—AF+_AWNA ~&£H
agreement with Foshan City Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech B ERE 2 S —EARE - BRI
Zone Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.* (#ILTFE/E S 7 m E'éi’fvaﬂﬁ%ﬁ@&ﬁ% % B R
SHEEFEZERAER2AF) (“Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech 7 (B EDFILT HER
Holdings”), who is another shareholder of Sino Rock in AR & R (E AR ¥84,893,000
relation to the disposal of 8% of its equity interest in Sino 7T (*ﬁ B4 75 #94,512,0007T )
Rock in the consideration of RMB84,893,000 (equivalent HERPERK Z8%MH#E - 1 H
to approximately HK$94,512,000). After the disposal, the B AEEEBESREEEEE
Group and Nanhai Financial Hi-Tech Holdings own equity FERRAT2%K28% & + A
interests of Sino Rock as to 72% and 28% respectively, SBEDAESI R ERR 4
and the Group still controls Sino Rock.*
Compensation of key management personnel H TEEBASHMH
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key ESENEMEFEERBAERTRN
management during the year was as follows: ZEMAT
2019 2018
—E-NF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Short-term employee benefits RHEERT 7,718 7,718
Post-employment employee benefits BREERF 354 418
8,072 8,136

The remuneration of Directors and key management
personnel is proposed by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

# The transaction constituted connected transaction under
the Listing Rules.

## The transaction constituted an exempt connected
transaction under the Listing Rules.

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. TEME AR
Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 AEBZFTEMBRARARZZE—NF
December 2019 are as follows: FTZA=FT—BZHEBERT:
Place of
incorporation
or registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
AL
g/
WELEEH EERY BRIRE (RBR) BARRA Y IEXH
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Direct subsidiary
EENELA
China Investments Limited Hong Kong 200 200 HK$1,000 HK$1,000 100 100 Investment holding
HERERAERLT B AR000%  ER1,0007T RERR
Indirect subsidiaries
BERELR
Airlane Development Limited Hong Kong - 2 - HKS2 - 100 Property trading
REERARD Bk LYo VES
Barmax Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HKS$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
HEERARAT Bt Aor B8 VELE
Botex Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
REERERAA Bk Eor LYo NZEE
Canton Risen Financial Leasing PRC N/A N/A RMB RMB 61.15 62.98  Financial leasing
Co., Limited" (Note 2) 643,589,645.25 270,068,000
EREANMEREARLT hE TER AR AEH ARH BEHE
(t&te) 643,580,645.257T 270,068,000
Centon Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HK$2 100 100 Property trading
BEYRERAT Bt Aor 8T NZEE
Charland Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
EHERERAA Bk Eor LYo VES
China Alliance Industries Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS$2 100 100 Property trading
ZREXERAT B Aon B8 NZEE
China Industrial Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
PEIRREARAH Bk L P LYo REER
China Select Small Hotel Union Hong Kong 9,720,000 9,720,000 HKS HKS 51 51 Hotel management
Limited 9,720,000 9,720,000
AZRREHHERDT Bk Bl ik EEER
9,720,000 9,720,0007
CIH Finance Investments Holdings Hong Kong 4 4 HK$4 HK$4 100 100 Financial Investment
Limited
TERRERRAERARAT Bk B4 BT LRRE
CIH Finance Leasing Company Hong Kong 232,558,357 1 HK$ HKS1 100 100 Financial leasing
Limited 232,558,357
BAREREERLT Bk A% BRI RERE
232,558,35770
Cyro Holdings Limited* British Virgin - 1 US$1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Islands/Hong
Kong
%Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%/ 1%7 %7 RERR
I

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continuead) 39. TEMBE AT (&)
Place of
incorporation
or registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
ERE T
gt/
HEAAER EEHY BERIRE (BEBR) BHERE Y ITEK
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Expert Target Development Limited® ~ Hong Kong - 2 - HKS$2 - 100 Property trading
BRERBRAF £ 8T NEEE
Greenswood Property Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HKS$2 HK$2 100 100 Property investment
ENNXERAA Bk Eor BT mERE
Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco PRC N/A N/A RMB RVB 72 80  Investment in the
Construction Co., Ltd" (Note 2) 910,000,000 842,663,000 development and
Construction of
industrial park
BRPERMRRERAA (Mi2) #E TER TER AEH AEH YREERERE
910,000,0007c  842,653,0007 LIRE
Guangdong sensing Technology PRC N/A N/A- RMB5,000,000  RWMB5,000,000 100 100 Big data business
Limited" (Note 1)
BREEMRARAA (W) alEi TER ER N AEH REBEH
5,000,000 5,000,0007
Guangdong Yibajian Comprehensive ~ PRC N/A N/A- RMB9,000,000  RWMB8,000,000 100 70 Comprehensive elderly
Health Technology Ltd (Note 1) care service
ERSARARRMEERAR 98 TER TER N AEH BzhARE
(sxt) 9,000,000 8,000,000
Guiin Plaza Hotel (Note 1) PRC N/A NA  US$10,400,000  US$10,400,000 100 100 Hotel operation
EMERERE (i) i TER TER 1040000027  10,400000% 7 BEgE
Hong Kong Lanhai Vision Investment  Hong Kong 1 1 HK$1 HKS1 100 100 Financial leasing
Limited
EARAESREBRAR B BT b HARE
Jofra Company Limited Hong Kong 1,000 1,000 HK$1,000 HK$1,000 100 100 Investment holding
BE %1,0007 %1000 RELRK
Foshan City Nanhai Kang Sheng PRC N/A NA  HK$81,000,000  HK$81,000,000 100 100 Investment Holding
Timber Company Limited*
(Note 1)
BUAEEREAFARLT HE TER ER Al % RELK
(1) 81,000,000 81,000,007
Foshan City Nanhai Canmanage PRC N/A N/A~ RMB30,000,000 RMB30,000,000 100 100 Property investment
Investments Holdings Limited*
(Note 1)
BUTEEREREARLT ke TER NER NG AR% NERE
(W) 30,000,000 30,000,0007C
Foshan Zhong Chuang Property PRC N/A N/A - RVB - 42 Property management
Service Company Limited* 20,000,000
BlLmhenEREARAT hE TER TER ARH NEER
20,000,0007

*
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BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 39. TEMBE AT (&)
Place of
incorporation
or registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
ERE T
gt/
HEAAER EEHY BERIRE (BEBR) BHERE BEEAL ITEK
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Kingsgrand Development Limited Hong Kong 10,000 10,000 HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100 100 Property trading
BEYRERAT B BE10,000%  EH100007 NXEE
Langmax Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HKS$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
BXREARAT Bk Eon BT NEEE
Lina Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS$2 100 100 Property trading
BEERARLAT B3 Alon BETL NZEE
Metropolitan Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HK$2 100 100 Property trading
BERERRA Bk Eon BT NEEE
Natural View Enterprises Limited Hong Kong 10,000 10,000 HK$100,000 HK$100,000 100 100 Property trading
RELEERAA 4 %#400000%  %%100,0007 VES
Rich Asset Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HKS$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
HRERERAA Bk Eon BT NEEE
Rich Horn Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
HAERARAT B3 Alon BET NZEE
Senicon Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
EAREERRA Bk Eor BT NEEE
Sabrina Limited British Virgin 1 1 US$t USS1 100 100 Investment holding
Islands/Hong
Kong
ﬁ%’g@}éﬁ%/ 1% 1% RERR
Sino Sense Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HK$2 100 100 Property trading
FRERARAT B Eor B8 NEEE
Southern Limited Hong Kong 10,000 10,000 HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding and
property investment
BRARAT £ A#10000% 10,0007 RERRREMERE
Taily International Traders Limited Hong Kong 8,000 8,000 HK$800,000 HK$800,000 100 100 Property Trading
AHERRRBRAT B 800,000 %800,0007 VELE
Trener Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HK$2 100 100 Property trading
EARERRAA £ Aon B8 NEEE
Universal Talent Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS2 100 100 Property trading
FHRERERRA Bk Eor BT NEEE
Zhong Chuang Xing Ke (Shenzhen) ~ PRC N/A N/A RMB RVB 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Gompany Limited* 150,000,000 150,000,000
(Note 1)
el ER (R REERAT hE TER ER N AEH RELK
(Hzt1) 150,000,000 150,000,007
Guangdong Taoyuan Comprehensive ~ PRG N/A N/A~ RMB15,000,000 - 100 - Comprehensive elderly
Health Operation Company care services
Limited*" (Note 1)
BRUAARREZELERAR 78 TER iyl ARE REGARE
Uikl 15,000,007

*
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. T EfE A A (&)
Place of
incorporation
or registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
ERE T
gt/
HEAAER EEHY BERIRE (BEBR) BHERE BEEAL ITEK
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan ~ PRC N/A N/A RMB100,000 - 100 - Comprehensive elderly
Nursing Home Company Limited"" care services
(Note 1)
BUTEEEHRIEERERAR HE TER MEE AK%100,0007 B2GARE
(t3)
Foshan City Xianhuwan Development ~ PRC N/A N/A RMB - 72 - Property Investment
Co. Ltd**A 203,000,000
BUBILREEXERAA" Gl TER TER ARE mER

203,000,0007¢

Note 1: The subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprise
established in the PRC.

Note 2: The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity/joint
venture companies.

8 The subsidiaries were deregistered during the reporting period
The subsidiaries were set up during the reporting period

t: The subsidiary was acquired during the reporting period

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation.

*
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BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

41. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 6 January 2020, Canton Risen entered into finance leases
with three limited liability companies incorporated in the
PRC and belonged to independent third parties, to acquire
the ownership of the assets from these companies for an
aggregate consideration of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$55,750,000), which would be leased back to
these companies for their own use and possession for a term
of 5 years.

Further details of these finance leases are set out in the
Group’s announcement dated 8 January 2020.

On 20 January 2020, Canton Risen entered into finance
leases with two limited liability companies incorporated in the
PRC and belonged to independent third parties, to acquire
the ownership of the assets from these companies for an
aggregate consideration of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$113,300,000), which would be leased back
to these companies for their own use and possession for a
term of 5 years.

Further details of these finance leases are set out in the
Group’s announcement dated 20 January 2020, and the
Group’s circular dated 25 February 2020.

On 19 March 2020, Canton Risen entered into finance leases
with a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC
and belonged to an independent third party, to acquire the
ownership of the assets from this company for an aggregate
consideration of RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$164,700,000), which would be leased back to this
company for its use and possession for a term of 5 years.

Further details of these finance leases are set out in the
Group’s announcement dated 19 March 2020, and the Group’s
circular dated 9 April 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

41. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

On 7 April 2020, the Company’s non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Sino Rock, entered into the ICBC Wealth Management
Agreement with Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,
pursuant to which Sino Rock has agreed to purchase a
wealth management product of RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$82,125,000).

Further details of this Wealth Management Agreement are set
out in the Group’s announcement dated 7 April 2020.

On 9 May 2020, Canton Risen entered into a finance lease
with the four limited liability companies incorporated in the
PRC and belonged to independent third parties, to acquire
the ownership of the assets from these companies for the
consideration of RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$65,700,000), which would be leased back to these
companies for their own use and possession for a term of 5
years.

Further details of this finance lease is set out in the Group’s
announcement dated 11 May 2020.

On 11 May 2020, Canton Risen entered into a finance lease
with a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC
and belonged to an independent third party, to acquire the
ownership of the assets from this company for an aggregate
consideration of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$10,920,000), which would be leased back to this company
for its own use and possession for a term of 2 years.

Further details of this finance lease is set out in the Group’s
announcement dated 12 May 2020.

In view of the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19),
a number of provinces and municipalities in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) have taken emergency public
health measures and various actions to curb the spread of the
outbreak. As a result, the Group’s business operation has been
affected.

Further details are set out in the Group’s announcement dated
4 March 2020 and the Chairman’s Statement in this annual
report.

41.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42. AR ARk EG#E

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RMBRAIZIEE 23,607 23,607
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE YLK BB A R IR 1,416,707 1,487,748
Pledged bank deposits EHEMBITER 27,234 77,755
Bank balances and cash IRITHBR MRS 228 247
Other receivables E 4th pE W 5008 230 -
1,444,399 1,565,750
Current liabilities REBEE
Bank loan |ITE R 701,010 783,038
Other payables HibEI5E 3,149 82,112
Loan from immediate holding company BEERARIZER 90,000 -
Convertible notes Al % % - 152,226
794,159 1,017,376
Net current assets REBEETFEH 650,240 548,374
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAR 673,847 571,981
Capital and reserves BAR#iE
Share capital fi& 75 171,233 171,233
Reserves ] 389,161 310,748
Equity attributable to owners of FNNETE SN
the Company FEfh = 560,394 481,981
Non-current liability ERBEE
Convertible notes Al A% ik 113,453 -
Loan from immediate holding company BEEERARIZER - 90,000
113,453 90,000
673,847 571,981

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 May
2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

HE XIANGMING

1] [5) B
Director %
236 CUINAINVESTVENTS HOLDINGS LIVITED t BB £ 4723
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42. AR ARk EG#E

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Movement in the Company’s reserves AATREZEE
Convertible
Share note equity Accumulated
Premium reserve losses Total
MRBREE
% 17 )% 8 EEREE RitEE mat
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2018 R-_ZE—N\F—H—H 725,199 34,700 (391,022) 368,877
Loss for the year AEEEHE - - (58,129) (58,129)
At 31 December 2018 R=ZZE-N\F
1 January 2019 +ZA=+-BE
—E-h¥-A—H 725,199 34,700 (449,151) 310,748
Transfer upon early redemption  RIZRHEE AT RKREE
of convertible notes (SEEE - (34,700) 30,135 (4,565)
Recognition of equity BRAUBREEZ
component of Bmin
convertible notes - 56,616 - 56,616
Profit for the year REFRF - - 26,362 26,362
At 31 December 2019 R-ZB-h&
+=ZB=+—-H 725,199 56,616 (392,654) 389,161
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_Z—hAhF+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

43. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

(i)

(i)

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share
and is not attributable but may be applied in paying up
unissued shares of the Company to be issued to the
shareholders of the Company as fully paid bonus shares
or in providing for the premiums payable on repurchases
of shares

Statutory reserves

Statutory reserve represents general reserve and
enterprise expansion fund which are set up by
subsidiaries established and operated in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) by way of appropriation from
the profit after taxation in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC. The rate of appropriation
of the general reserve and enterprise expansion fund
is subject to the decision of the board of Directors of
the PRC subsidiaries, but the minimum appropriation
rate for the general reserve is 10% of the profit after
taxation for the each year, until when the accumulated
balance reaches 50% of the total registered capital of the
subsidiary. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the PRC, if approvals are obtained from the relevant
government authorities, the general reserve can be used
in setting off accumulated losses or to increase the
capital, and the enterprise expansion fund can be used to
increase the capital.
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43. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES
(Continued)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Hotel properties revaluation reserve

Hotel properties are revalued annually based on
independent professional valuations on an open market
value basis. Changes in the values of hotel properties are
dealt with as movement in the hotel properties revaluation
reserve. If the reserve is insufficient to cover a revaluation
deficit, the excess of the deficit is changed to the profit
and loss account.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the foreign subsidiaries of the Group whose
reporting currency is not Hong Kong dollars. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
of foreign currencies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Convertible note equity reserve

Convertible note equity reserve represents the value of
the unexercised equity component of convertible bond
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy of Convertible note set out in Note
3 to the consolidation financial statements.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represented additional contributions made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and,
in case of an acquisition of an additional non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary, the difference between the cost of
acquisition and the non-controlling interest acquired.

Other reserve
Other reserve comprises of gain on partial disposal of

interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary. Details was set
out in Note 37(b).

22 I\ 2
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43. EZ2MEREBW (&)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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BRGS0

Five Years Financial Summary

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t+-HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—F-RF ZE-RE ZIE—+F ZE-N\F ZE-hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BET T BET T
RESULTS ON
Revenue BER 39,275 24,554 29,846 79,550 161,107
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF,/ (FR) 5,773 (2,703) 27,630 55,815 79,912
Discontinued operations loss 2 & I8 & ¥ 75
for the year rEEBHAE - (1,628) - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERDAEERA
attributable to owners FEEEF, (EE) 5,773 (4,331) 31,266 42,383 68,612
Earnings/(loss) per share BREF,/ (EE)
Basic AR HKEB034 oentsfl  (HKEH025centlll)  HKE®1.83centsll  HKES2.48centsll  HKGE4.01centsdl
Diluted i HKE®0.34 centsll  (HKEM0.25centll)  HKE™183centsll  HKFE2.480entsll  HKG¥4.01centsfl
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+-RHILEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—F-0hF ZE-RE ZIE—+F ZE-N\FE ZE-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT BT BT T BETT BET T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ERERE
Total assets EEBE 1,352,241 1,316,578 2,277,412 3,460,537 5,147,666
Total liabilities BEME (377,822) (385,291)  (1,099,553)  (2,129,217)  (3,441,696)
Non-controlling interests kiR - - (157,625) (338,205) (600,764)
Equity contributable to ARRHEA AEEERS
owners 974,419 931,287 1,020,234 993,115 1,105,206

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%

The result for the year 2015 have not been represented for the *
discontinued operation.
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Particulars of Major Properties

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at 31 December W _-_Z—hE+-A=+—HB AEEHEFH

2019 are as follows: ZEEWEERFONT
Total gross
Effective Category floor area Expected year
Name/Location % held of lease Type on completion Stage of completion
ERBE TREZ B
BB/ Bak HEER E<Fi] BEZHE ERBR  THEH
(sq.m.)
(FAXK)
Hotel properties
BEYF
Guilin Plaza, 20 Li Jiang Lu 100 Medium Hotel 29,746 Existing N/A
Guilin, Guangxi,
The PRC.
F B R 7 AT R BR 100 HH 5 20,746  HAE TiE A
205R BB IR
Properties
V/ES
Unit No.1, 14 & 15 on 5th Floor, 100 Medium Commercial 429 Existing N/A
Wing On Plaza,

No.62 Mody Road,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

BENE 100 HH GES 429  HAE TiEA
EQVN

3586257

KR E55E

1 14R16E

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 5 B 3% 3% 3 47 bR 23 %]
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Particulars of Major Properties

Effective
% held
ERER
Bak

Category

Name/Location of lease Type

£B/HE REEH R

Total gross
floor area

on completion
TREZ
BEZEHR
(sa.m.)
(FAXK)

Stage

ERER

Expected year
of completion
B

TEREH

Properties (Continued)

EXED

12th to 13th Floor of 100
Phase 1
Guangdong - Hong Kong

Medium Commercial

Finance & Technology Park
Guicheng Street,

6 Jinke Road,

Nanhai District,

Foshan City,

Guangdong Province,

The PRC

mEERE 100 HE
LT EEE
ERAE D RKR6H
BECRBREIE
12-131%

Block AB, and F, 72
Xianhuwan Commercial Plaza

Medium Commercial
No. 3 Yangguang Road,

Danzao Xianhu Resort Area,

Nanhai District, Foshan City,

Guangdong Province,

The PRC

LT gE 72 HH [GES
FHE IR E R E

B Y BE35R

fll#h & 7 5% 5 AB L FEE

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4%

242

3,048

3,048

16,218

16,218

Existing

RE

Existing

BE

N/A

TiEm

N/A

&



Name/Location

BB/

Effective
% held
ERER
Bak

Category
of lease

REEH

Type

<Rl

Total gross

floor area

on completion Stage

THEZ
BEEER
(sq.m.)
(FAK)

ERER

Particulars of Major Properties

Expected year
of completion
B
TEREH

Investment properties

RENF

17th Floor

SingHo Finance
Building,

Nos.166/168 Gloucester
Road,

Hong Kong.

BB

ELiTE

166/168%:
EMHBAEITE

1st to 11th Floor of
Phase 1
Guangdong - Hong Kong

Finance & Technology Park

Guicheng Street,

6 Jinke Road,
Nanhai District,
Foshan City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
FEERE

Il TR g R
ERAB e RE6R
BESRBMREIE
1-11ig

100

100

100

100

Medium

P

Medium

P

Commercial

GRS

Commercial

GRS

112 Existing

112 HA

15,818 Existing

15,818  HAE

N/A

TiE A

N/A

TEm

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 5 B 3% 3% 3 47 bR 23 %]
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Particulars of Major Properties

Effective Category
Name/Location % held of lease Type
ERER
2B/ Bk HEER ga

Total gross
floor area

on completion
TREZ
BEZEHR
(sa.m.)
(FAXK)

Stage

ERER

Expected year
of completion
B
TEREH

Investment properties (Continued)

REW* (&)

Block C, D and E, 72 Medium Commercial
Xianhuwan Commercial Plaza

No. 3 Yangguang Road,

Danzao Xianhu Resort Area,

Nanhai District, Foshan City,

Guangdong Province,

The PRC

IR g R 72 HH BE
FHEAH IR R R E

5 % B8 3%

fll# 2% % B%C, DRERE

Properties held for sale

HENF

Level 2-3 of Block C of 100 Medium Commercial
Shantou Commercial Plaza at

the junction of Jinsha Road East

and Huashan Road,

Shantou Special Economic Zone,

Guangdong Province,

The PRC

hEERE 100 GRS
PR s

SURBRZNEIRA

WEBIREERE

CRE2-3ig

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 88 3 ¢ Jit 45 fR 2 5]
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12,335

12,335

1,250

1,250

Existing

RE

Existing

RE

N/A

TiEm

N/A

TiEm
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